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Civil Action

Complaint and Jury Demand

Jersey, complaining of the Dcfcndant's; states:
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Plaintff, Paul G. Skicdowsky , residing at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, New

COUNT ONE
{Professional Negligence)

1. Defendant Jobn F. Lushis, Jr. (hereinafter Lushis) is an attorney at law of the
Commonsrealth of Pennsylvania. He is employed by the Defendant law firm of
Tallman Hudders and Sorrentino, a Proiessional Comoratioﬁ, with offices in

Allentown, Pennsylvania. All conduct of Lushis described in this Complaint
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was taken within the scope of his employment with Tallman Hudders and‘
Sorrentino.

1;1 2003, the Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, (hereinafter Sklodowsky) was
referred to Lushis for legal representation on the proposed sale of
approximately 43 acres of land that Plaintiff owned in Kingwood Township,
New Jersey. Lushis agreed to represent Sklodowsky on the sale of his real
property. He advised Plaintiff that, as necessary, he would consult with

. members of his firm, who were admitted to the practice of law in the State of

3.

New Jersey.
Sklodowsky advised Lushis that he held title to the real property in his own

name and that he wanted to transfer the property without the involvement. of
his wife with whom he was having marital difficulties. He requested Lushis to
advise him what rights his wife had in the property and whether he could
transfer the property without the consent of his wife. Lushis advised him that
he could transfer the property without the consent of his wife ‘but that she, as
his spousc, would have an interest in the proceeds of the sale. .
Sklodowsky relied upon the verbal and writterr advice and representations of
Lushis concerning the righis of his wife and entéred into a contract on
November 11, 2003 to scll his real estate to American f)cvelopers of New
Jersey, Inc, (hereinafter sometimes ADNJ).

Under New Jersey law, Sklodowsky could not transfer the property without

the consent of his wife, as the marital residenice was located on the property.

fo 2



- .

Nov 30 20089 10:088M

g'

Sklodowsky's wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, was a necessary signatory to any deed

of transfer in order for her husband to deliver good.title te ADNJ as he had

warranted in his contract of sale with ADNJ. |
Plaintiff, upon the advice of Lushis, entered into a contract for the sale of real
estate under which he agreed to deliver to ADNJ, the purchaser, good title at

closing. However, Plaintiff could not deliver good title because his wife did not

.and would not consent to transfer her interest in the property to American

Developers of New Jersey, Inc.

Sklodowsky was unable to consummate the sale of the approximately 43
acres of land ta American Developers of New Jersey., Inc. as a result of his
inability to convey good title. . '

After American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. refused to close without geod
title, Lushig reierr.ed' Sklodowsky to Defendant, Joseph ‘T. Nanovic, Esq,
(hereinafter Nanovic) for legal representation. Joscpil T. Nanovic, Esq is an
attorney at law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with an office in
Macungic, Peunsylvania. Both Lushis and Nanovic advised Sklodowsky to file
asu.it:l ageinst American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. to recover the
$85,000.00 deposit paid into escrow by ADNJ for its purported breach of the
contract of sale.

Sklodowsky retained Nanovic to represent him on such. suit and Nanovic, who

is not licensed to practice law in the State of New Jersey, engaged Defendant,

Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq., (hereinafter Baurkot) to represent Sklodowsky as trial

/7
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counsel. Daniel J. Baurkot, Bsq. is an attormey at law in the State of New
Jersey with offices in Basking Ridge, New Jersey.

10.,Baurkot. instituted suit in the Superior Court of New Jersey on behalfl of
Sklodowsky against Amcncan Developers of New Jersey, LLC, seeking recovery of the
contract deposit. ADNJ filed an Answer and Coupﬁemlahn recuesting return of the
deposit and compensatory damages for breach of contract. ADNJ also filed Third
Party Complaints against Lushis, and his law firm, Defendant, Teltman, Hudders &
Sorrenting, as well as Joanne Sklodowsky. The complete caption of the case was
Pad G .Sklbdcrwsky, Plaintiff v. American Developers of New Jersey, Inc,
Defendant/ Third Party Plaintiff v. John F. Lushis, Jr., Joamne Sklodowsky, and
Taliman, Hudders & Sorrentino, Third Party Defendants., Docket No. HNT-L-459-04,

1i.In its pleadings, ADNJ claimed, among other matters, that Sklodowsky and
his wife, Joanne Sklodowslky, had conspired tc willfully withhold their
marriage and her marital status from ADNJ to the detriment and damage of

ADNJ.
12. Despite the affirmative claims of ADNJ dgainst Sklodowsky, including

allegations of frand and collusion, Baurkot, Nanovic and Lushis advised
Plaintiff that it was appropriate litigation strategy to not file a claim of
N professional negligence against Lushis and his law ﬁm Despite the
affirmative claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, including allegations of fraud
and collusion, Ea:urkot and Nanovic advised Plaintf that it was appropriate

litigation strategy to refuse to wsive his claim of privilege concerning his

f
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confidental communications with Lushis, even though such communications
would demonastrate that he had not coiluded with his wife. '

13.Plaintiff relied on the advice of Nanovic and Baurkot, who did not assert &
clpim, by Sklod;:awsky against Lushis. They also successfully resisted requests
and motions by ADNJ to obtain access to confidentil communications
between-Lushis and Sklodowsky.

14, In February 2007, Sl-dpdowsky suspected that his attorneys were not looking
qut for his best interests, Sklodowsky discharged Lushis and Baurket and
retained new counsel. When the lawsuit came on for trial before the

Honorable Stephen Rubin J.S.C., in April 2007, the Plaintif settled with

ADNJ because it was likely that he could not win on his ¢laim for the deposit,'

since he could not show that he could deliver good title to the property at
closing as he had warranted under his contract. Additionally, he faced a
charge of fraud and collusion with his wife that he could not efectively rebut
without testimony comcerning the advice of Lushis, Not only had the Trial
Court ruled that the contract claim concerning delivery of good title at closing
would be litigated but it also had ruled that the issuc of whether Sldodowsky
and his wife had ‘“intentionally manipﬁlate& her right of veto tc willfully
frustrate the contract in violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing
'whilc the contract was in effect” would be litigated. Faced with a ljtigatiox.l

catastrophe, Sklodowsaky chose to reduce his losses and exposure.

208
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15. John F. Lushis, Esq., agreed to represent Plaintiff concerning the sale of his

New Jersey real estate, Defendants held themselves out to the public as’
. attorneys with expertise in real estate and law.

16.Defendants owed to Plaintiff duties of care to properly advise and represent
plaintiff in a skillful and diligent manner and to place the interests of Plaintiff
over their interests.

17. Defendants, by various errors, omissions, and commissions, deviated from
the applicable standards of care for legal professionals in their representation
of Plaintiff. Such deviations included, but were not limited to the following:

a. The advice of John Lushis, Esq. to Plaintiff to enter into a contract
without the agreement of his spouse to join in the tremsaction
notwithstanding her spousal rights under New Jersey law.

b. The unauthorized practice of law by Lushis and Nanovic in New Jersey,

¢. The advice of Defendants to Plaintiff to pursue litigation for the return of
a deposit in a real estate transaction in which Plaintiff could not deliver
good title as he had represented.

d. The failure of Lushis to take responsibility for his negligent advise to
Plaintiff and take the necessary steps to mitigate the losses of Plaintiff
Caused by his negligent advice.

e. The billing of unnccegsary and unreasonable legal fees to Plaintiff.

18.As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of the defendants, Plaintiff
has suffered damages, including the payment of damages to ADNJ and

attorney fees.
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Wherefore, Flaintiff requests judgment against all Defendants for damages,

together with attorney's fees, and costs of suit, and such other and further relief as

the court deems proper.

CERTIFICATION

Pursnant to Rule 4:5-1 the undersigned certifies that this matter in controversy
is not the subject of any other action pending in any Court of Arbitration forum, noris
any other action or Arbitration proceeding presently contemplated and all known
parties have been joined in this action. However, related litigation is pending in the
United States District Court for the District of Pennsylvania styled Nanovic v

Sklodowsky, et al. Docket No.07-cv-3276,

JURY DEMAND
The Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, demands trial by a jury on all of the

triable issues of this complaint, pursuant to Rulel:8-2(b) and Rule 4:35-1({a).

DEMAND FOR DISCOVERY OF INSURANCE COVERAGE
Pursuant to New Jersey Court Rule 4:10-2(b), demand is made that
_ Defendants, disclose to Plaintiff s attorney whether or not there are any insurance

agreements or policies under which any person or firm camrying on an insurance

business may be liable to satisfy part or all of a judgment which may be entered in

Pa7
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this action or indemnify or reimburse for payments made to satisfy the judgment
and provide Plaintiff's attornmey with true copics of those insurance agrecrexits or
policies, including, but not limited to, any and all declaration sheets. This demand

shall include and cover not only primary coverage, but also any and all excess,

Ll

deus P. Mikulski, Jr. {

catastrophe and umbrella policies.

Dated: /¢ 3 /p 7
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SPECTOR GADON & ROSEN, P.C.

By: George M. Vinci, Jr., Esquire
Randi A. Wolf, Esquire

1000 Lenola Road, P.O. Box 1001

Moorestown, NJ 08057

(856) 778-8100/(856) 722~5344 (fax)

Attorneys for Defendants

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY

Plaintiff
V.

JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., ESQUIRE and
TALLMAN, HUDDERS &
SORRENTINO, A Professional
Corporation

Defendants

- TO: Thaddeus P. Mikulski, Esquire

365 White Horse Avenue
Hamilton, NJ 08610
Counsel for Plaintiff

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Friday, February 5, 2010 at 9:00 a.m., or as soon
thereafter as counsel may be heard, the undersigned attomeys, on behalf of Defendants John F.
Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Hudders & Somentino, P.C. (“Defendants) will move before

the Superior Court of New Jersey, Hunterdon County, in Flemington, New Jersey, for an Order

: SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
: LAW DIVISION: HUNTERDON COUNTY

- No. HUN-L-649-09

. NOTICE OF MOTION TO DIMISS
. COMPLAINT

: Motion Returnable: February 5, 2010

dismissing the Plaintiff’s Complaint with Prejudice, pursuant to R. 1:6-2 and R. 4:304;

PLEASE TAXKE FURTHER NOTICE that Defendants will rely upon the Brief

submitted herewith, the Certification of Counsel in Support with Exhibits and argument of -

counsel,

7737561 pQ 7



Oral argument is respectfully requested.

A proposed form of Order is submitted herewith.

eorge M. Vineli, Jr., Esquire
Randi A. Wolf, Esquire
SPECTOR GADON & ROSEN, P.C.
1000 Lenola Road, P.O. Box 1001
Moorestown, NJ 08057

(856) 778-8100

Attomeys for Defendants, John F. Lushis, Jr. Bsq.
and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C.

Dated: January 18, 2010

T73756-1 / q-. / 5
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SPECTOR GADON & ROSEN, P.C. —
By: George M. Vinci, Jr., Esquire ,

Randi A. Wolf, Esquire , MAR 19 2010
1000 Lenola Road, P.0. Box 1001
Moorestown, NJ 08057 T et Fer o Ten
(856) 778-8100/(856) T22-5344 (fax) JmdgeE. 5 hstaum
Attorneys for Defendants .
PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY t : SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY

. : LAW DIVISION: HUNTERDON COUNTY

Plaintiff . No. HHf(L 64909

V.

JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., ESQUIRE and .

TALLMAN, HUDDERS & :

SORRENTINO, A Professional : ORDER DISMISSING COMPLAINT
Corporation :

Defendants

THIS MATTER having been opened to the Court by Defendants J ohnﬂ F. Lushis, Jr,,
Esquire and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C., by way of Motion to Dismiss the Plaintiff’s
Complaint pursuant to R. 4:6-2(c) and R. 4:30A, and the Court having considered the papers
filed in support of said Motion, papers filed in opposition and argument of counsel and for good
cause shown;

IT IS on this / z? day of Mé&yz , 2010, HEREBY

ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Complaint is GRANTED;

ORDERED FURTHER that Plaintiff’s Complaint in this matter is DISMISSED WITH

PREJUDICE. , FEFTIIED 10 40
:%? f-j‘" '\A‘vﬁa“:.t

ey
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Memorandum of Decision on Motion

NOT FOR PUBLICATION WITHOUT
THE APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE ON COPINIONS

Paul G. Sklodowsky
v.
John F. Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Huddexrs & Sorrentino,
P.C.

Docket No. HNT-L-649-09

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss
Opposed

Argued & Decided March 19, 2010
The Honorable Peter A. Buchsbaum, J.S.C.

This legal malpractice case requires consideration of the
Entire Controversy Doctrine.

Facts:

In November of 2003 plaintiff Paul Sklodowsky (plaintiff)
entered into an agreement to sell his marital residence and real
estate to BAmerican Developers of New Jersey, LLC (American
Developers). The plaintiff was represented by defendant John F.
Lushis, Jr., (Lushis) a member of the firm of Tallman, Hudders &
Sorrentino (THS) (collectively the defendants). Lushis holds a
license to practice law in Pennsylvania only and THS’ offices
are in Pennsylvania. The complaint in this action alleges the
plaintiff advised Lushis that he was experiencing marital
difficulties and wanted to transfer the property without his
wife’s consent. Comp. at %3. The complaint further alleges the
defendants reassured Lushis that he could transfer the property
without his wife’s consent. Id.

The c¢losing did not occur since the plaintiff could not
deliver good title since his wife did not agree to sell the
marital property. Id. at 995-6. Lushis subsequently referred the
plaintiff to a different attorney, Joseph T. Nanovic, Esgq. Both
Lushis and Nanovic advised the plaintiff to sue American
Developers in oxder to recover the plaintiff’s deposit. Id. at
T98-9. A third attorney filed suit against American Developers
on the plaintiff’s behalf.

S /2



Procedural History:

The parties in this case have been parties in three
previous civil actions.

First, the plaintiff here filed suit against American
Developers on October 7, 2004. See Wolf Cert., Exh. C. The
docket number in this case was HNT-L-459-4. This complaint
alleged American Developers breached the contract of sale by
declining to accept conveyance. On November 3, 2004 American
Developers filed an answer. Id. at Exh. D. It also filed a third
party complaint against Lushis alleging he intentionally
withheld information from American as to the plaintiff’s marital
status. The third party complaint alleged a breach of a duty of
good faith owed to American Developers.

By oxder of March 21, 2006 this Court granted summary
judgment for ZLushis and THS on American Developers’ claims for
fraud against these defendants. On July 16, 2008 the Appellate
Division affirmed in an unpublished opinion. Id. at Exh. B. The
Appellate Division approved this Court’s finding that based on
the facts involved American Developers could not have relied on
Lushis and no fraud could have occurred. The Sklodowsky and
American Developers settled their claims on June 13, 2007. The
stipulation obligated the plaintiff to provide American
Developers “with an assignment of all funds that he recovers as
a result of the legal malpractice lawsuit he intends to
institute against John F. Lushis, Esg ... in the event of
default or nonpayment.” See Id. at Exh. E, 92.

Second, the same plaintiff in this case filed a complaint
against these same .defendants and two other attorneys on October
22, 2007. See Id. at Exh. G. This complaint alleged legal
malpractice against ZLushis and his fixrm for advising the
plaintiff he could transfer the property without his wife’s
consent. The complaint also alleged Lushis practiced law in New
Jersey without authorization. On May 10, 2008 this case was
automatically dismissed for failure to prosecute under R. 1:13~
7.

Third, Nanovic, plaintiff’s second attorney, filed a
complaint against the plaintiff in federal district court in
Pennsylvania. Id. at Exh. I-J. By way of a third party complaint
filed on September 2, 2008, the plaintiff filed suit against
Iishis and THS. This complaint included a count for legal
malpractice against the defendants. By oxrder of May 22, 2009 the
Honorable James Knoll Garxdner, U.S5.D.J. granted the defendants’

-2
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unopposed motion to dismiss the third party complaint without
prejudice.

Fourth, the plaintiff began this action on November 4,
2009, He alleges legal malpractice by the defendants based on

. their advice and conduct during the 2003 1real estate

transaction. The defendants move to dismiss under the Entire
Controversy Doctrine and Pennsylvania’s statute of limitations
for attorney malpractice.

Defendants’ Arguments:

The defendants argue the plaintiffs should have brought his
malpractice claims in the first suit in 2004. They invoke
Grunwald v. Brokesh, 131 N.J. 483, 494 (1993), as showing a
cause of -action for legal malpractice occurs when a plaintiff
suffers damages or discovers or should have discovered the
essential facts for a claim. They argue the plaintiff’s claims
accrued before the 2004 litigation ended based on the claims
Bmerican Developers brought against him out of this real estate
transaction.

They also point to the complaint as showing the cause of
action accrued earlier. They- note the complaint alleges the
defendants advised the plaintiff his wife did not need to
approve the sale. They point to the allegation the sale did not
occur for this reason, and argue the plaintiff knew or should
have known he possessed a claim at the time of closing. They
also point to the allegation in the complaint that ILushis
committed an unaunthorized practice of law and argue he knew or
should have known Lushis lacked a New Jersey license to practice
law.

The defendants take issue with the allegation that they
attempted to hide their conduct or prevent the plaintiff from
asserting malpractice claims. They invoke Vastano v. Algeier,
178 N.J. 230, 241-243 (2003), where the Court found a plaintiff
learned of the essential facts for her malpractice claim upon
receipt of a file and its mention of an unmentioned settlement
offer. The Court held +this constituted accrual of the
malpractice claim. Id. The defendants argue the claim accrued
when the real estate litigation was pending.

Next the defendants argue dismissal would further the
policies behind the Entire Controversy Doctrine because the
plaintiff enjoyed an adequate opportunity to litigate his claims
in prior litigations.

-3-
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Lastly the defendants argue that the two year Pennsylvania
statute of limitations applies and would require dismissal. They
argue Pennsylvania law applies because it possesses a greater
interest in this case.

Plaintiff’s Arguments:

The plaintiff argues the Entire Controversy Doctrine does
not apply to this action. He also argues New Jersey’s six year
statute of limitations applies.

The plaintiff first asserts the Court held the Entire
Controversy does not apply to legal malpractice actions in 0lds
v. Donnelly, 150 N.J. 424 (1997). He asserts he settled the 2003
litigation with American Developers because he was faced with
the prospect of using attorney-client communications between him
and the defendant to refute the allegations of fraud.

The plaintiff also argues application of +the Entire
Controversy Doctrine would be unfair. He characterizes a
dismissal as allowing Lushis to advise him to sue BAmerican
Developers in order to mitigate his own malpractice damages. The
plaintiff also asserts dismissal would not further Judicial
economy because American Developers pursued a different claim
against the plaintiff than the one he seeks against this
defendant.

Next the plaintiff argues the Entire Controversy Doctrine
does not apply because his cause of action did not accrue in the
2004 litigation. He argues he did not suffer damage from the
defendant’s malpractice before or during the 2004 real estate
litigation. He also states unfairness would result in requiring
him to have asserted claims against the defendants in the 2004
litigation, since they advised him to undertake it. He concludes
he did not know and should not have known about the essential
facts for a claim against the defendants until after the 2004
litigation.

Lastly the plaintiff takes issue with the application of
Pennsylvania’s statute of limitations for legal malpractice. He
argues that since the defendants allegedly practiced law in New
Jersey without authorization, New Jersey possesses the greater
interest in this case.

Analxsis:



R. 4:30A provides that ™“[n)on-joinder of claims required to
be 301ned by the entire controversy doctrine shall result in the
preclusion of the omitted claims to the extent required by the
entire controversy doctrine, except as otherwise provided,” for
foreclosure and summary actions. The entire controversy doctrine
embodies a principle that a legal controversy should be resolved
in one action. Cogdell v. Hosp. Ctr. at Orange, 116 N.J. 7, 15
(1989) . “[A]ll parties involved in a litigation should at the
very least present in that proceeding all of their claims and
defenses that are related to the underlying controversy.” Id.
The Doctrine provides that “if a party withholds a constituent
claim ... and the case 1s tried to judgment or settled, that
party risks losing the right to bring that c¢laim later."”
Kaselaan & D'Angelo Assocs. v. Soffian, 290 N.J. Super. 293, 299
(App. Div. 1996) (citing Mystic Isle Dev. Corp. v. Perskie &
Nehmad, 142 N.J. 310, 324, (1995).

This doctrine requires the exercise of judicial discretion
based on the facts of individual cases. Highland Lakes Country
Club & Cmty. Ass’'n v. Nicastro, 2009 N.J. LEXIS 1291 (Dec. 8,
2009). 1Its purpose is encouraging one fair resolution of
disputes and the promotion of judicial economy. Id.

In determining whether the doctrine applies courts should
ascertain whether the claims asserted arise out of the same core
set of related facts. Garvey v. Twp. of Wall, 303 N.J. Super.
93, 100 (App. Div. 1997) (citing DiTrolio v. Antiles, 142 N.J.
253, 272 (1995)). If the claims do not arise out of the same set
of facts, a party need not join them. Garvey, 303 N.J. Super. at
100 (citations omitted). The entire controversy doctrine does
not prohibit a party from re-asserting a claim dismissed without
prejudice where the dismissal occurred due to vioclation of
discovery rules or where a federal court lacked jurisdiction.
Burrell v. Quaranta, 259 N.J. Super. 243, 250 (App. Div. 1992)
(citations omitted). A party against whom the entire controversy
doctrine is invoked must have enjoyed a “fair and reasonable
opportunity,” to fully litigate their claim in the earlier
action. Id. at 254 (citing Cafferata v. Peyser, 251 N.J. Super.
256, 261 (App Biv. 1981)),

In Olds v. Donnelly, 150 N.J. 424, 428 (1997) a plaintiff
sued his former attorney who previously represented him in a
medical malpractice action. The medical malpractice action was
dismissed with prejudice due to the failure of the attorney to
serve the summons and complaint on the defendant doctor. Id. at
429. In a second suit for legal malpractice, the attorney moved
to dismiss based on the Entire Controversy Doctrine and argued
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the plaintiff should have Jjoined him to the initial medical
malpractice action. Id. The Court held “the party~joinder
requirements of the entire controversy doctrine do not extend to
claims of attorney malpractice.” The Court noted that “legal
malpractice claims uniquely raise the specter of forcing a party
in an action to sue the same lawyer who is representing that
party in the action.” Id. at 446. The Court reached this
decision prior to the 1998 amendment revising R. 4:30A to
require joinder of claims only. -

Cases involving accrual for statute of limitations purposes
have relied on the treatment of legal malpractice claims under
the Entire Controversy Doctrine. The two are related since
accrual of a c¢laim can make the statute run while also
evidencing the existence of a pending claim for purposes of the
Doctrine. Thus, in Dinizo v. Butler, 315 N.J. Super. 317 (App.
Div. 1998), the Appellate Division referenced entire controversy
doctrine cases when it considered the tolling for the statute of
limitations in a legal malpractice action. The plaintiffs hired
the defendant attorney to represent them in a real estate
transaction around 1988. Id. at 319. After they bought the
property, the plaintiffs discovered deficiencies with the title
and sued the sellers of the property. Id. at 319-320. This suit
was dismissed in 1992. Id. at 320. In 1997 the plaintiffs filed
suit against their transactional attorneys and argued the cause
of action did not accrue until 1996. Id. at 320.

The Appellate Division first considered the Court’s holding
in Olds, supra, that “the entire controversy doctrine no longer
compels the assertion of a legal-malpractice c¢laim in an
underlying action that gives rise to the claim.” Dinizo, 315
N.J. Super. at 321 (quoting Olds, 150 N.J. at 443, This holding
required only that the plaintiff did not need to join his
attorney as a party 3in the £first suit against the sellers.
Dinizo, 315 N.J. Super. at 321. The court then determined that
the remedy for a client suing in an action against third parties
which arise out of his attorney’s malpractice was “to have the
client file the malpractice complaint and stay it pending the
outcome of the underlying litigation.” Id. at 322 (citing
Grunwald v. Bronkesh, 131 N.J. 483, 499-500 (1993). The Court
did not have before it and did not address the situation as
here, where the attorney had become a party to the first suit
based on factual allegations of malfeasance regarding the same
transaction whence comes the instant malpractice claim.

In Grunwald v. Bronkesh, 131 N.J. 483 (1993), the Court
also considered when a cause of action accrues for legal
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malpractice. The plaintiff retained the defendant attorney to
negotiate an option contract for the purchase of real property
owned by the plaintiff in Atlantic City. Id. at 487-488. The
attorney prepared a sales agreement and option contract which
Resorts International Hotel and Casino, Inc. (Resorts) signed.
Id. at 488. The attorney then advised the plaintiff that by
EE@ning the sales agreement Resorts bound itself to purchasing
the property. Id. Resorts never purchased the property and the
plaintiff filed suit, upon his attorney’s advice, alleging he
lost an opportunity to develop the property. Id. A different
attorney represented the plaintiff in the suit against Resorts.
Id. The trial court in this first suit found the sales contract
unenforceable in July of 1984. Id.

In September of 1990, the plaintiff sued his former
attorney. Id. He alleged reliance on the defendant’s opinion
that the sales agreement was enforceable, caused him damage in
not developing the property. Id. at 489. The Court held that for
legal malpractice actions, a cause of action accrues “when the
client suffers actual damage and discovers, or through the use
of reasonable diligence should discover, the facts essential to
the malpractice claim.” Id. at 494. The Court determined a
plaintiff can suffer damages through detrimental reliance on
legal advice, and the damages can include attorney’s fees in the
underlying action. Id. (citations omitted). The Court found that
the plaintiff suffered damages when Resorts refused to purchase
the property and the plaintiff previously rejected an offer to
purchase it. Id. at 500. The court held that the plaintiff knew
or should have known about this damage after he heard the
Chancery court’s finding that +the sales contract was
unenforceable. Id.

In this case, the Court must similarly decide whether the
plaintiff possessed an accrued claim in the 2004 1litigation
which he should have then brought against the defendants under
the Entire Controversy Doctrine. The gist of the plaintiff’s
complaint is that the defendants wrongly advised him he could
sell marital property without his wife’s consent. His damages
occurred when BAmerican Developers refused to close on the
property for lack of good title. Similarly to Grunwald, 131 N.J.
at 500, at this point plaintiff had knowledge that the
attorney’s advice that the real estate agreement bound the other
party and would proceed had turned out to be erroneous and he

has suffered damages from the failed closing. He also knew
Bmerican Developers had sued defendants for the same conduct
complained of here -- failure to advise that the contract could

not close without his wife’s signature.

-7-
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Furthermore, the plaintiff subseguently filed suit with a
different attorney. Plaintiff’s complaint in paragraph 9
acknowledged retaining Nanovic in the underlying action. Legal
fees paid for this action would also form the plaintiff’s
damages of which he long agc had knowledge.

Thus plaintiff had knowledge that the advice was wrong
during the 2004 suit.

The above suggests that the plaintiff knew or should have
known about the essential facts for his claim in 2004. See
Grunwald, 131 N.J. at 494. The aborted closing occurred on
September 30, 2004. Sklodowsky Cert. 2. The plaintiff’s
certification indicates that in April of 2004 Lushis advised him
that he needed his wife’s signature to deliver good title. Id.
He states that if he had known this would never have signed the
contract. Id. The plaintiff asked his attorney in the undexlying
litigation whether he should pursue a legal malpractice action
against the Lushis. Id. at %4. The failure of the defendant’s
advice to hold true and the plaintiff’s gquestioning regarding
malpractice demonstrates he knew the essential facts of his
claim against Lushis before undertaking the 2004 litigation.r He
also knew ILushis had been sued based on the same alleged wrong
advice. Because he suffered damage and knew the facts
implicating the defendants as the cause of this damage by the
time of the 2004 litigation, the plaintiff’s cause of action
accrued then.

Since the ©plaintiff possessed a claim against the
defendants during the underlying 2004 litigation, the Court must
next consider whether to apply the Entire Controversy Doctrine.
The Doctrine requires that “Cogdell v. Hosp. Ctr. at Orange, 116
N.J. 7, 15 (1989). ™“[A]ll parties involved in a litigation
should at the very least present in that proceeding all of their
claims and defenses that are related to the underlying
controversy.” Cogdell, supra, 116 N.J. at 15. Here the
defendants were parties to the 2004 litigation through the third
party complaint brought by BAmerican Developers. Comp. at §10.
The plaintiff was a party by virtue of filing the 2004 suit. Id.
Thus, this is not a case involving a claim against a non-party
to the original litigation.

The Court is not persuaded by the plaintiff’s argument that
0lds, supra, precludes applying the Entire Controversy Doctrine
to any legal malpractice action. Olds mandated that in a legal
malpractice action, a party need not join his or her attorney to

fa (9



the underlying litigation. See Dinizo, 315 N.J. Super. at 321.
Because the defendants were already parties to the 2004
litigation based on the same interaction involving the wife’s
torpedoing this closing, the Court’s holding in 0Olds does not
bar invoking the Doctrine here. Nor do the limitations on party
joinder in R. 4:30A.

Since the plaintiff was a party to the previous litigation
the Court must next consider whether it arises out of the same
core set of facts. See Garvey, supra, 303 N.J. Super. at 100,
The 2004 1litigation and this case arose out of the same
transaction, namely the unsuccessful closing. The plaintiff now
alleges the defendants caused him damage due to their negligent
representation, which led to the aborted closing. Therefore the
2004 complaint and this action arise out of the same set of
facts and involve the same parties.

Lastly, the Court must consider whether it is equitable to
apply the Entire Controversy Doctrine and bar the plaintiff’s
claims. This Doctrine exists to (1) prevent piecemeal decisions,
(2) promote fairness to the parties, and (3) promote judicial
efficiency. DiTrolio v. Antiles, 142 N.J. 253, 267 {1995).

Allowing the plaintiff to proceed in this claim would
undermine all three purposes. First, it would allow the
plaintiff to proceed in one action against the sellexrs which
resulted in a summary Jjudgment and settlement. Allowing this
case to proceed would result in one case in 2004 about the
underlying transaction allegedly undermined by legal malpractice
and this case for the legal malpractice.

Second fairness requires dismissal of this action. The
underlying transaction occurred seven years ago. The evidence
indicates the plaintiff considered suing the defendants around
2004 but chose not otherwise. Allowing him to change his mind
six years later would prejudice the defendants by forcing them
defend a case long after the fact.

Furthermore +this is the fourth action involving these
parties. The plaintiff filed an action in 2007 with an identical
complaint yet failed to prosecute it. This failure to prosecute
resulted in dismissal. He provided no explanation for this
inaction or why he filed the instant second identical action
instead of seeking to vacate the dismissal for the 2007 case. In
addition, the plaintiff also asserted these claims in the
federal case but chose not to oppose the defendants’ motion to
dismiss. This failure is unexplained. The plaintiff’s inactions
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and choices to not aggressively pursue his claims against the
defendants require a finding that fairness precludes this fourth
suit on the same facts.

Lastly +this action implicates the goals of judicial
efficiency. This is the fourth action involving these same
parties and third in New Jersey’s courts. Allowing the plaintiff
to bring these claims, which he considered bringing earlier, at
this stage would frustrate Jjudicial efficiency. Therefore
consideration of judicial efficiency and the other policies
underlying the Entire Controversy Doctrine, favor dismissal of
this action.

Finally, plaintiff cannot claim that defendants hid the
facts from him. He knew in April 2004 that Lushis had exred as

to his wife’s signature. He also specifically asked Nanovic
about a malpractice claim. Thus, he certainly was aware of the
claim and made a tactical decision not to pursue it. That

decision does not avoid application of the Doctrine.

Therefore the Court will grant the motion to dismiss.

However, the Court is not persuaded that Pennsylvania law
would apply in this case involving the sale of real estate in
New Jersey. In New Jersey the determination of which state’s law
to apply depends on “the state that has the most significant
connections with the parties and the transaction.” Pfizer, Inc.
v. Emplrs Ins., 154 WN.J. 187, 193 (1998) (citing Gilbert
Spruance Co. v. Pa. Mfrs. Ass'n Ins. Co., 134 N.J. 96, 102
(1993)). New Jersey courts consider the following factors forx
choice of law analysis (1) the competing interests of the
states, (2} the interests of commerce between the states, (3)
the parties’ interests and expectations, and (4) concerns of
judicial administration. Pfizer, 154 N.J. at 197-199.

Under the first factor, New Jersey would possess a greater
interest in resolving this dispute. The transaction arose out of
a sale of property in New Jersey by residents of this state.
Furthermore, the plaintiff’s allegations include the assertion
that the defendants committed unauthorized practice of law here.
Given New Jersey’s interest in regqulating attorneys who practice
here, this state possesses a greater interest in this dispute
than Pennsylvania.

While the second £factor, free commerce, might {or might
not) favor Pennsylvania’s two year statute of limitations
instead of New Jersey’s six year statute, the remaining factors
favor applying New Jersey law. Given that the defendants gave
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legal advice to a New Jersey resident for a New Jersey
transaction, the parties could expect our state’s law to apply.
On the fourth factor, nothing suggests New Jersey law would
prove more difficult to apply or that this case would prove more
complex here. Given the connections between the plaintiff’s
allegations and this state, New Jersey law applies, and the
complaint is not time-barred.

Conclusion:

Based upon the foregoing, the defendants’ motion to dismiss
is GRANTED, pursuant to the Entire Controversy Doctrine.

-11-
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respondents/cross—appellants John F. Lushis,
Jr., Tallman Hudders and Sorrentino (Spector
cadon & Rosen, P.C., attorneys; A2Amy B.

Goldstein, on the brief).
PER CURIAM
pefendant, +third-party plaintiff, American Developers of
New Jersey, LLC (ADNJ), appeals 1) from the motion Jjudge's March
21, 2006, order that granted summary Jjudgment to third-party

defendants John F. Lushis, Jr., and his law £firm, Tallman

" Hudders & Sorrentino (THS), on ADNJ'S claim of fraud; 2) £rom an

interlocutory order of BApril 21, 2005, +that dismissed with

prejudice ADNJ's claim for negligent misrepresentdtion A against
Lushié and THS; and 3) from an interlocutory oxrder entered on
December 23, 2005, that denied ADNJ's request for discovery £rom
plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, and Lushis, on the basis that it
was subject to the attorney-client brivilege. We have
d and

considered the arguments raised in light of the recor

applicable legal standards. We affirm.?

1 As a result, we need not consider the issue raised by ZLushis
and THS on cross—appeal, i.e., the denial of their motion to

file a fourth-party complaint.
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I.

This lawsuit arose out of an aborted xreal estate
transaction. 1In November 2003, ADNJ contracted to purchase some
forty-two acres of land in Kingwood Township (the property) from'
plaintiff, the sole recoxrd owner. ADNJ +tendered its initial
deposit of $35,000 and proceeded to conduct the necessary pre-
development tests during the contract's 180-day due diligence
period. Plaintiff retained Lushis to represent him, and ADNJ
was represented by Alan Wohl.

' During the due diligence period, it was revealed that an
area of the property included wetlands upon which development
was prohibited, and further that there was a house located in
that area. There is a dispute in the record as to which party
first proposed a possible solution that envisioned a "carve out"
of the house and +the surrounding wetlands £from +the sale.

Nevertheless, on May 11, 2004, Lushis sent a letter to Wwohl that
referenced a title commitment previously furnished to ADNJ.

Lushis wrote,

In reviewing the commitment, we noted that
[it] indicates that a deed from "{plaintiff]
and spouse, if applicable" will be required.
[Plaintiff] is married; the property was
purchased during the time of his marriage;
. and the home on the property has been used
by Mr. and Mrs. Sklodowsky as their marital
residence. As you know, however, the deed
for the property is only in [plaintiff's]
name and the Contract of Sale with [ADNJ]

A-5085-08&
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only has [plaintiff] as the selling party.

As I indicated, whether Mrs. Sklodowsky will

execute the deed is unclear.
Although the contract contained an affirmative representation by
plaintiff that "no tenants ha[di any rights to the [p]roperty,
and the conveyance and possession ([would] be free of any
occupancy rights of any tenants or occupancy rights of others,”
and further permitted ADNJ to cancel the contract and have its
deposit returned, it nevertheless decided to proceed to closing.
On June 9, 2004, Wohl sent a letter to Lushis and plaintiff
indicating that ADNJ was waiving the due diligence contingency,
setting an anticipated closing date, and remitting the
additional deposit balance of $50,000. Although ADNJ argues it
did so because of the significant money it had already invested
in the property, Wohl's letter did not indicate such, nor did it
express any particular reservation of rights by ADNJ.

On August 30, 2004, Wohl sent Lushis a letter fixing.a
ntime of the essence closing date" in accordance with the
contract's terms for September 30, 2004. on that date,
plaintiff's wife, third-party defendant Joanne Sklodowsky,

failed to appear at the closing, and the parties did not

consummate the sale.?

* 7o avoid confusion, we shall refer to Joanne Sklodowsky by her
first name, and we intend no disrespect by this informality.
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Plaintiff then filed suit claiming ADNJ had breached the
contract. ADNJ counterclaimed alleging that plaintiff had

breached +the agreement and negligently misrepresented his

marital status. It sought an adjustment of the purchase price

based upon Joanne's retention of her marital rights to the
property. In a third-party complaint, ADNJ alleged that Lushis
had “fraudulently and willfully withheld" and negligently
misrepresented information regarding plaintiff's marital status.
ADNJ also claimed that Lushis had "violat{ed] [] his obligations
as an attorney," and "violated a duty of good faith that he owed
to [ADNJ] . . . ."' ADNJ subsequentiy amended its third-party
complaint to name THS as a third-party defendant alleging it was
vicariously liable for Lushis' conduct.

Lushis and THS moved to dismiss prior to answering. The
judge granted the motion as to the negligent misrepresentation
count but denied it as to ADNJ's fraud and Petrillc claim. In
an extensive vwritten opinion, the judge concluded that ADNJI's
negligent misrepresentation claim must £ail because, pursuant to
§ 5.06 .of the contract, its sole remedy was limited to

cancellation of +the agreement absent "the breach of [a]

3 This aspect of ADNJ's complaint was subsequently referenced by
all parties as a "Petrillo claim." Petrillo v. Bachenberq, 139
N.J. 472 (1995).
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representation or warranty (that] was knowingly and willfully
falsely made."

Iushis and THS then answered and discovery ensued, during
which ADNJ moved 1) to compel plaintiff to testify regarding his
communications +to ZLushis; and 2} to compel the production of
certain documents over which Lushis had asserted a claim of
privilege. Lushis and THS also moved to compel production of
Wohl's file and to amend their answer and file a fourth-party
complaint against Wohl and his firm. The judge granted Lushis'
and THS's motion to compel discovery, denied their motion to
file an amended pleadiné, and denied ADNJ's motion to compel.
In a thorough written opinion, the Jjudge reasoned that
vinformation about fraud by [plaintiff] can be obtained through
a less intrusive source, that avoids a breach of the [attorney-
client] privilege, namely the deposition testimony of Joanne []
and {plaintiff].™" He permitted RBADNJ to depose plaintiff and
Joanne and ask the following gquestions:

(1) Whether Joanne [] advised ([plaintiff]
that she refused to sign the [d]eed relating
to the sale of the subject property, and, if
so, when the discussion took place;

(2) Whether Joanne [] advised Lushis of any
such conversation with [plaintiff] and when.
[ADNJ] may not ask about the substance of
any such conversation.

When discovery concluded, Lushis and THS moved for summary

judgment. They argued that ADNJ could not prevail on its fraud
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claim because Lushis never made a misrepresentation regarding
plaini.:iff 's marital status, did not know +that Joanne would
refuse to execute a deed, therefore did not misrepresent her
willingness .to do so, a;*zd actually disclosed plaintiff's marital
status four months prior to the closing, before ADNJ tendered
the additional deposit and waived its due diligence contingency.
As to ADNJ's Petrillo claim, Lushis and THS argued that they did
not make any representations or misrepresentations that induced
ADNJ's reliance. They noted +that Wohl testified in his
deposition that he reviewed the title binder which disclosed a
1988 mortgage on the property indicating plaintiff was married,
that he never inquired as to whether the house located on the
property was a marital residence, and that he never raised a
title objection pursuant to the contract.

ADNJ opposed the motion for summary Jjudgment and cross-
moved for summary judgment. It argued that Iushis and THS knew
and had a duty to disclose that plaintiff was married before
allowing plaintiff alone to execute the contract for sale. ADNJ
also argued that it had established all the necessary elements
of fraud.

In a comprehensive written opinion issued on March 10,

2006, Judge Peter A. Buschsbaum concluded that Lushis and THS
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were entitled to summary judgment on ADNJ's claims.® WNoting that
"summary judgment [was] not appropriate with respect to a number
of +he elements of fraud" because of disputed facts, he
nevertheless concluded that “[ADN&] hafd] nect demonstréted any
reasonable reliance on non-disclosure and thus [wa]s unable to

prove fraud."” In sum, he concluded,

Under these circumstances, given what was
made known in the title report, the physical
status of the property, the hiring of []

. Wohl +to review title, and [ADNJ's] own
reaction to the timely, formal pre-closing
disclosure of the marital status, [ADNJ's]
claim that it was defrauded into reasonably
relying on [plaintiff’'s] silence about his
marital status is unsustainable as a matter
of law.

He rejectéd ADNJ's Petrillo claim “[flor the same reason." He
noted that usually, "an attorney owes [a] duty only to his
client, not to the other side's client.” Distinguishing the
facts presented from those in Petrillo, the judge concluded
"fushis and THS made no affirmative“representation concerning
plaintiff's marital status whatsoever,” and did nothing "to
induce Wohl to discontinue his own investigation of title, such
as 1lulling Wohl +to sleep concerning [plaintiff's] marital
status, i.e., by saying 'don'ﬁ worry, [Joanne]'ll sign'. . . .“

He entered an order denying ADNJ's cross-motion for summary

! The judge also considered at the same time plaintiff's and
Joanne's motion for summary judgment.
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judgment, and granting Lushis' and THS's motion for summary
Jjudgment. The Jjudge also granted plaintiff's and Joanne’'s
motion for summary  Jjudgment as to ADNJ's fraud and
misrepresentation claimé made against them.® ADNJ reached a
settlement with plaintiff and Joanne, and subsequently £iled
this appeal.
IT.
When reviewing ; grant of summaryujudgment, we employ the

same standards used by the motion judge. Atlantic Mut. Tns. Co.

v. Hillside Bottling Co., Inc., 387 N.J. Super. 224, 230 (App.

Div.), certif. denied, 189 N.J. 104 (2006). We first determine

whether the moving party has demonstrated there were no genuine
disputes as to material facts; we then decide whether the motion
judge's application of the law was correct. Id. at 230-31. 1In
this case, while the motion record reveals certain disputed
facts, there are none with respect to the critical issue of
ADNJ's reasonable reliance. The judge decided the issue as &
purely legal guestion, and therefore, we owe no particular
deference to his conclusion. Id. at 231 (citing Manalapan

Realty, L.P. wv. Twp. Comm. of Manalapan, 140 N.J. 366, 378

(1995)).

®* ADNJ has not appealed from that portion of the judge's order.
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A.

ADNJ contends +that the 3judge erred in dismissing its
Petrillo claim because he based his conclusion upon “the fact
that Lushis did not issue an affirmative misrepresentation." We
think this entirely misstates the basis for the judge's

decision.

In Petrillo, the Supreme Court held that

[A]ttorneys may owe a duty of care to non-
clients when the attorneys know, or should
know, that non-clients will zxrely on the
attorneys' <representations and the non-
clients are not +too remote from the
attorneys to be entitled to protection. The
Restatement|] [of the Law Governing
Lawyers's] requirement that the lawyex
invite or acquiesce in the non-client's
reliance comports with our formulation that
the lawyer know, or should know, of that
reliance.

[Petrillo, supra, 139 N.J. at 483-84.]

However, in Lyons, Doughty & Veldhuis, P.C. v. Powers, 331 N.J.

Super. 193, 196 (app. Div. 2000), we declined to extend
Petrillo's reach to a situation in which the non-client failed
to demonstrate reasonable reliance upon +the attorney's non-

disclosure. See Hewitt v. Allen Canning Co., 321 N.J. Super.

178, 186 (App. Div.){holding duty to non-client "inapplicable"”

where there was no misrepresentation and no reliance), certif.

denied, 161 N.J. 335 (1999).

10 A-5085-06
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We note that ADNJ never asserted Lushis made a material
representation about either plaintiff's marital status or the
willingness of Joanne to execute a deed. Although the evidence
demonstrates that Lushis likely knéw at the time the contract
was executed that plaintiff was married, there is no proof in
the record that Lushis knew Joanne would not sign the deed until
he met with hexr in June 2004. His deposition testimony
indicated that he did not speak to her about the issue until
then, and Joanne's deposition testimony revealed that she never
told Lushis whether she would or would not execute the deed
until then.

Judge Buchsbaum did not base his decision upon the lack of
an affirmative misrepresentation from Lushis to ADNJ. Rather,
he concluded, and we agree, as a matter of law ADNJ could not
demonstrate it reasonably relied upon ILushis' failure +to
disclose plaintiff was married. ADNJ could not demonstrate that
it was "lulled" by ILushis into believing Joanne was willing to
execute the deed at closing. Therefore, under all the attendant
circumstances, the +Judge correctly concluded ADNJ could not
demonstrate it reasonably relied upon a misrepresentation or
material omission made by ILushis. Summary Jjudgment was

appropriate on the Petrillo claim.
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With respect to the dismissal of its fraud claim, ADNJ
argues that questions of fact existed that foreclosed the grant
of summary judgment on the issue of reliance. In particular,
ADNJ: contends that when ILushis f£inally disclosed plaintiff's
marital status, in May 2004, it had already expended significant
monies in pre-development activities, and therefore, its
decision to proceed to closing was not evidence of any lack of
reliance. Rather, it was an attempt- by 2DNJ to "close the
deal."”

To prove a common "law fraud claim, QDNJ must demonstrate
(1) a material misrepresentation made by ILushis of a presently
existing or past fact; (2) Lushis' knowledge or belief of its
falsity; (3) an intention that ADNJ rely on it; (4) reasonable
reliance thereon by ADNJ; and (5) resulting damages. Gennari v.
Weichert Co. Realtors, 148 N.J. 582, 610 (1997). The fact that
Tushis made no affirmative misrepresentation is not fatal to
ADNJ's claim because, "[tlhe '[d]eliberate suppression of a
material fact that should be disclosed' is viewed as 'equivalent
to a material misrepresentation (i.e., an affirmative
misrepresentation),' which will support a common law fraud

action." Winslow v. Corporate Exp., Inc., 364 N.J. Super. 128,

140 (App. Div. 2003)(guoting N.J. FEcon. Dev. Auth. v. Pavonia

Restaurant, Inc., 319 N.J. Supexr. 435, 446 (App. Div. 1998)).
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We agree with Judge Buchsbaum that ADNJ cannot demonstrate
reasonable reliance after ILushis' May 2004 letter, and any
argument it makes regarding prior reliance is unavailing. We
assume arguendo that XLushis knew plaintiff wﬁs married and
failed to disclose that fact when the contract was signed. We
further assume +that omission was material because plaintiff
represented that no tenants had "any rights to the [p]roperty"”
when the contraét was signed.® 'We also disregard, for the sake
of argument, Wohl's admitted failure to adequately review the
title report, although under section seven of the agreement, had
he done so, ADNJ could have cancelled the agreement without
inpurring the costs it claims forced its decision to proceed to
closing. Despite all of these assumptions, the undisputed facts
are that ADNJ, once fully advised of the situation, decided to
complete the transaction. To the extent it now claims economic
concerns motivated its decision, the contract provided ADNJ the
ability to recoup the losses it allegedly incurred before the
May 2004 “disclosure,"” but it chose not to. Therefore, it
proceeded to tender its second deposit, wailve the due diligence
contingency, and set a closing date no longer relying upon a

misrepresentation made by Lushis, but rather based upon its own

¢ Although it is less clear whether ILushis knew Joanne was
residing at the property or that she had acquired marital rights
to it.
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business judgment. We find no basis to reverse the grant of

summary judgment.

B.

ADNJ alsol appeals from the interlocutory oxder that
dismissed its claim for negligent misrepresentation against
Lushis and THS. It arqgues the judge erred in applying § 5.06 of
the contract, which limited ADNJ's claim for damages to those
instances in which plaintiff “"knowingly and willfully £falsely"
breached a contract representation or warranty. ADNJ argues
that the contract language applied only to plaintiff, and that
the judge's reliance upon it to dismiss ADNJ's claim against
Lushis and THS was error.

We affirm the dismissal of ADNJ's negligent
misrepresentation c¢laim, but for a different reason than that

expressed by the motion judge. Home Properties of N.¥. v.

Ocino, 341 N.J. Super. 604, 616 (App. Div. 2001). While the

motion to dismiss was brought before any discovery took place,
we now have the benefit of the significant discovery that
followed.

In Banco Popular N. Am. v. Gandi, 184 N.J. 161, 182-86

(2005), the Supreme Court limited such a claim when brought
against an attorney by a non-client to situations in which there

was an actual misrepresentation made, and reliance as a result,
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equating such negligent misrepresentation claims to those made
in Petrille. For the reasons expressed above, ADNJ failed to
demonstrate Lushis or THS made an actual misrepresentation and
that it reasonably relied upon it to its detxriment.

C.

Lastly, ADNJ argues it was mistakenly denied the ability to
"pierce the attorney-client privilege" between plaintiff and
Iushis so as to access Lushis® file and all communications he
had with plaintiff. We conclude that we need not reach the
merits of the issue because ADNJ has failed to articulate how
the potential discovery would have permitted it to avexrt summary
judgment.

Judge Buchsbaum permitted ADNJ a less-intrusive way to
obtain the information by deposing plaintiff and Joanne. The
critical information was not whether the parties were married;
rather, it was whether Lushis knew that Jcanne would not
cooperate in the sale of the home. The testimony adduced at
plaintiff's and Joanne's depositions indicates that neither told
Lushis, if indeed they ever actually spoke to each other about
the issue.

ADNJ has furnished a complaint plaintiff subsequently £iled
in October 2007 in which he named Lushis, THS and others as

defendants. However, even assuming the allegations plaintiff
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now makes in the complaint wexe true, they perhaps support a
claim of legal malpractice against Lushis regarding the advice
he gave to plaintiff, but they do not support ADNJ's claims of
fraud or negligent misrepreséntation against Lushis and THS, and
they do not serve to overcome ADNJ's failure to demonstrate
reliance as we have discussed above.

Therefore, we conclﬁde that even if the interlocutory order
was entered in error, further discovery would not have resulted
in ADNJ's ability to stave off the summary judgment motion or
the earlier motion to dismiss.

Affirmed.
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Alomey for Plaintiff
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$850,000.00. A truc and correct copy of the Contract is attached, marked as

Exhibit A, and incorporated herein by reference.

, .
. Setllement/closing was sclieduled for September 30, 2004, ot the Iaw ofTices o’

Wohl & Goldstein, P.A., located at 73 Grove Strect, Somerville, New Jersey.

. Atclosing, Plainiiﬁ:' tendered to defendant a sufficient deed of conveyance for the

Property and was ready, willing and able to convey the Property to the Defendant
on payment of the agreed upon purchase price, all in aceordante with the

Contract.

. Defendant refused and continues to refuse 1o accept the conveyance and to pay

the 'agreed upon purchase price.

. Defendant has not paid the agreed upon purchase price, or any part of such price,

and continues o refuse to do s0.

. By reason of Defendant’s breach of the Contract, Plaintiff bas suffered damages

2s follows: a) destruction and darage to the property cansed by Defendant’s ficld
work, testing and other enginesting and failure of Defendant to correct same as
provided in Article 8 of the Contract; and b) liguidated damages of $85,000.00

as provided in Articles 2.02 () and (b) and Article 12 of the Contract.

Therefore, Plaintiff requests judgment against Defendant for damages, together with

attorneys® fees'and costs of suil, and such other relief a5 the conrt deems just,
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DESIGNATION OF TRIAL COUNSEL
Pursunnt to R 4:5-1 (c), Danie) J. Buurkot, Esquire, is hereby designated as tial

counscl. for the plaintifT, Paul G. Sklodowsky, in the w M

CERTIFICATION OF NO OTHER ACTIONS

Pursuant to R 4:5-1(b)(2), it is hereby stated {hat the matter in controversy is not
the subject of any other xction pending in any other court or of a pending arbitration
proceeding to the best of our knowledge or beliel. Also, to the best of our belief, no other
action or arbitration, proceeding is conteimplated, Further, other than the parties set forth
in this pleading, we know of no other parties that should be joined in the above action. la
addition, we recognize the continuing obligation of each party to file and scrve on all
partics and the Court an amended certification if therc is a change in the facts stated in

this original certification.
Dated: _ro(2{awy . {?”“’{:\) M
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TRLUMAN HUDDER SORRENT Fax:6103911805

. .l’ .

SCHACHTER, TROMBADORE, OFFEN
& STANTON, PA.
15 East High Street

0. Box 520

omerville, NJ 08878-0520
908) 722-5700

torneys for Defendant

PAUL G, SKLODOWSKY,
Plalntiff,

V8.

AMERICAN DEVELOPERS OF NEW
JERSEY, LLC,

Defendant Third-Parfy Plaintjff,
V5,

JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR. and JOANNE
SKLODOWSKY, .

J - Third-Party Defendants

1. Admitted,

essence notice.

4, Dented.

2. The Contract speaks for isalf,

Pagn: 00Q-051,

Mov 23 2004 13:42 P.O?

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
LAW DIVISION | HUNTERDON GOUNTY
DOCKET NQ, HNT-L-469-04

Civll Aot

ANSWER, COUNTERGLAIM AND
THIRD-PARTY GOMPLAINT,

Oofandant, American Developers of New Jerssy, LLC, (*Amarican®) wih an office
at 47 Vilaga Courl, Hazlet, New Jersey, by way of answer fa the Complaint, says thet:

3.  Admitted but the closing was schaduled pursuant to defendant's time of the

P 4F )
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TALLMAN HUDDER SORRENT Fax:6103911805 Nov 23 2004 13:42 P.03
. 5, Denled. .

8. Admitted excant that the defendant tendered payment of the purchase price
hut plaintif was unable to deliver a Deed in accordanca with the terms of tha Contract.
7. Denled.

SEPARATE DEFENSES

1. Plaintiff was upable to deliver a2 Dead 'in accordance with the terms of the

Contract and is in breach of confract.
2.  Plaintlf has unclean hands.
3.  Defendant Iz entitled to setoff for damages resuling from the breach of
Contract of plaintiff. _
“ 4,  Plaintitf committed fr;ud when entering into the Contract.
§,  Plalntiff Is in breach of contract.
WHEREFORE, defandant demands judgment dismissing the Complaint together
with attarneys’ fees and costs of suit. '
COUNTERCLAIM
FIRST COUNT
1. On or ahout November 11, 2003, defendantcountatslaimant, Amesican,
Lntered into & Contract with the plaintif, Paul 8. Skiodawsky (‘FGS") a copy of which is

Fttached as Exhiblt A,
2, The Contract was signed by PGS as the Seller.
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a.
“Lushia")

4!

B.

8.
Klodowsky {*JS7) but he knowingly, fraudulently and wilfully withheld that information

Pagar a10-051,

The plaintiff PGS, was represented at all times by Johr F. Lushls, Jr.

Sectlon 2.01 of the Contract provided, inter alla, as follows:

The Properly shall be fraa of all tanancies, encumbrances and llens
other than those exprassly pemifted ...

Section 3.03 of the Confract provided, Infer alia, as follows:

Seller agrees to transfer to Buyer snd Buyer agrees to accept,
awnership of the Property free of all claims .,, and rights of others
except as otherwise provided herein, '

Sectlon 3.04 of the Contract provided Infar alls, thet the seliarwasg to dafivar

possesalon and that:

Seller rapragents that na tenants have any rights to the Praperty, and
that the canveyarica and possession shall ba free of any vccupancy
rights ... This representation tarminates aa of the date of ¢losing.

Saction 5.06 of the Gontract provided as follows:

in the event Buyar determines that any of the representations and
warrantles of Section 3.04 ... shall be inaccurata as of tha closing,
other than as a result of such reprssentation and warmranty having
been knowingly and willfully falsely made, Buyer's sale ramedy shall
be ta cance! this Cantract. .

On Information and bellsf, at all imes relevant, PGS was married to Joanna

om Americatt and representad that the Praperty would ba free of any occupancy rights
at closing knowing that this would not be passible unless his wife refinquished her marital

accupanay rights,
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9. On information and balief, Lushis was aware that PGS was marrled to JS
hut he knowlingly, fraudulantly and wilfully withheld that Information fram American and its
attorney during the time the Cantract was being negotiated. .

10.  American, in the meantime, in accordanea with its due diligence obligations,
inder the Contract investigated the feaslbility.for daveloplng the property and Incurrad
bxpense In doing so.

11. The parles, through thelr, aiftorneys, exchanged "considerable

barraspandenice and by letter of March 4, 2004 (Exhibit 8).from Lushls, aftomey for
GS, fo Alan L. Wohl, the attomsy for American, Lushis refsred to the possible
amolition of the residential dwalling located on the property. No mention was made that

GS was marriad slthough PGS now claims that at all times relevant, he was married 1o
IS, PGS and JS now claim that the residential dwelling lorated on the praperty ls thair
princl;.:al marital residence and that JS has marital ights under NL.LS. 38:28-3,

42. The marital status of PGS was first disclosed to American and its atiomey
by = latter of May 11, 2004 from Lushis, attomey for PGS (Exhittt C)-

13, By letter of June 9, 2004 (Exhibit D) from Alan L. Wohl, sttormey for
American, to PGS and his attormey, Lushis, the due dll_lgence contingency was waived

rovided that PGS delivered title In accordance with the terms of the Contract. An
dditional depasit of $50,000 was tendered and accapted by Lushis at that time.
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14, Atimae of the essance notice of August 12, 2004 was sent by Alan L, Wohi,
attomey for American, to Lushls, attomey for Fés (Exhihit E), satting September 30,
2004 as the date of closing. ‘

1. ©On Séptember 30, 2004, Amarican waa ready, willing and able to close and
Jjendered the balance of the purchase price, PGS tendered a Deed which was not signed
hy 8 and which, therefors, was in violatian of his agresment with American,

16, JS has refused ta sign the Deed and has assertad her rights ‘under NS,

B:28-3 clalming that the principal marital residence of PGS and JS Is an the property,

17.  Defendantcounterclaimant, Amerlcan, remaing ready, willing and abla to
close titfe and to tander the balanca of the purchase price bit PGS I unable to daliver &
_ |Dead free of J8's accupancy rights as requirad by the Contract. _

WHEREFORE, American Revelopers of New Jerasey, LLC, demands Judgment:

A, Diregﬁng plaintif, Paul G, Skdodowsky spet;iﬁcallyto perform hias egreement

nf November 11, 2003;

| B, Bamages;

€.  Punitive damages;
D.  Attomeys' fees rnd costs;
E.

Such other rellef as the Court desms appropriate undsr the circumstances.
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SECOND GOUNT
1. Defendant-counterclgimant, Amearican Developers of New Jersey, LLC,

epaats its siiegations of the First Count of the Counterclaim as though more fully set

forth herein.
2, PGS negligently failed to advise Ameritan that he was married and fallura

la do was tantamaunt to a misrepresentation on his part.

3. Defendant, Amarican, relied on the misreprasentation in entéring into the

Confract, to its damage,
WHEREFORE, American Developers of New Jarsey, LLC, demands Judgment

that:

A Directing plaintiff, Paul G. Skiodawsky epecifically ta perform hifs agreament
f November 11, 2003;
{ B.  Damages,;
C.  Attomsys fees and costs
D,  Such other relief as the Court deems appropriata under the clrcumstancas.

IHIED COUNT
1. Defendam—cqunterclalmant, Amsrican Developers of New Jersey, LLG,

lapeats fts aliegations of the First and Sacond Cotnts of the Counterclalm as though

mare fully set forth herein.

457 -
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2, ‘Ametican remalns ready, wiliing and able to close title and to tender the

halance of the purchase price to PGS wha Is unable to deliver a Dead free of the
marital and cccupaney rights of JS as requirad hy the Gontract.

3. JS has been named as & thi;:d-party defandant in this gction in grder that
ner rights may be praperly adjudicated.

4, Americdn seeks judgment agalnst PGS compelling conveyance of the
hroperty to It subject fo the martal rights undse NLLS. 3B:2848 and reducing the
purchase price for the valus of the matital righte of JS to the marital resldence.
WHEREFORE, American Devalopers of New Jetsey, LLG, demands judgment:

A.  That defendant, Pau! 3. Skicdowsky be requirad specifically to psriom hia
agreement of Novamber 11, 2008;

8,  That the purchasa price be reduced In an amount gqual to the val.ue of the

narttal rights of Josnne Skiodowsky;

C. Damages;

D, Attamneys fees and costs;

E. Such other refief as the Court deems appropriate under the circumstances.
THIRD PARTY COMP! AINE

EIRST.COUNT
American Developers of Naw Jemssy, LLC, by way of Complalnt agalnst the

'Lefendants, John F. Lughls, Jr. and Joanne Skladowsky, says that:

S S F -
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1. Amaerican Developers of New Jersey, LLC (“American”) repeats all of the

hilegations contained in the Counterclaim as though set forth herein at length,

2. Defendant, Lushis, has represented himself at all times relevant te be an
ttorney-at-law of the Commonweaith of Pannsylvania,

I 3. Defendant, Lushis, undertook to represent PGS in connaction with the
egotiation and execution of the Contract with American, _

4, Under the termns of the Contract, Lushis is holding $85,000 in escrow,

5.  Ametican hareby demands that Lushis reléase the funds to American as a

h-esult bf the breach of Cantract by PGS or, altemativaly, that he depaesit ths funds inte
sourt pending the further Order of the Coust, '

WHEREFORE, plalnttf, American Davelopers of New Jemay, Inc., demands
".udgment againat the defandant, Jehn F, Lushis, Jr., for: '

A An Order diracting him to tum the funds which ha i2 holding aver to
rlalntiff; or, alternatively, depostting the funrds into court; -

B.  Atorneys’ fees and costs of suif
G.  Such other rellef ms the Court desms appropriate under the

Llrcumstancea.
SECOND COUNT
1.  Plaintiff repeats gil of the aflegations of the Flrat Count of the Third-Patty

famplain‘t as though set forth at length hereln,

y 2 -
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2 On informatior} and befiet, Lushis at all times relevant, Ingjuding during the
{|time of the negotiation of the Contract and the entry into the Contract, knew that PGS
was marriad to JS and fraudulently and wilfully withheld that infermatlon from Amerlean.

3, Lughls, in vialation of his obligaflons as an attarney, intentionally withheld

that information frem American and it attornay,

4. Afier the Coniract was entered into, Lushis in concert with PGS,

atte'mpted ta inducs Ameﬂcf:n into agreelng to convey a portion of the pr.emisea of to
subdivide and ta allow PGS to refaln a portlan of the premises including the macta)
res|dence, |

5, On information and ballef, at all times relevant, Lushis knew that PGS
wauid bs unable to delivar posseanion without JS relinquishing her marital rights ta the
rasidenca on the Property and thet any aﬂéri:lptSd gonveyance wonld be subject to the
rights of JS, In dolng =0, Lushis violated & duty of gaod faith that he owed to pleiniif
when the Contract was negotiated knowing that he would sometime in the future sesk
to.coerce, compel or induce. plaintff to accept something less than that for which
| plaintiff bargained, , '

6  As a result of the violation of the duly of Lushis, plalniiif has besn
damaged.

WHEREFORE, plalntiff demands judgment against John F. Lushls, Jr., for.
A. Compenaatory damages;

B. Punitive damages;

/% 5%
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J
\ C.  Altameys' fees and costs of suit; .
D. Altorneys' fees:

E, Such other relief as the Court deems appropriate under the

F

circumstances.

JHIRD COI1INT,
1. Plalntiff repeats all of tha allegations of the Firat and Second Counts of the

Third-Party Complaint as though sat forth at length herain.

2. Plaintiff repeats ell of the allegations of {he First, Second 's-and Third Counts
of the Third-Party Complalnt ag though set forth at length hereln.
3. On Information and balief, Lustis at all times ralevant, inciuding during the
time of the negotiation of the Cantract and the entry into the Contract, knew that PGS was
marrled to JS but he negligently falled o advise American of that infomnadon'even though
he had a duty 1o do sa. Fallure by Lushis ¥ advise American that PGS was mayried was
a negligent misrepragentation on which Ainarican rafied In sntering inta the Contract.
4. Lushis bregched a duty which he owad to American by falling to discloss of
the marital status of PGS,
WHEREFQRE, plaintif dermands judgment agalnst John F, Lughis, Jr., for:
A. Compensatory damagss;
8. Attornays’ faas and costs of aulf;

C. Aftomneys' fess;

10
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. D, Such other rellef as the Court deems approprate under the
circumstanceas,
+ EQURTH COUNT,
1. Plaintiff rapeats the allegations of Counts Ona through Three as though set
“fo:th at length herein,
2. Oninformation and balief, JS was at alt times awara of the negetiations of

the Agreemant entered into by PGS with Amerlcan.

| 3. on information and belief and at all times relevant, JS colluded and
conapired with PGS to withhold from American tha information of her mardage and that
the primary marital realdence of PGS and JS was on the property, -

4. S has witfully refused to join in the Deed to transfer and convey any

e —

rights which she may have under N.LS. 38:28-3,

5 As a result of fie consplracy and collugion tistween PG; and JS and her
‘Ifaﬂur& to join in the Deed, Ametican has been dameagsd.,
B - JS shouid i:a astopped from asssrting her rights under NS, 3B8:28-3.

v WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands judgment

A, That defendants, PGS and JS, be raquired specifically to perform the
Agreement of Novamber 11, 2003,

B. Damages;

C. Punitive damages:

D. Attorneys’ fess and costs,

14
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| £, Such other rellef as the Court deems appropriate under the cirr:umstancaa.
EIETH COUNT,
F 1. Plalntiff repeats ifs allegations to the First through Fourth Counts as
though set forth at length herain,
2. JShasrefusedfo tranaf;ar, convey of reflinquish any rights which she may
llhave under M.l S. 3B:28-3,
3. As a result, JS has been named 'as a third-party defendant in this matter In
arderthat her rights may be adjudicated by this Caurt.
| WHEREFORE, plaintif demands judgment:
A, Adjudicating the rights of JS;
B Damages;
C. Attomeys' fees and costs of sult;
h D.  Such ather relief as the Court deems appropriate under the circumiatances.

CERTIFIGATION OF FILING AND SERVICE

{ hareby certify that the within pleading has been filed and garved vithin the time
and in the manner prescribad by the rules of séurt.

DESIGNATION OF TRIAL COUNAEL

RICHARD J. SCHACHTER la hersby designated &8 trial counse! i the within

matter.

|
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO BIILE 4:34,
| cerlify that the matter In ¢ontroversy ia not the subject of any other action or
}mitration proceeding, now or contemplated, and that Joanne Sklodowsky and John F,
_dshis, Jr. shauld be Jolned In this action.

SCHACHTER, TROMBADORE, OFFEN

& STANTON, P.A.
Attomays for Defendant-Counterclaimant
Third-Party Plaintiff, American Developers .
of Mew Jersay, LLC

By: i (S/Richard J. Schachter
"RICHARD J. SCHACHTER

Dated: Mavember 2, 2004
F
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Certified to be
a true copy

NORR!S, McLAUGHLIN & MARCUS
A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
721 ROUTE 202-206

P.0. BOX 1018

SOMERVILLE, NEW JERSEY 08876-1018

(908) 722-0700

RECEIVED/FIrEp

AT CHAMBERS

JUDGE ruBny

Atforneys for Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff,

American Developers of New Jersey, LLC.

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY,

Plaintiffs, :

V.

AMERICAN DEVELOPERS OF
NEW JERSEY, LLC,

Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff -

V.

JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR.,
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY, and
TALLMAN HUDDERS &
SORRENTINO

Third-Party Defendants

: SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY

HUNTERDON COUNTY
DOCKET NO.: HNT-L-458-04

CIVIL ACTION

STIPULATION OF SETTLEMENT
BETWEEN PLAINTIFE, PAUL G.
SKLODOWSKY, DEFENDANT/THIRD-
PARTY PLAINTIFF, AMERICAN
DEVELOPERS OF NEW JERSEY, LLC
AND THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT,
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY

THIS MATTER, having been amicably resolved and settled by and among

plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, defendant/third-party blaintiff, American Developers of

New Jersey, LLC and third-party defendant, Joanne Sklodowsky, with respect o the

claims asserted beiween said partieg;

ITIS on this_’ 2 . day of

2007,

STIPULATED by and betwéen the parties as follows:

1. Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky and Third-Party Defendant, Joanne

Sklodowsky, agree to pay Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff, American Developers of

St
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New Jersey, LLC (“ADNJ"), $150,000.00 in full settlement of ADNJ’s claims in the

above action in the following manner and according fo the following terms:

(8) to authorize the release of the $35,000.00 and $50,000.00
deposits paid by ADNJ on or about November {1, 2003 and June
9, 2004, for its purchase of the 23 Union Road, Kingwood
Township, New Jersey property, together with any inferest earned
on the deposit;

(b  $25,000.00 on or before July 1, 2007; and
(c)  $40,000.00 on or before August 1, 2008.

2. Plaintiff, Paul G, Sklodowsky, agrees that he will provide ADNJ with an
assignment of all funds that he recovers as a result of the legal malpractice lawsuit
that he intends to institute against John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq., Daniel Baurkot, Esq. and
Joseph Nanovic, Esq. in the event of default or nonpayment of 1(b) and 1(c) orifa
claim is settled on or before August 1, 2008.

3. ADNJ agrees that it will provide plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, with copies

. of the reports and tests in its possession, which had been performed or prepared by
RBZ Enterprises, inc. in connection with its engineering for the proposed subdivision
of the Kingwood Township Property.

4.  ADNJ agrees that it will provide plaintiff, Paul-G. Sklodowsky, if
requested, with an authorization for the release of the reports and tests, which had
been performed or prepared by RBZ Enterprises, Inc. in connection with its
engineering for the proposed subdivision of the Kingwood Township Property.

5 Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, and Third-Party Defendant, Joanne

Sklodowsky, agree to provide ADNJ with a Mortgage and Mortgage Note for the 23

AT




Union Road, Kingwood Township, New Jersey property o secure the payments set
forth in 1(b) and 1(c) above.

6. All other claims by and among the parties are dismissed with prejudice,
subject to compliance with the terms of the seftlement placed on the record on April
23, 2007,

We hereby consent to the form and entry of the within Stipulation.

NORRIS, McLAUGHLIN & MARCUS MIKULSKI & MITCHELL, LLC

Attorneys for Defendant/Third-Party Attorneys for Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky

Plaintiff, American Developers of New and Third-Party Defendant, Joanne

Jersey, LLC Sklodowsky

By: W’LM
Richard J, Schachter, Esq. Thaddeus P. Mikul¢ki, Jr., Esq.

Dated: Dated: J% %)

St B W

STEPHEN B. RUBIN, 1.5.C,
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Certified to be
a true copy

NORRIS, McLAUGHLIN & MARCUS
A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
721 ROUTE 202-206

P.0. BOX 1018

SOMERVILLE, NEW JERSEY 08876-1018

(908) 722-0700

' Altorneys for Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff,
American Developers of New Jersey, LLC.

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY,
Plaintiffs,

V.

AMERICAN DEVELOPERS OF
NEW JERSEY, LLC,

Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff

V.

JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR,,
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY, and’
TALLMAN HUDDERS &
SORRENTINO

Third-Party Defendants

This matter was called for trial on April 23, 2007 for adjudication of the claims
between Paut G. Sklodowsky and Joanne Sklodowsky and American Developers of

New Jersey LLC, and a settlement between the parties was placed on the record on

April 23, 2007.

RECEIVED/FILED
AT CHAMBERS

JUN 13 2007

JUDGE RUBIN

: SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY

HUNTERDON COUNTY
DOCKET NO.: HNT-L-458-04

CIVIL ACTION

ORDER OF DISMISSAL

And it appearing to the Court that the terms of the settlement provide that no

funds will be paid to Paul G, SkI

On this ' ,i day o

fa 6

y and Joanne Sklodowsky, it is therefore

, 2007;




ORDERED that the all claims between Paui G. Sklodowsky and Joanne
Sklodowsky and American Developers of New Jersey, LLC are hereby dismissed with
prejudice subject to compliance with the terms of the settlement placed on the record
on April 23, 2007, and itis further

ORDERED that the application for an attorney's lien upon any funds recovered
by Paul G. Sklodowsky and Joanne Sklodowsky filed by their former attorneys, Daniel
Baurkot, Esg. and Joseph Nanovic, Esq., be disrnissed as moot as there are no funds

to which any lien may attach.

Sdt B M

Stephen J. Rubin, J.S5.C.
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Mikulsld 2 Mitchell, LLC

80 Lambert Lane - Suite 150
Lambertville, New Jersey 08530
{609) 397-7667

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky

Paul G. 8klodowrky, Buperior Court of New Jermsey
Huonterdon County - Law Division
Plaintiif
Nocket Number:
vE.
Civil Action

John F. Lushin, Jr., Beg. Tallman,

Hudders & Sorrentino, A ProfesslonalX
Corporation, Joseph T. Nanovic, Esg. Complaint and Jury Demand
and Daniel J. Baurkot, Eeq.

Def?ndant M JrA 3;.-& 7

Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowslcy , residing at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, New

Jersey, complaining of the Defendants states:

COUNT ONE
{(Professionnal Negligence)

1, Defendant John F. Lughis, Jr. {(hereinafter Lushis} is an attorney at law of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvanie, He is employed by the Defendant law firm of
Talllnan Budders and Sorrentine, a Professional Corporation, with offices in
Allcntnwn, Pennsylvania. All conduct of Lushis described in this Complaint was

taken within the acope of his employment with Tallman Hudders and Sorrentino,

fo 66
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2.

In 2003, the Plaintif, Paul G. Sklodowsky, (hereinafter Sklodowsky) was
referred to Lushis for legal repreacntation on dhe proposed sale of approximately
43 acres of land that Plaintiff owned in Kingwood Fownship, New Jersey. Lushis
agreed to represent Sklodowsky on the sale of his real property. He advised
Plaintif’ that, as necessary, he would consult with members of his firm, who
were admitted to the practice of law in the State of New Jersey.

Sklodowsky advised Lushis that he held title to the real property in his own
name and that he wanted to transfer the property without the involvement of his
wife with whom he was having marital difficulties. He requestad Lushis to advise

him what rights his wife had in the property and whether he could transier the

property without the conmsent of his wife, Lushis advised him that he could

transfer the property without the consent of his wife but that she, as his spouss,
would have an interest in the proceeds of the sale,

Sklodowsky relied upon the verbal and written advice and representations of
Lushis concerning the rights of his wife and entered into a contract on November
11, 2003 to scll his real estate to American Developers of New Jersey, Inc,
(hereinafter sometimes ADNJ}).

Under New Jersey law, Skledowsky could nat transfer the property without the
consent of his wife, as the marital residence was located on the property.
Sklodowsky's wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, was a necessary signatory to any deed of
transfer in order for her husband to deliver goed title to ADNJ &3 he had

warranted in his contract of zale with AbNJ.

fed7
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6.

7.

8.
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Plaintiff, upon the advice of Lushis, entered into a contract for the sale of real
estate under which he agreed to deliver to ADNJ, the purchaser, good tide at
closing. However, Plaintiff could not deliver good. title because his wife did not
and would not consent to transfet her interest in the property to American
Developéra of New Jersey, Inc.

Sklodovwsky was unable to consummate the sale of the approximately 43 acres
of land to American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. as a result of his inability to
convey good title.

After American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. refused to close without good
title, Lushis referred Sklodowsky to Defendant, Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq.
{hereinafter Nanovic) for legal representation. Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq is an
attorney at law in the Commeonwealthh of Pennsylvania with an office in
Macungle, Pennsylvania. Both Lushis and Nancvic advised Skiodowsky to file
suit against American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. to recover the $85,000.00
deposit paid into escrow by ADNJ for its purported breach of the contract of
aale,

Sklodowsky retained Nanovic to represent him on such suit and Nanavic, who is
not licensed to practice law in the State of New Jersey, engaged Defendant,
Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq., (hereinafter Baurkot) to represent Skiodowsky as trial
counsel. Daniet J, Baurkot, Esq. is an attorney at law in the State of New Jersey

with offices in Basking Ridge, New Jersey,

ey
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10, Baurkot instituted suit in the Superior Court of New Jersey on behalf of Sklodowsky
pgainst American Developers of New Jersey, LLC, sceldong mecovery of the contract
deposit. ADILI filed an Answer and Counterclaim requesting return of the deposit and
comnpensatory damages for hreach of contract. ADNJ elso filed Third Party Complaints
against Lushis, and hig law firm, Defendant, Tallinan, Hudders & Sorrentino, as well as
Joanne Sklodowsky. The complete caption of the case was  Paul G Skiodowsky, Flaintiff
u. American Developers of New Jersey, Inc., Deferudant/Third Party Flaintiff v. John F.
Lushis, Jr, Joawme Skdodowsky, ond Tolfman, Hudders & Sorrenting, Thid Pay
Defendants., Docket No. HNT-L-<495-04.

11.1n its pleadings, ADNJ claimed, among other mattera, that Sklodowsky and his
wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, had conspired to willfully withhoeld their marsiage and
her marital status from ADNJ to the detriment and damage of ADNJ.

12, Despite the affirmative claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, inchuding
allepations of fraud and collusion, Baurkot and Nanovic advised Plaintiff that it
was appropriate litigation strategy to not file a claim of professional negligence
against Lushis and his law firm. Despite the affirmative claims of ADNJ against
Sklodowsky, including allegations of fraud and collusion, Baurkot and Nanovic
advised Plaintifl that it was appropriate litigation strategy to refuse to waive his
claim of privilege concerning his confidential communications with Lushis, even
though such cormmmunications would demonstrate that he had not colluded with

his wife.

/% 67
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13, Plaintiff relied on the advice of Nanovic and Baurkat, who did not assert a claim
by Sklodewsky against Lushis. They also successfully resisted requesta and
motions by ADNJ to obtain access to confidential communicabons between
Lushis and Sidodowsky.

14, In February 2007, Sklodowsky suspected that his attorneys were not looking
out for his best interests. Sho'dowaky discharged Lushis and Baurkot and
retained new counsel. When the lawsuit came on for trial before the Honorable
Stephen Rubin J.8.C., in April 2007, the Plaintiff settled with ADNJ begause it
was likely that he could not win on his claim fox: the deposit, since he could not
show that he could deliver goad title to the property at closixg as he had
warranted under his contract. Additionally, he faced a charge of fraud and
collusion with his wife that he could not effectively rebut without testimony
concerning the advice of Lushis. Not only had the Trial Court ruled that the
contract claim concerning delivery of good title at closing would be litigated but
it also had Tuled that the issue of whether Sklodowsky and his wife had
“intentionally manipulated her right of veto to willfully frustrate the contract in
violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing while the contract was in
effect” would b litigated, Faced with a litigation catastrophe, Sklodowsky chose
to reduce his losses and exposure.

15, John F. Lushis, Esq., Joseph T. Nanovic and Daniel J, Baurkot, Esq, attorneys

at law, agreed to represent Plaintiff concerning the sale of his real estate amd

ke S it
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litigation rclated to the sale of the real estate, Defendants held themselves out to

the public as attomneys with expertise real estate and litigation law.

16.Defendants owed to Plaintiff duties of care to properly advise and represent

plaintiif in a skillin]l and diligent manner and to place the interests of Plaintif

over their interests and the interests of others.

17. Defendants, by various errors, omissions, and commissions, deviated from the

applicable standards of care for legal professionals in their representation of

Plaintiff, Such deviations included, but were not limited to the followiné:

a.

g.

The advice of John Lushis, Esq. to Plaintiff to enter into a contract
without the agreement of his apouse to join in the transaction
notwithstanding her spousal rights under New Jersey law.

The unauthorized practice of law by Lushis and Nanovic in New Jersey.
The advice of Defendants to Plaintiff to pursue litigation for the return of 2
deposit in a real estate transaction in which Plaintil could nat deliver
good title as he had represented.

The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Plaintiff to refrain from assertion of
a claim against Lushis for professional negligence.

The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Plaintiff to maintain the
confidentiality of his communications with Lushis,

The placement by Nanovic and Baurkot of their interests and the intexests
of Lushis over those of Plaintiff,

The billing of unnecessary and unreasonable Jegal fecs o Plaintiff,

18.As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of the defendants, plaintff

has suffered damages, including the payment of damages to ADNJ and attorney

fees,

W2
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Wherefore, Plaintiff requests judgment ageinst all Defendants for damages,
together with attorney’s fees, and costs of suit, and such other and further refief as
the court deemas proper, including a declaration that no fees are owed to Defendants
hy Plaintiff.

COUNT TWO
{Breach of Contract)

19, Plnintiff repeats the allegations of Count One. ‘

20.Some of the charges for legal services billed to Plaintiff by Daniel Baurkot, Esq.
and Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. were unnecessary and unreasonable.

21,8ome of the charges for services billed to Plaintiff by Daniel Baurkot, Esq. and
Joseph T. Namnovic, Esq, were charges for which they agreed they would not bill
Plaintiff.

22.Defendant’s actions constitute a bremch of contract and breach of the
requirement that charges for legal servicas must be reasonable,

23.As g result of Defendants’ breach of contract, the Plaintiff has been damaged.

Wherefore, Plaintiff requests judgment Daniel Baurkot, Esq. and Joseph T.

Nanovic, Esq. together with attorney's fees, and costs of suit, and such other and

further relief rs the court deems proper, including a declaration that no fees are

owed to Defendants by Plaintiff,

COUNT THREE
(BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY]

24, Plaintiff repeats the allegations of Count Ons and Twa.

72
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25, Joseph Nanovic, Esq,. while acting as attorney for Sklodo:ws!cy. proposed in

2006 to enter into a Joint Venture Agreement with Sklodowsky concerning the
sale and development of the approximate 43 acre parcel of land in Kingwood
Township. Under the terms of agreement, Nanovic would obtain a $100,000.00
line of credit secured by real estate owned by him and Sklodowsky would give a
mortgage on hia real property in the amount of $100,000.00 to Nanovic to
secure the payment of the $100,000.00. A copy of the proposed agreement
signed by Nanovic is attached as Exhibit A.

26.Although Skicdowsky never agreed to sign the proposed Joint Venture

agreement, Nanovic obtained the $100,000.00 line of credit from East Penn
Bank. In connection with his application for the Iban, he prepared a letter for the
signature of Sklodowsky dated April 24, 2006 to East Penn Bank concerning his
representation of Sklodowslcy and the terms of payment of legal fees under his
retainer agreement with Skdedowsky. This letter was prepared by Nanovie to

induce East Penn Bank to give him a $100, 000,00 line of credit,

27.Although no writtan joint venture agreement was signed, Nanovic undertook

actions concemning the development of the land with éxpectaﬁon that he would
be paid for his services and be entitled to share in the proceeds of land

development,

28.The signed proposal presented by Nanovic to Sklodowsky for his signature and

Nanovic's engagement in a business relationship violated the requirements New

4 75
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Jersey Rule of Professional Conduct 1.8 as well as Penngylvania Rule of

Professional Conduct Rule 1.8,

29, After securing the line of credit, Nanovic applied some of the proceeds of the loan
to attomey fees due and owing to him and Baurkot and not towards the
development of ‘thc land.

30,The aforeseid actions of Nanovic constitute g breach of the fiduciary duty he
pwed to Plaintiff,

31.As a result of Nanavic’s breach of fiduciary duty, the Plaintiff has been
damaged.

Wherefors, Plaintiff requesta judgment against including disgorgement of the
legal fces he paid himself and Baurkot in violstion of his fiduclary duty Defendant,
Jose;:)h T. Nanovic, Eaqg. for damages, iogethcr with attormey's fees, and costs of suit,
and such other and further relief aa the court deems proper, inchiding disgorgement of

the legal fees he paid himself and Baurkot in violation of his fiduciary duties.

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to New Jersey Court Rule 4:5-1, this matter in controversy is related to the
appeal of the dismissal of a third party complaint in Paul G. Skicdowsky, Plaintiff v.
American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. Defendant/Third Party Plainfifl v, John F. Lushis,
Jr.,, Joanne Skdndowsky, and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, Third Party Defendants, Dockeet
No. HNT-L-459-04 .{A-5085~0612) I ¥now of no other parties that should be joined in the

above action or of any other related or contemplated legal proceedings.

/a2 ot




-

——— et s mimes a3 mr

uct zz zuuY 'J:-LBI"H MLRULSKIAML I CHELL,, LLU BUYEDTULUE

JURY DEMAND

The Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, demands trial by a jury on all of the

triable issues of this complaint, pursuant to Rulel:8-2(b) and Rule 4:35-1(d}.
DENMAND FOR DISCOVERY OF INSURANCE COVERAGE

Pursuant to New Jersey Court Rule 4:10-2(h}, demand iz mede that
Defendants, disclose to Plaintiff's attorney whcthc{ or not there are any Insurance
agreements or policles under which any person or firm carrying on an insurance
business may be liable to satisly part or all of a judgment which may be entered in
this action or indemnify or reimburse for payments made to satisfy the judpment
and provide Plaintiff's attorney with true copics of those insurance agreements or
policies, including, but not limited to, any and alf declaration sheets. This demand
shall include and cover not only primary coverage, but also any and all excess,

catagtrophe and umbrells policies.
Mikulski & Mitchell, LLC

Dated:  October 18, 2007
Theddens P. Mikulsld, Jr,
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Case 2:07-cv-03326-JKG Document1  Filed 08/13/2007 Page 10f12

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT
OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOSEPH T. NANOVIC, :
Plaintiff : CIVIL ACTION

v. : No.
PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY, :
IRON PRO ERECTORS, LLC, and :
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY,
Defendants
COMPLAINT
The Parties

1. Plaintiff, Joseph T. Nanovic, is a citizen of Pennsylvania residing at
308 Windsor Placs, Macungie, Lehigh County, Pennsylvania 18062.

2. Defendants, Panl G. Sklodowsky and Joanne Skiodowsky, husband and wife,
are citizens of New Jersey residing at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, Hunterdon County,
New Jersey 08825.

3. Defendant, Iron Pro Erectors, LLC is a New Jersey Li;nited Liability
Company with its main office at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, Hunterdon County, New
Jersey 08825.

Jurisdiction and Venue

4, This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.8.C. Seclion
2201 as an actual controversy exists between the Plaintiff and the Defendants; and 28
U.5.C. Scction 1332 as the Plaintiff and the Defendants aze citizens of different states and

the amounnt in controversy is in excess of $75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

e 77




......
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5, Venue lies in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(a) as the Plaintiff

resides at 308 Windsor Place, Macungie, Lehigh County, Pennsylvania 18062.
Confroversy

6. Plaintiff was hired by Defendants to represeiit them in various legal a:qd
business matters. Attached as Exhibits “A", “B", and “C" respectively, copies of which
are attached hercto, are the initial December 17, ﬁODS, Agreement for Legal Services, a
September 16, 2004, written agreement and an April 26, 2006 ratification of that
agreement. In addition to the attached written agreements, there have been various oral

agreements between the parties as to other legal and business representation for

- Defendants by Plaintiff and others.

7. Inall these agreements, whether written or oral, Plaintiff agreed {o provide
legal and business representation to Defendants and Defendants agreed to pay for that
legal and business representation.

8. Plaintiff on his part has duly provided lega! and business representation to
Defendants.

9. Defendants have not performed their part of the agreements and have failed
and neglected to pay Plaintiff for all of Plaintiff’s legal and business representation.

10. By reason of such breach, Plaintiff has suffered damages exceeding

$75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

&)
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Case 2:07-cv-03326-JKG  Document i

Filed 08/13/2007 Page 30of12

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against defendant:

2) Tnthe sum of $105,433.71; and

b) Such other relief as this Court deems right and just, -
' ) Humdte

Noledr Shs/07

)

Jdsofih T. Nangvic, Esquire
308 Windsor Place
Macungie, PA 18062

ID #32421

610-966-0621
610-966-6266 (fax)

jnanovic(@earthlink.net

-
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“‘ONITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOSEPH T. NANOVIC,

Plaintiff,

PAUL G, SKLODOWSKY, IRON PRO
ERECTORS, LLC, and JOANNE
SKLODOWSKY

Defendants
and

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY

Counterclaimant and
Third Party Plaintiff

V.

DANIEL J, BAURKOT, ESQ.,

"JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., ESQ. and

TALLMANN, HUDDERS &
SORRENTINO, A Professional
Corporation

Third Party Defendants

--f'-.--—-q_--r-_-Hq—fu_—w'—»q—wvw-—-—hﬂ-—'—-wu—tuﬂuuuuw

Civil Action No:
CVv-07-3326

ANSWER OF DEFENDANTS
PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY,
IRON PRO ERECTORS, LLC
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY

and

COUNTERCLAIM AND
THIRD PARTY COMPLAINT
OF PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY
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ANSWER of PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY, IRON PRO ERECTORS, LLC, and JOANNE

SKLODOWSKY

Defendants for their answer to the Complaint state:

1.

2‘

Adrmitted. -

Admitted.

Admitted.

Denied.

Denied,

Admitted in part and denied in part. Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, admits
the authenticity of Exhibits A & B. Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, denies that
Exhibit C consﬁtuted ratification of any agreement. Defendant, Joanne
Sklodowsky, denies that Plaintiff represented her on any iegal matters.
Defendant, Iron Pro Erectors, LLC, admits that Plaintiff performed services for it
under the terms of Exhibit A. Without knowing the specific allegations of any
alleged “oral agreements”, Defendants can neither admit or deny same and

therefore deny them. Defendants deny any allegations not specifically admitted.

. Defendants incorporate their response to Paragraph Number Six (6).

Defendants deny any allegations not specifically admitted.

. Defendants incorporate their response to Paragraph Number Six (6).

Defendants deny any allegations not specifically admitted.

O, Denied.

10.Denied.
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FIRST SEPERATE DEFENSE
The Complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
SECOND SEPERATE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claim is barred by his professional negligence and the professional
negligence of Daniel Baurkot, Esq.
THIRD SEPERATE DEFENSE
Plaintiff’s claim is barred by his breach of fiduciary duty and that of Daniel

Baurkot, Esq.
FOURTH SEPERATE DEFENSE

The legal fees charged were unreasonable, unnecessary and excessive.
FIFTH SEPERATE DEFENSE
The assignment of fees by Daniel Baurkot, Esq. to Plaintiff is void or
unenforceable,
SIXTH SEPERATE DEFENSE

Plaintiff cannot recover on account of his breach of contract and that of Daniel

Baurkot, Esq.
SEVENTH SEPERATE DEFENSE

The quality of legal services do not justify the fees charged.
EIGHTH SEPERATE DEFENSE
The legal services performed were inadequate for the results obtained.
WHEREFORE, Defendants ask that the complaint be dismissed and they be

awarded costs.

COUNTERCLATM OF PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY

PAUL G, SKLODOWSKY by way of counterclaim against the Plaintiff and
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Counterclaim Defendant, JOSEPH T. NANOVIC, ESQ., states
COUNT ONE
{Professional Negligence)

1. Third Party Defendant, John F. Lushis, Jr. (hereinafter “Lushis”) is an attorney-
at-law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. He is employed by the Third Party
Defe-ndant Law Firmn of Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, a Professional
Corporation, with offices in Allentown, Pennsylvania. All conduct of Lushis
described in this Counterclaim was taken withinn the scope of his employment
with Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino.

2. In 2003, the Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky (hereinafter “Sklodowsky”) was
referred to Lushis forolegal representation on the proposed sale of approximately
43 acres of land that Sklodowsky owned in Kingwood Township, New Jersey.
Lushis agreed to represent Sklodowsky on the sale of his real property. He
advised Defendant that, as necessary, he would consult with members of his
firm, who were admitted to the practice of law in the State of New Jersey.

3. Sklodowsky advised Lushis that he held title to the real property in his own
name and that he wanted to transfer the property without the involvement of
his wife, with whom he was having marital difficulties. He requested Lushis to

advise him what rights his wife had in the property and whether he could
transfer the property without the consent of his wife. Lushis advised him that
he could transfer the property without the consent of his wife but that she, as
his spouse, would have an interest in the proceeds of the sale.

4. Skiodowsky relied upon the verbal and written advice and representations of

Lushis concerning the rights of his wife and entered into a contract on
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November 11, 2003 to sell his real estate to American Developers of New Jersey,
Inc. {(hereinafter sometimes “ADNJ”).

5. Under New Jersey law, Sklodowsky could not transfer the property without the
consent of his wife, as the marital residence was located on the property.
Sklodowsky'’s wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, was a necessary signatory to any deed
of transfer in order for her husband to deliver good title to ADNJ, as he had
warranted in his contract of sale with ADNJ,

6. Plaintiff, upon the advice of Lushis, entered into a contract for the sale of real
estate under which he agreed to deliver to ADNJ, the purchaser, good title at
closing. However, Defendant could not deliver good title because his wife did not
and would not consent to transfer her interest in the property to American
Developers of New Jersey, Inc,

7. Sklodowsky was unable to consummate the sale of the approximately 43 acres
of land to American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. as a result of his inability to
convey good title.

8. After American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. refused to close without good
title, Lushis referred Sklodowsky to Plainitff, Joseph T. Nanovic, Esgq.
{hereinafter “Nanovic”) for legal representation. Both Lushis and Nanovic
advised Sklodowsky to file suit against American Developers of New Jersey, Inc.
to recover the $85,00b.00 deposit paid into escrow by ADNJ for its purported
breach of the contract of sale.

9, Sklodowsky retained Nanovic to represent him on such suit, and Nanovic¢, who
is not licensed to practice law in the State of New Jersey, engaged Third Party

Defendant, Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. (hereinafter “Baurkot”) to represent

(e §F




Sklodowsky as trial counsel. Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. is an attorney-at-law in
the State of New Jersey and Commonweath of Pennsylvania with offices in
Basking Ridge, New Jersey.

10. Baurkot instituted suit in the Supc_arior Court of New Jersc;y on behalf of Skdodowsky
against American Developers of New Jersey, LLC, seeking recovery of the contract
deposit. ADNJ filed an Answer and Counterclaim requesting return of the deposit and
compensatory damages for breach of contract. ADNJ also filed Third Party Complaints
against Lushis anid his law firm, Defendant, Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, as well
as Joanne Sklodowsky. The complete caption of the case was Paul G. Sklodowsky,
Plaintiff v. American Dévelo_pers of New Jersey, Inc., Defendant/Third Party Plaintiff
v, John F. Lushis, Jr., Joanne Sklodowsky, and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, Third
Party Defendants., Docket No, HNT-L-459-04.

11.In its pleadings, ADNJ claimed, among other matters, that Sklodowsky and his
wife, Joanne Skiodowsky, had conspired to willfuily ;fvithhold their marriage and
her marital status from ADNJ to the detriment and damage of ADNJ.

12.Despite the affirmative claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, including
allegations of fraud and coliusion, Baurkot and Nanovic advised that
Defendant it was appropriate litigation strategy to not file a claim of
professional negligence against Lushis and his law firm. Despite the affirmative
claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, including allegations of fraud and
collusion, ' Baurkot and Nanovic advised that it Defendant was appropriate
litigation strategy to refuse to waive his claim of privilege concerning his
confidential communications with Lushis, even though such communications

would demonstrate that he had not colluded with his wife.
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13. Defendant relied on the advice of Nanovic and Baurkot, who did not assert a
claim by Sklodowsky against Lushis. They also successfully resisted requests
and motions by ADNJ to obtain access to confidential communications between

Lushis and Sklodowsky.

14.In February 2007, Sklodowsky suspected that his attorneys were not looking
out for his best interests. Sklodowsky discharged Lushis and Baurkot and
retained new counsel. When the lawsuit came on for trial before the Honorable
Stephen Rubin J.S.C,, in April 2007, the Defendant setled with ADNJ because
it was likely that he could not win on his claim for the deposit, since he could
not show that he could deliver good title to the property at closing as he had
warranted under his contract. Additionally, he faced a charge of fraud and
collusion with his wife that he could not effectively rebut without testimony
concerning the advice of Lushis. Not only had the Trial Court ruled that the
contract claim concerning delivery of good title at closing would be litigated but
it also had ruled that the issue of whether Skilodowsky and his wife had
“intentionally manipulated her right of veto to willfully frustrate the contract in
violation éf the covenant of good faith and fair dealing while the contract was in
effect” would be litigated. Faced with a litigation catastrophe, Sklodowsky chose
to reduce his losses and exposure,

15. John F. Lushis, Esq., Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. arid Daniel J. Baurkot, Esg.,
attorneys-at-law, agreed to represent Defendant concerning the sale of his real
estate and litigation related to the sale of the real estate. These attorneys held
themselves out to the public as attorneys with expertise real estate and

litigation law.
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16. Joseph T. Nanovic as well as John F. Lushis, Esq. and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq.,
owed to duties of care to properly advise and represent Plaintiff in a skillful and

diligent manner and to place the interests of Plaintiff over their interests and

the interests of others.

17. John F. Lushis, Esq., Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq, and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. by

various errors, omissions, and commissions, deviated from the applicable
standards of care for legal professionals in their representation of Defendant.
Such deviations included, but were not limited to the following:

a. The advice of John Lushis, Esq. to to enter into a contract without the
agreement of his spouse to join Defendant in the transaction
notwithstanding her spousal rights under New Jersey law.

b. The unauthorized practice of law by Lushis and Nanovic in New Jersey.

c. The advice to Defendant to pursue litigation for the return of a deposit in
a real estate transaction in which Plaintiff could not deliver goed title as
he had represented.

d. The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Defendant to refrain from
assertion of a claim against Lushis for professional negligence.

e. The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Defendant to maintain the

confidentiality of his communications with Lushis.
f, The placement by Nanovic and Baurkot of their interests and the
interests of Lushis over those of Defendant.

g. The billing of unnecessary and unreasonable legal fees to Defendant.
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18. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and negligence of Plaintiff,
Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, has suffered damages, including the payment
of damages to ADNJ and the need to hire counsel and incur attorney fees.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests judgment against Plaintiff for damages,
together with attorney’s fees, and costs of suit, and such other and further relief as
the court deems proper, including a declaration that no fees are owed to

Defendants by Plaintiff,

COUNT TWO
{Breach of Contract)

19.Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, repeats the allegations of Count One.

20.Plaintiff has asserted that part- of the legal fees on which he sues are fees of
Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. rendered to defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, Esq. Some
of the charges for legal services billed to Plaintiff by Daniel Baurkot, Esq, and
Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. were unnecessary and unreascnable,

21.Some of the charges for services billed to Defendant by Daniel Baurkot, Esq.
and Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. were charges for which they agreed they would not
bill Defendant.

29. Plaintiff’s actions and those of Daniel Baurkot,{ Esq. constitute a breach of
contract and breach of the requirement that charges for legal services must be
reasonable.

23, As aresult of Plaintiff’s breach of contract, the Defendant has been damaged,

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests judgment against Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq.

together with attorney's fees, and costs 6f suit, and such other and further relief
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as the court deems proper, including a declaration that no fees are owed to Daniel

Baurkot, Esq. and Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. -

COUHNT THREE
{BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY)

24. Defendant repeats the allegations of Count One and Two.

25.Joseph Nanovic, Esq., while acting as attorney for Sklodowsky, pmposed in
2006 to enter into a Joint Venture Agreement with Sklodowsky concerming the
sale and development of the approximate 43 acre parcel of land in Kingwood
Township. Under the terms of agreement, Nanovic would obtain a $100,000.00
line of credit secured by real estate owned by him and Sklodowsky would give
a mortgage on his real property in the amount of $100,000.00 to Nanovic to
secure the payment of the $100,000.00.

26.Although Sklodowsky nevér agreed to sign the proposed Joint Venture
agreement, Nanovic obtained the $100,000.00 line of credit from East Penn
Bank. In connection with his application for the loan, he prepared a letter for
the signature of Sklodowsky dated April 24, 2006 to East Penn Bank
concerning his representation of Sklodowsky and the terms of payment of legal
fees under his retainer agreement with Sklodowsky. This letter was prepared by
Nanovic to induce East Penn Bank to give him a $100,000.00 line of credit.

27.Although no written joint venture agreement was signed, Nanovic undertook
actions concerning the development of the land with expectation that he would
be paid for his services and be entitled to share in the proceeds of land

development.
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28.The signed proposal presented by Nanovic to Sklodowsky for his signature and
- Nanovic’s engagement in a business relationship violated the requirements

New Jersey Rule of Professional Conduct 1.8 as well as Pennsylvania Rule of

Professional Conduct Rule 1.8, '

29, After securing the line of credit, Nanovic applied some of the proceeds of the
loan to attorney fees due and owing to him and Baurkot and not towards the
development of the land.

30.The aforesaid actions of Nanovic constifuted negligence and breach of the
fiduciary duties he owed to Defendant.

31.As a result of Nanovic’s negligence and breach of fiduciary duty, the Defendant
has been damaged.

WHEREFORE, Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, requests judgment against
Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq including disgorgement of the legal fees he paid himself and
Baurkot in violation of his fiduciary duty, and such other relief this Court deems
proper.

COUNT FOUR
(Professional Negligence)
32. Defendant repeats the allegations of Count One, Two and Three.

- 33, Joseph Nanovic, Esq, agreed in the course of his representation of Defendant,
Paul G. Sklodowsky, to seek recovery and ﬁie suit if necessary, on behalf of Paul G.
Sklodowsky monies owed to him, by his son on the sale of real property by Paul G.
Sklodowsky to his son.

34. Plainiff, Joseph Nanovic, Esq failed to undertake any action on the claim that

Defendant had against his son for breach of contract. As a result of the negligence of
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the Plaintiff, Joseph Nanovic, Esq., who failed to act, the statute of limitations on.
Defendant’s ¢ laim against his son lapsed, thereby preventing Defendant from
recovering the sum of $75,000:00.

35. As a direct and px:oximate result of the negligence of the Plaintiff, Joseph

Nanovic, Esq., defendant has suffered damages.

WHEREFORE, Defendant Paul G. Sklodowsky requests judgment against Joseph.

Nanovic, Esq., for damages, together with attomej;'s fees, and costs of suit, and

such other and further relief as the court deems proper, including a declaration

that no fees are owed by Defendant to Plaintiff.
THIRD PARTY COMPLANT OF PAUL G. SELODOWSKY
AGAINST DANIEL J. BAURKOT, ESQ., JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., ESQ., TALLMAN
HUDDERS & SORRENTINO, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION,

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY by way of Third Party Complaint against Third Party
Defendants, DANIEL J. BAURKOT, ESQ. JOHN J. LUSHIS, JR., ESQ. AND
TALLMAN, HUDDERS & SORRENTINO, A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, states

COUNT ONE
{Professional Negligence)
1. Third Party Defendant, John F. Lushis, Jr. (hereinafter “Lushis”) is an attorney-
_ at-law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. He is employed by the Third Party
Defendant Law Firm  of Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, a Professional
Corporation, with offices in Allentown, Pennsylvania. All conduct of Lushis
described in this Counterclaim was taken within the scope of his employment

with Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino.
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2.

In 2003, the Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky (hereinafter “Sklodowsky”) was
feferred to Lushis for legal representation on the proposed sale of approximately
43 acres of land that Third Party Plaintiff owned in Kingwood Township, New
Jersey. Lushis agreed to represent Sklodowsky on the sale of his real property.
He advised Defendant that, as necessary, he would consult with members of
his firm, who were admitted to the practice of law in the State of New Jersey.

Sklodowsky advised Lushis that he held title to the real property in his own
name and that he wanted to transfer the property without the involvement of
his wife, with whom he was havin;g marital difficulties. He requested Lushis to
advise him what rights his wife had in the property and whether he could
transfer the property without the consent of his wife. Lushis advised him that
he could transfer the property without the consent of his wife but that she, as
his spouse, would have an interest in the proceeds of the sale.

Sklodowsky relied upon the verbal and written advice and representations of
Lushis concerning the rights of his wife and entered into a contract on
November 11, 2003 to sell his real estate to American Developers of New Jersey,
Inc. (hereinafter sometimes “ADNJ”). |

Under New Jersey law, Sklodowsky could not transfer the property without the

consent of his wife, as the marital residence was located on the property.

Sklodowsky’s wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, was a necessary signatory to any deed

of transfer in order for her husband to deliver good title to ADNJ, as he had

warranted in bhis contract of sale with ADNJ.

. Plaintiff, upon the advice of Lushis, entered into a contract for the sale of real

estate under which he agreed to deliver to ADNJ, the purchaser, good title at
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closing. However, Third Party Plaintiff could not deliver good title because his
wife did not and would not consent to transfer her interest in the property to
American Developers of New Jersey, Inc.

Sklodowsky was unable to consummate the sale of the approximately 43 acres
of land to American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. as a result of his inability to
convey good title.

After American Developers of New Jersey, Inc. refused to close without good
title, Lushis referred Sklodowsky to Plainitff, Joseph T. Nanovic, Esg
(hereinafter “Nanovic”) for legal representation. Both Lushis and Nanovic
advised Sklodowsky to file suit against American Developers of New Jersey, Inc.
to recover the $85,000.00 deposit paid into escrow by ADNJ for its purported

breach of the contract of sale.

. Sklodowsky retained Nanovic to represent him on such suit, and Nanovic, who

is not licensed to practice law in the State of New Jersey, engaged Third Party
Defendant, Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. (hereinafter “Baurkot”) to represent
Sklodowsky as trial counsel. Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. is an attorney-at-law in
the State of New Jersey and Commonweatlh of Pennsylvania with offices in

Basking Ridge, New Jersey.

10. Baurkot instituted suit in the Superior Court of New Jersey on behalf of Sklodowsky

against American Developers of New Jersey, LLC, seeking recovery of the contract
deposit. ADNJ filed an Answer and Counterclaim requesting return of the deposit and
compen_satory damages for breach of contract. ADNJ also filed Third Party Complaints
against Lushis and his law firm, Defendant, Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, as well

as Joanne Skiodowsky. The complete caption of the case was Pauld G, Sklodowsky,
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Plaintiff v. American Developers of New Jersey, Inc., Defendant/ Third Party Plaintiff
v. John F. Lushis, Jr., Joanne Sklodowsky, and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, Third
Farty Defendants., Docket No. I—.HVT—L_—459-O4.
11.In its pleadings, ADNJ claimed, among other matters, that Sklodowsky and his
wife, Joanne Sklodowsky, had conspired to willfuily withhold their marriage and
her marital status from ADNJ to the detriment and damage of ADNJ.
12.Despite the affirmative claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, including
allegations of fraud and collusion, Baurkot and Nanovic advised Third Party
Plaintiff that it was appropriate litigation strategy to mnot file a claim of
professional negligence against Lushis and his law firm. Despite the affirmative
claims of ADNJ against Sklodowsky, including allegations of fraud and
collusion, Baurkot and Nanovic advised Third Party Plaintiff that it was
appropriate litigation strategy to refuse to waive his claim of privilege
concerning his confidential communications with Lushis, even though such
communications would demonstrate that he had not colluded with his wife.
13.Third Party Plainitff relied on the advice of Nanovic and Baurkot, who did not
assert a claim by Sklodowsky against Lushis. They also successfully resisted
requests and motions by ADNJ to obtain access to confidential communications
between Lushis and Sklodowsky,
14.In February 2007, Sklodowsky suspected that his attorneys were not looking
out for his best interests. Sklodowsky discharged Lushis and Baurkot and
retained new counsel. When the lawsuit came on for trial before the Honorable
Stephen Rubin J.S.C., in April 2007, the Third Party Plaintiff settled with ADNJ

because it was likely that he could not win on his claim for the deposit, since he
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could not show that he could deliver good title to the property at closing as he
had warranted under h.is contract. Additionally, he faced a charge of fraud and
collusion with his wife that he could not effectively rebut without testimony
concerning the advice of Lushis. Not only h_ad the Trial Court ruled that the
contract claim concerning delivery of good title at closing would be litigated but
it also had ruled that the issue of whether Sklodowsky and his wife ‘had
“mntentionally manipulated her right of veto to willfully frustrate the contract in,
violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing while the contract was in
effect” would be litigated. Faced with a litigation catastrophe, Sklodowsky chose
to reduce his losses and exposure.

15. John F. Lushis, Esq., Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq.,
attorneys-at-law, agreed to represent Third Party Plaintiffi concerning the sale
of his real estate and litigation related to the sale of the real estate. Third Party
Defendants held themselves out to the public as attorneys with expertise real
estate and litigation law.

16. John F. Lushis, Esqg., Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq.,
owed to Third Party Plaintiff duties of care to properly advise and represent
Third Party Plaintiff in a skillful and diligent manner and to place the interests
of Third Party Plaintiff over their interests and the interests of others.

17. John F. Lushis, Esq., Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. by
various errors, omissions, and commissions, deviated from the applicable
standards of care for legal professionals in their representation of Third Party

Plaintiff. Such deviations included, but were not limited to the following:
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a. The advice of John Lushis, Esq. to Third Party Plaintiff to enter into a

contract without the agreement of his spouse to join in the transaction
notwithstanding her spousal rights under New Jersey law.
b. The unauthorized practice of law by Lushis and Nanovic in New Jersey.
¢c. The advice of Defendants to Third Party Plaintiff to pursue litigation for
the return of a deposit in a real estate transaction in wh.ich Third Party
Plaintiff could not deliver good title as he had represented.
d. The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Third Party Plaintiff to refrain
from assertion of a claim against Lushis for professional negligence.
e. The advice of Baurkot and Nanovic to Third Party Plaintiff to maintain
the confidentiality of his communications with Lushis.
f. The placement by Nanovic and Baurkot of their interests and the
interests of Lushis over those of Third Party Plaintiff,
g The billing of unnecessary and unreasonable legal fees to Third Party
Plaintiff.
18. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and negligence of Third Party
Plaintiff Defendants, Paul G. Sklodowsky, has suffered damages, including the
payment of damages to ADNJ and the need to hire counsel and incur attorney
fees.
19. In addition to damages owed to Defendant, Paul G. Skiodowsky by Third
Party Defendant Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. for his negligence, Daniel J. Baurkot,
Esq., is Bable to Defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky for all or part of the claim

asserted by Plaintiff against him, as Plaintiff sues Sklodowsky on assignment
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for the fees of Daniel Baurkot, Esq, and Daniel Baurkot’s negligence defeats
and/or reduces the claim for his fees upon which Plaintiff’s suit is brought.
20. In addition to those damages owed to Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G.
Sklodowsky by Third Party Defendant, John J. Lushis, Esq. for his negligence,
John J. Lushis, Esq., isHable to Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, for
nall or part of the claim asserted by Plaintiff against him since the fees
Sklodowsky incurred in hiring Nanovic and Lushis were directly cémsed by the
negligence of Lushis. Third Party Defendant Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, LLC
is liable to Paul G. Sklodowsky for the acts of its agent, John Lushis, Esq.
WHEREFORE, Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, requests
judgment against Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq., John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq., and Tallman,
Hudders and Sorrentino, for damages, together with attorney's fees, and costs of suit,
and such other and further relief as the court deems proper, including a declaration
that no fees are owed to Joseph T. Nanovic, Esqg. and Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. by Paul
G. Sklodowsky.
COUNT TWO
{Breach of Contract)
21, Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, repeats the allegations of Count One.
22, Plaintiff has asserted that part of the legal fees on which he sues are fees of
Daniel J. Baurkot, Esq. rendered to defendant, Paul G. Sklodowsky, Esq. Some of
the charges for legal services billed to Third Party Plaintiff by Daniel Baurkot, Esq,

and Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. were unnecessary and unreasonable.

47




n3. Some of the charges for services billed to Third Party Plaintiff by Daniel

Baurkot, Esq. and Joseph T. Nanovic, Esq. were charges for which they agreed

_ they would not bill Third Party Plaintiff.

24. Plaintiff's actions and those of Daniel Baurkot, Esqg. constitute a breach of
contract and breach of the requirement that charges for legal services must be

reasonable.
n5. As a result of Third Party Defendant’s breach of contract, the Third Party
Plaintiff has been damaged. ’

WHEREFORE, Third Party Plaintif requests judgment against Joseph T.
Nanovic, Esq. and Daniel Baurkot, Esq. together with attorney's fees, and costs of
suit, and such other and further relief as the court deems proper, including a
declaration that no fees are owed to Daniel Baurkot, Esqg. and Joseph T. Nanovic,
Esq.

COUNT THREE
(BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY)
26. Third P arty Plaintiff repeats the allegations of Count One and Twao.
27. Joseph Nanovic, Esq., while acting as attorney for Sklodowsky, proposed in
2006 to enter into a Joint Venture Agreement with Sklodowsky concerning the
sale and development of the approximate 43 acre parcel of land in Kingwood
Township. Under the terms of agreement, Nanovic would obtain a $100,000.00
line of credit secured by real estate owned by him and Sklodowsky would give a

mortgage on his real property in the amount of $100,000.00 to Nanovic to secure

the payment of the $100,000.00.
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28. Although Sklodowsky never agreed to sign the proposed Joint Venture

agreement, Nanovic obtained the $100,000.00 line of credit from East Penn Bank.
In commection with his application for the loan, he prepared a letter for the
signature of Sklodowsky dated April 24, 2006 to East Penn Bank concerning his
representation of Sklodowsky and the terms of payment of legal fees under his
retainer agreement with Sklodowsky. This letter was prepared by Nanovic to induce
East Penn Bank to give him a $100,000.00 line of credit.

29. Although no written joint venture agreement was signed, Nanovic undertook
actions concerning the development of the land with expectation that he would be
paid for his services and be entitled to share in the proceeds of land development.
30. The signed proposal presented by Nanovic to Sklodowsky for his signature and
Nanovic’s engagement in a business relationship viclated the requirements New
Jersey Rule of Professional Conduct 1.8 as well as Pennsylvania Rule of
Professional Conduct Rule 1.8.

31. After securing the line of credit, Nanovic applied some of the proceeds of the
loan to attorney fees due and owing to him and Baurkot and not towards the
development of the land. .

32. The aforesaid actions of Nanovic constitute a breach of the fiduciary duty he
owed to Plaintiff in which Daniel Baurkot participated and profited from.

33. As a result of Nanovic's and Baurkot’s breach of fiduciary duty for the benefit
of both of them, the Third Party Plaintff has been damaged.

Wherefore, Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky, requests judgment against

Third Party Defendant, Daniel Baurkot, Esq. including disgorgement of the legal fees
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paid to him by Nanovic in viclation of his fiduciary duty, and such other relief this

Court deems proper.

JURY DEMAND

All Defendants demand trial by a jury.

Dated: September 2, 2008

Mikulski & Mitchell, LLC

/s/ Thaddeus P. Mikulski, Jr.
Thaddeus P. Mikulsld, Jr.

Attorney for Paul G. Sklodowsky, Joanne
Sklodovwsky, and Iron Pro Exectos, LL.C
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT

OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOSEPH T. NANOVIC, :

Plainiff  :  CIVIL ACTION

V. : No.

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY, :
IRON PRO ERECTORS, LLC, and :
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY,

Defendants

COMPLAINT
The Parties

1. Plaintiff, Joseph T. Nanovic, is a citizen of Pennsylvania residing at
308 Windsor Place, Macungie, Lehigh County, Pennsylvanja 18062.

2" Defendants, Paul G. Sklodowsky and Joanne Sklodowsky, husband and wife,
are citizens of New Jersey residing at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, Hunterdon County,
New Jersey 08825,

3. Defendant, Iron Pro Erectors, LLC is a New Jersey Limited Liability
Company with its main office at 23 Union Road, Frenchtown, Hunterdon County, New
Jersey 08825.

Jurisdiction and Yenue

4, This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section

2201 as an actual controversy exists between the Plaintiff and the Defendants; and 28

U.5.C. Section 1332 as the Plaintiff and the Defendants are citizens of different states and

the amount in controversy is in excess of $75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.
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5. Venue lies in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(a) as the Plaintiff
resides at 308 Windsor Place, Macungie, Lehigh County, Pennsylvania 18062.

Controversy

6. Plaintiff was hired by Defendants to represent them in various legal and
business matters, Attached as Exhibits “A”, “B”, and “C” respectively, copies of which
are attached hereto, are the initial December 17, 2003, Agreement for Legal Services, 2
September 16, 2004, written agreement and an Aprif 26, 2006 ratification of that
agreement. In addition to the attached written agreements, theré have been various oral
agreements between the parties as to other legal and business representation for
Defendants by Plaintiff and others.

7. Tn all these agreements, whether written or oral, Plaintiff agreed to provide
legal and business representation to Defendants and Defendants agreed to pay for that
legal and business representation,

8. Plaintiff on his part has duly provided legal and business representation to
Defendants.

9, Defendants have not performed their part of the agreements and have failed
and neglected to pay Plaintiff for all of Plaintiff's legal and business representation.

10. By reason of such breach, Plaintiff has suffered damages exceeding

$75,000.,00, exclusive of interest and costs.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against dgfendant:

) Inthe sum of $105,433.71; and

b) Such other relief as this Court deems right and just.

Noledr Slhs/07
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/ Yuhte
T8seph T, Nangvic, Esquire
308 Windsor Place
Macungie, PA 18062
ID # 32421
610-966-0621
610-966-6266 (fax)

inanovic@earthlink.net
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOSEPH T. NANOVIC,
: Civil Action
No. 07—-cv—-3326

Plaintiff
vs.
PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY;
JRON PRO ERECTORS, LILC; and
JOANNE SKLODOWSKY,
Defendants
vs.
DANIEL J. BAURKOT, ESQUIRE;
JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., ESQUIRE;

TALLMAN, HUDDERS & SORRENTINO,
A Professional Corporation,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Third-Party Defendants

QRDER
NOW, this 22nd day of May, 2009, upon consideration of
the following documents:

(1) Motion of Third—-Party Defendants, John F. Lushis and
Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C., to Dismiss the
Third-Party Complaint of Third Party Defendant, Paul G.
Sklodowsky Pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b) {6) and 14(a)
(“Third-Party Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss”), which
motion was filed December 30, 2008;

(2) Brief in Support of Motion of Third-Party Defendants,
John F. Iushis and Tallwman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C.,

to Dismiss the Third-Party Complaint of Thizd-Party
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Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky (“Third-Party Defendants’
Brief”), which brief was filed Decembexr 30, 2008;

(3) Response of Third Party Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky,
to Motion of John F. Lushis, Jr., Esguire and Tallmann
Hudders & Sorrentino to Dismiss Third Party Complaint
(*Third-Party Plaintiff’s Response”)}, which response
was filed February 6, 2002; and

(4} Reply Brief of Third-Party Defendants, John F. Lushis
and Tallman, Huddexrs & Sorrentino, P.C., in Further
Support of the Motion to Dismiss the Third-Party
Complaint of Paul G. Sklodowsky,?

IT IS ORDERED that Third-Party Defendants’ Motion to

Dismiss is granted as unopposed.?

b The Motion of Third-Party Defendants, John F. Lushis, Jr., Esquirc

and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, for Leave to File a Reply Brief in Further
Support of Their Motion to Dismiss the Third-Party Complaint of Defendant,
Paul G. Sklodowsky, With Prejudice, which motion was filed Marxrch 11, 2009,
attached this reply brief. My April 30, 2009 Orxder granted leave to flle this
reply brief, which reply brief was filed May 5, 2009.

2 Before resolving a motion to dismiss a third-party complaint, the

district court must be certain that the third-party complaint is properly
before it. See Fortupato v. May, 2009 U.S5.Dist. LEXIS 20587, *16-20 (H.D.Pa.
March 16, 2009); Morris v. Lenibhan, 192 F.R.D. 484, 486 (E.D.Pa. 2000) ({(Reed,
§.J.}. In making this determination, I first consider whether the joinder of
the third-party defendants is proper under the impleader rule. TIf it is, I
consider whether this court has subject matter jurisdiction over the joined
claims. See Moore’s Federal Practice §§ 14.411[1}, [3) (3d ed. 2007). Here,
as discussed below, third-party plaintiff and third-party defendants John F.
Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Hudders & Soxrentino, P.C. agree that
impleader was improper. Accordingly, I must dismiss Count One of the third-
party complaint, which asserts claims against third-party defendants John F.
Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 14(z} authorizes a defendant to
serve a third-party complaint “on a nonparty who is or may be liable to it for

(Footnote 2 coentinued):
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1T TS FURTHER ORDERED that Count One of the Third Party

Complaint of Paunl G. Sklodowsky Against Daniel J. Baurkot, Esqg.,
John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq., Tallman Hudders & Sorrentino, 2
Professional Coxrporation, is dismissed without prejudice to
propexrly refile these claims in a separate action.?

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that third-paxty defendants

John F. Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Huddexrs & Sorrentino,

P.C. are dismissed as parties to this action.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ James Knoll Gardner
James Kneoll Gardnerx
United States District Judge

{Continuation of footnote 2):

all or part of the claim against it.” Thus, it is well-established that a
defendant may bring a third-party claim pursuant to Rule l4(a) “only when the
third party’s liability is in some way dependent on the outcome cof the main
claim or when the third party is secondarxily liable to defendant. If the
claim is separate or independent from the main action, impleader will be
denied.” Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation v. Bathgate, 27 F.3d 850, 813
{3d cir. 1994} (quoting 6 Charles Alan Wiright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay
Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1446 {1990})). See, 2.9.r Moxrxis,

192 F.R.D. at 488; Resolution Trust Corporation v. Farmer, 836 F.Supp. 1123,
1129~1130 {(E.D.Pa. 1993) (Giles, J.}. A third-party complaint that does not
satisfy Rule 14{a) must be dismissed. See, £.9., Morris, 192 F.R.D. at 492;
Cook v. Cogk, 559 F.Supp. 218 (E.D.Pa. 1283) (Newcomex, Jo).

Here, third-party plaintiff and third-party defendants John F.
Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, #Hudders & Sorrentina, P.C. agree that
impleader was improper under Rule 14{a) because third-party defendants John F.
Lushis, Jr., Esguire and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, P.C. are not
secondarily liable to third-party plaintiff Paul G. Sklodowsky on plaintiff’s
claim against him. See Third-FParty Defendants’ Brief at pages 2 and 14-15;
Third-Party Plaintiff’'s Response at pages 1 and 2. Accordingly, I must
dismiss Count One of the third-party complaint, which asserts claims against
third-party defendants John F. Lushis, Jr., Esquire and Tallman, Hudders &

Sorrentino, P.C.

3 It is the sense of this Order that no opinion is expressed as to
whether the relevant limitations period has expired on these clalms.
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Law Offices of Thaddeus P. Mikulski, Jr.
365 White Horse Avenue

Harmnilton, New Jersey 08610

(609) 581-0470

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky

Paul G. Sklodowsky, Superior Court of New Jersey

vs .

John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq. and Tallman,

Hunterdon County - Law Division
Plaintiff
Docket Number: 649-09

Civil Action

Hudders & Sorrentino, A Professional | Certification of Paul G. Sklodowsky

Corporation,

Defendant

.

1.

2.

I, Paul G. Sklodo'wsky, am the plaintiff,

In 2008, I was referred to John F. Lushis, Jr, Esq. for legal
representation on the proposed sale of a large tract of land that I owned
in Kingwood Township, New Jersey. I advised Attorney Lushis that I
held title to the real property in my own name and that I wanted to
transfer the property without the involvement of my wife, Joanne
Sklodowsky, with whom I was having marital difficulties. I requested
John J. Lushis, Jr., Esq. to advise me of what rights my wife had in the
property and whether I could transfer the property without her consent.
I informed Attorney Lushis that I lived with my wife, in a house on the
property. Attorney Lushis verbally advised me that I could transfer the

property. without the consent of my wife. He later indicated by letter of
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November 5, 2003 (attached) and verbally that my wife may have an
interest in the proceeds of the sale. In reliance upon the advice John J.
Lushis, Jr., Esq., I entered into a contract on November 11, 2003 in my
name to sell my real estate to American Developers of New Jersey, Inc.
(“ADNJ”) for the sum of $850,000. Attorney Lushis represented me from
November, 2003 until an aborted real estate closing on September 30,
2004. During that time he counseled me on the transaction
negotiations and progress with the buyer, In late April 2004, he advised
me that my wife’s signature was required to deliver good title. If I had
known of this requirement I would not have signed the contract.
Thereafter, Attorney Lushis advised me that notwithstanding this
issue, the buyer had waived its right to -object to any i)réblem with my
wife’s refusal to sign the deed. He also advised me that if the closing did
not proceed I would have a very strong case of breach of contract
against the buyer. Based on his explanation of the terms of the contract
and the conduct of the buyer, I accepted his advice. He suggested that
his friend Attorney Nanovic to whom he previously had referred me on
another matter should file a lawsuit as he could not pursue litigation in
New Jersey and he would be a witness. Attorney Nanovic also advised
me that I had a strong case. In fact, I was advised by Attorney Nanovic

that I had a sure winner.
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During the course of the litigation, I questioned Attorney Nanovic
abo;lt possible legal malpractice claim against attorney Lushis. He
advise me that I could file a claim after the litigation, if I did not win.
However at the same time he repeatedly told me my case was very
strong. He maintained this position until the court rulings in the case in
March and May, 2006. He then reassured me that [ could file a claim
against attorney Lushis after the lawsuit ended.

On or about September 28: 2005 I met with At that meeting both
Attorney Lushis and Attorney Nanovic reassured me about the strength
of my case. At that time the issue of communications between myself
and John Lushis were discussed. Attorney Lushis and attorney Nanovic
ddvised me that it was in my best interest to not disclose the attorney
client communications, because they might hurt me. Attorney Lushis
also advised that his attorney in the litigation, George M. Vinci, Esq.
suggested that it was appropriate for myself and him and his law firm to
present a unified front in order to defeat the fraud claims asserted by
the buyer both against me and Attorney Lushis. I relied upon their
advice and did not question it until the court rulings in March and May
2006. In the months following those rulings I became more and more
concerned about the withholding of the communications. I sought the
advice of other attorneys. In February, 2007 I hired Thaddeus P.

Mikulski to represent me a the trial scheduled in April, 2007.
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I certify that the foregoing statements are true to the best of my knowledge,

information and belief. I am aware that if any of the foregoing statements made by me

ol oot
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are wilfully false, I am subject to punishment.

yzyee




OBERT G. TALLMAN
ONALD H. LIPSON

HOMAS C. SADLER, JR.
ONALD A. ZAMBORSKY
LDRICH FOUCEK, Il
JATTHEW R. SORRENTINO
dARBARA L. HOLLENBACH

OLORES A. LAPUTHA
FREDERICK J. STELLATO
IMOTHY J. SIEGFRIED
JAN M, RITCHIE

COTT B. ALLINGON
1TH A. HARRIS
‘CO'['I‘ R. LIPSON

JOHN R. HUDDERS
@ i

WILLIAM H. FITZGERALD
(1970-1997)

TALLMAN
HUDDERS &

SORRENTINO

LAW OFFICES

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
The Paragon Centre
Suite 360
1611 Pond Road
Allentown, PA 18104-2258
(610) 391-1800 Fax (610) 391-1805
E-Mzil: info@thslaw.com

November 5, 2003

THEODORE J. ZELLER, INf
GEORGE C. HLAVAC
RONNIE F. HESS
MICHAEL E. LODMIS
STEVEN E, HOFFMAN
KELLY M. SMITH
JESSICA A, NICHOLS
PETER LEHR

SALEEM S. EAAB
RODNEY 8, FLUCK
EMAN H. JARRAH
JEFFREY 8. STEWART
CHRISTOPHER G, NACE
ADRIENNE J. BRESLIN

PAUL J. SCHOFF
JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR.
JEFFREY A. DURNEY

WILLIAM H, ECKENSBERGER, JR.

Of Counsel

Paul G. Sklodowsky
23 Union Road
Frenchtown, NJ 08825

Re: Sale of Property - Kingwood Township, New Jersey
Dear Paul:

This is to follow up our discussions of earlier this week concerning the sale of your
property in Kingwood Township, New Jersey and, in particular, issues you raised with me
concerning the potential rights your wife, Joanne, may have with respect to the property.

Specifically, T understand you are concerned that if you consummate the sale of your
property, it could cause Joanne to seek a share of the sale proceeds. As I indicated I would, I
spoke with Attorney Judith A. Harris in our office, who has significant expertise in estate
planning. As you know, neither Judy nor I have discussed this matter with you in detail, so we
do not have all the facts necessary to render comprehensive counsel to you. Based on the
information you provided to me, however, we are of the general view that Joanne may have
rights with respect to the Kingwood Township property (as well as any other assets either
acquired during or held during the marriage) regardless of whether you sell it to American Home
Buiiders. For example, you indicated the value of the Xingwood Towaship property has
appreciated in value and typically, a property’s appreciation in value during the marriage is
considered to be marital property. Other factors, such as whether property was purchased during
a marriage, and the source of the funds used to purchase the property, typically affect the
potential rights a spouse has with respect to the property and would be relevant to your particular
situation.

Whether your receipt of a substantial amount of sale proceeds would cause Joanne to
pursue, perhaps more aggressively, any rights she may have with respect to those proceeds, is a
question that I believe you are ultimately in the best position to answer. Joanne may currently
have rights with respect to the property, as mentioned above, and the existence of these rights
could influence her views of the situation even before you have realized any sale proceeds.

¢
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LAW OFFICES
PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

Paul G. Sklodowsky
November 5, 2003
Page Two

As I previously indicated, we have engaged in significant efforts to move this transaction
to a point where we now have an agreement of sale ready to be executed. The agreement
contains several provisions that are particularly favorable to you. In addition, even provisions
that obligate you to make a monetary payment, e.g. the realty transfer tax, are based on custom.
With respect to this tax, the amount you will be obligated to pay at closing is approximately
$6,000, which is substantially less than the amount you would have paid if this property were in
Pennsylvania.

In faimness to the parties involved in this transaction, I emphasize that making a prompt,
definitive decision concerning whether you will move forward with it is very important. I look
forward to receiving your further input as soon as possible.

Thank you for your cooperation and allowing me to be of assistance.

Very truly yours,

John F. Lushis, Jr.

JFL:sh
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Attorneys for Plaintiff, Paul G. Sklodowsky

Paul G. Sklodowsky,

Plaintiff

VS,

John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq. and Tallman,
Hudders & Sorrentino, A Professional
Corporation,

Defendant

Superior Court of New Jersey
Hunterdon County - Law Division

Docket Number: 649-09
Civil Action

Certification of Thaddeus P.
Mikulski, Jr.

1. 1, Thaddeus P. Mikulski, Jr. am the attorney for plaintiff.

2.1 attached as the following

Exhibit A. Decision of this court in the real estate litigation, dated

March 10, 2006.

Exhibit B. Decision this court in the real estate litigation, dated

May 11, 2006.

Exhibit C. A true copy of the deposition transcript of Joanne Sklodowsky
in the real estate litigation

3. In the Pennsylvania litigation, plaintiff did not pursue a legal

malpractice claim against Defendants Nanovic and Baurkot on the

grounds that they should have asserted claims against John F. Lushis,

Jr., Esq. and Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino, A Professional Corporation

in the real estate litigation. Plaintiff took this action based my advice
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that any cause of action against John F. Lushis, Jr., Esq. and Tallman,

Hudders & Sorrentino, A Professional Corporation would not have

accrued until the real estate litigation terminated.

I certify that the foregoing statements are true to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief. I am aware that if any of the foregoing

statements made by me are wilfully false, I am subject to punishment.

j/ﬁ /M 7 2l

Thaddeus P. 'Mlkulfskl Jr.
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Memorandum of Decision on Motions

NOT FOR PUBLICATION WITHOUT
THE APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE ON OPINIONS

PAUL G. SKLODOWSKY

. V.
AMERICAN DEVELOPERS OF NEW JERSEY, LLC
v' L]
JOHN F. LUSHIS, JR., JOANNE SKLODOWSKY and TALLMAN HUDDERS and
SORRENTINO

Docket No. HNT-L,~-459-04
Motion for Summary Judgment by plaintiff, Paul Sklodowsky

Motion for Summary Judgment by third-party defendants, Lushis
and Tallman Hudders and Sorrentino

Motion for Summary Judgment by third-party defendant, Joanne
Sklodowsky

Motion for Summary Judgment by defendant/third-party plaintiff,
American Developers of New Jersey, LLC

Argument heard: March 6, 2006; Decided: March 6, 2006 from the
bench

Memorandum f£iled March 10, 2006;

The Honorable Peter A. Buchsbaum, J.S8.C.

FACTS

This case arises from an aborted closing which was to have
taken place pursuant to a November 11, 2003 contract between
Paul G. ©Sklodowsky (“PG@S" or “Paul”), plaintiff, and the
defendant/third—party plaintiff American Developers of New
Jersey, LLC (“American”) for . sale of plaintiff’s marital

residence and accompanying lands.’ Initially, the plaintiff

Sy (3




sought % declaratory judgment establishing his right to retain
an $85,000 deposit which had been posted as part of that real
estate transaction.

In response, the defendant/third-party . plaintiff
counterclaimed against Paul Sklodowsky asserting that he
committed fraud by not disclosing his martial status, which was
the chief obstacle to the closing. Defendant also filed a
third-party suit against Mrs. Joanne Sklodowsky (“JS” or
"Joanne”}, whose refusal to sign the deed made it impossible for
Paul Sklodowsky to convey good title. A third-party claim was
filed against Paul’s attorney, John Lushis and his firm, Tallman
Hudders and Sorrentino (“TH&S”) claiming fraud, negligent
misrepresehtation and a violation of the doctrine of Petrillo v.
Bachenburg, 139 N.J. 472 (1995) in failing to disclose Mxr.
Sklodowsky'’s martial status. The negligent misrepresentation
claim against Lushis and/or TH&S were dismissed by Judge Reed
as being inconsistent with §5.06 of the contract, which was
construed as stating that cancellation was the only remédy for
negligent misrepresentation. .Later, this Court denied Lushis’
motion to add a fourth-party Petrillo .claim against American’s

attorneys, Alan Wohl and his law firm Wohl & Goldstein.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

Except for the claims with respect to specific performance

(now withdrawn) and breach of contract (to be addressed below),

2
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each of the summary judgment motions in this case addresses
essentially two allegations. The first of these is that either
or both of the Sklodowskys as well as Lushis and his firm
committed fraud by failing to disclose plaintiff Paul
Skiodowsky's marital status. Additionally, defendants claimed
that such‘non-disclosure violated the requirements of Petrillo
v. Bachenburg, supra, concerning information known to one party
of a real estate contract which is conveyed to the other party
with the expecgation that the other party will rely on it. The
Court will evaluate these motions under the well accepted
principles of R. 4:46-2 as explained in numerous cases, most
notably Brill v. Guardian Life Ins. Co., 142 N.J. 520, 530
(1995) to determine whether genuine issues of fact exist herein.
Despite the enormous number of exhibits, documentary and
deposition records provided, the considerations underlying these

motions are not complex. All parties agree as to the elements
of fraud. These require 1) a material misrepresentation of a
existing or past fact which can come in the form of either an
affirmative representation or a. deliberate withholding of
information, é) knowledge or belief of the falsity of the facts
as conveyed to the other side, 3) an intention that the other
side rely on the stated Ffacts ~conveyed or withheld, 4)
reasonable reliance thereon by the other side and 5) resulting

damages. Gennari v. Weichert Co. Realtors, 148 N.J. 582, 610

—_—
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(1997); see also Winslow v. Corporate Express, Inc., 364 N.J.
Super. 128, 140 (App. Div. 2003).

The record at this stage of the proceedings suggests that
summary judgmept is not appropriate with respect to a numbexr of
the elements of fraud. Thé plaintiff and third-party defendants
strenuously argue that it will be impossible to show any
misrepresentation or knowledge of falsity froa the mere failure
to disclose that plaintiff was married. They assexrt that Joanne
Sklodowsky was not even aware of a contract until at about the
time the issue concerning her was disclosed on May 11, 2004 and
that she had not discussed the maﬁter with her husband. They
also claim that Paul Sklodowsky never mentioned his marital
status and thus made no misstatement.

However, the facts on these issues bear another

interpretation. At about the time the contract was executed, in

* November 2003, Paul was advised by Joanne that she was not going

to cooperate in any sale of the premises at issue. He also may
have known, from past transactions, including a 1999 deed about
which wmuch has been written, that he needed her consent to
convey the property. The record does thus afford an inference
which a jury might draw that the Sklodowskys knew they could not
deliver good title with Mrs. Sklodowsky’'s cooperation, they knew
she would not cooperate, and that they failed to disclose these

material facts to the defendant/third-party plaintiff.
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However, as counsel states, each of the elements of fraud
must be proven. Gennari, supra. For the reasons stated below,
this Court finds that American Developers has not demonstrated
any reasonable reliance on non-disclosure and thus is unable to
prove fraud by clear and convincing evidence or otherwise.

It is apparent that information concerning Mr. Sklodowsky’s
martial status was immediately made available soon after the
contract was signed. The title commitment dated December 4,
2003 contains a reference to him as being married in a 1988
mortgage. In addition, the County Clerk’s records reflect a
deed from both Sklodowskys to their son dated June 23, 1999. It
is further undisputed that defendant was aware of the house on
;he premises so it was apparent that the prbperty was not vacant
land which never could have been a marital home.

Fourth, there was disclosure well before the closing. Oon
May 11, 2004, third-party defendant Lushis wrote to lAmerican
Developers disclosing Paul’s marriage. Equally as critical, the
May 11*" letter stated “whether Mrs. Sklodowsky will execute the
deed is unclear”. At that point, all thé cards were on the
table. The marriagé was in the open and the potential for Mrs.
Sklodowsky to veto the closing was also in the open.

Defendant’s reaction was -totally inconsistent with its
current fraud claims. On June 9, 2004, it wrote to Mr.

Sklodowsky and to Mr. Lushis not disclaiming the contract as
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would have been its right because of the potential failure to
give good title, contract §5.06, but fully embracing the
contract. In fact, the letter waived the due diligence
contingency and set forth an anticipated closing date. Even
more incr;dibly, for an alleged fraud wvictim, American enclosed
$50,000.00 as additional deposit towards consummation of the
sale.

Such action is compietely utterly and totally contrary to
the notion that defendant was somehow hoodwinked into proceeding
with the contract by virtue of non-disclosure of martial status..
In fact, when the marriage was disclosed, it reacted on June gth
by embracing the contract, paying a lot of money and treating
the issue as of no moment.

;n. addition, plaintiff cites well settled law that if a
party to whom representations were made chooses to investigate
the facts for himself he will be deemed to rely on his own
investigation. DSK Enterprises, Inc. v. United Jersey Bank, 189

N.J. Super. 242, 251 (App. Div. 1983}). While defendant seeks to

distinguish that case on the ground that it hired no expert in
contrast with the party in DSK, in fact they did hire an expert.
That expert was its attorney Alan Wohl. It is undisputed, that
he is a real estate attorney of 45 years experience. Clearly,
he was in the position to review the title commitment and raise

an issue if any had to be raised concerning Paul Sklodowsky’s

6

% [R5




-

marital status. See also Byrne v. Weichert Realtors, 290 N.J.

Super. 126 (App. Div.) certif. denied, 147 N.J. 259 (1996} where

failure to disclose a termite infestation was held not to be
fraudulent whexe the party had itself undertaken a termite

inspection and Simpson v. Widger, 311 N.J. Super. 379, 392-393

(App. Div. 1998) where statements about the soundness of a
horse, even if ‘knowing, material misrepresentation of an
existing 7fact”, were not held to be fraudulent since the
plaintiff had obtained an independent examination of the horse
himself. Here Wohl was the inspector who had a title report,
access to the county land records, and the May 11™ disclosure
letter.

Indeed, Mr. Wohl has acknowledged his responsibilities in
this regaxrd. His explanation that he just missed the issue,
i.e. “he did not ask the right questions” about marital status,
or that he “in my opinion made a mistake” as testified to by
American is not conduct with which the plaintiff or the third-
party defendants can be charged.

Mr. Wohl thus had sufficient information to ascertain the
facts or conduct the investigatiox; he was charged to undertaken.

He would be expected to look at marital status as a routine

‘matter. His failure to do so, and his client’s ignoring of the

May 11°" lettexr with respect to Mrs. Sklodowsky’s potential non-

cooperation demonstrates that American Developers in no legal
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sense reasonably relied on defendant’s alleged pre-May 11, 2004
silence concerning Mr. Sklodowsky’s marital status.

Under these circumstances, given what was made known in the
title report, the physical status of the property, the hiring of
Mr. Wohl to review title, and the defendants own reaction to the
timely, formal pre-closing disclosure of the marital status,
defendant’s claim that it was defrauded into reasonably relying
on Sklodowsky’s silence about his marital . status is
unsustainable as a matter of law. These c¢ircumstances do not
ac'imit a jury question as to such reasonable reliance.

For the same reason, defendant’s Petrillo v. Bachenberg
claim must be rejected. In Petrillo, 139 N.J. 472 (1995) the

Court established in a unique setting an obligation on the part

of an attorney representing one party to deal fairly with the

other party. It should be remembered that Petrillo is very much
the exception to the rule. In generxal, an attorney owes duty
only to his client, not to the other side’s client. Petrillo,
however, involved a particular set of facts. The attorney for
the seller had provided a summary of soil tests which made it
appear as if it would be relatively easy to obtain the right to
install a septic system and build a house on the property in
question. The information at issue, namely, the past test
performance, was information which was peculiarly in the

province of the seller and his attorney. The defendant had no
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access to the past soil test information. Moreover, it was
clear that the buyer relied on the favorable report to his
detriment and only later found out that there had been numerous
failing tests which had not been disclosed. Then, upon such
finding, the buyer attempted tg reopen and then cancel the
contract.

Here, neither UILushis nor his firm stood athwart the
channels of communication. Wohl was the one empowered to
investigate title; warital status was, as he admitted, .a normal
part of the investigation. Further, the title commitment, as
well as the 1999 deed'should have sparked some inquiry about the
plaintiff’s martial status. And even when the May 11™ letter
handed the information to plaintiff on a silver platter,
American, unlike Petrillo, who sought more tests and
cancellation, finalized the contract without question.

Transposing these facts to the Petrillo situation shows why
the case is different. Had the plaintiff-buyer in Petrillo
gotten only the required soil tests four months before closing,
and then sent a letter accompanied by $50,000 re-affirming the
contract, it A4is Highly‘ doubtful the Supréme Court would have
found any breach of duty by the sellef's attorney. Yet that is
the circumgtance in this case.

This Court’s refusal to extend Petrillo to cover this

situation is consistent with Lyons Doughty & Veldhuis v. Powers,
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331 N.J. Super. 193 (App. Div. 2000), where information about a

date of a sale was available to all parties: In that case, the
court limited Petrillo to situations in which “the lawyer
intended or should have foreseen that the third-party would rely
on the lawyer’'s work”, Lyons, supra, at 196, quoting Petrillo at
482, The couré also stressed the fact that the attorney in
Petrillo “controlled the risk” that his report would mislead a

purchaser.

Here, the attorney provided no report. Moreover, as part
of its normal title work, defendant had ready access to
information about Mr. Sklodowsky's marital status. In addition,
it was actually given that ‘information and chose to proceed
anyway . The situation is *very much like L}ons, in which
plaintiff had sufficient access to information concerning a sale
date about which it was not subjectively informed.

Likewise in Banco Popular v. Gandi, 184 N.J. 161, 182
(2005) the court declined to extend Petrillo to a situation
involving failure to disclose the potential borrower’s asset
transfer. The lawyer in question had made no representations to
the bank concerning the asset transfer. Banco Popular suggests
no basis for relief here where it is likewise hard to believe
that Wohl would rely on Lushis’ work in examining title, where

Lushis essentially said nothing.
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In fact, Lushis and TH&S made no affirmative representation
concerning plaintiff’s marital status whatsoever and thus did
nothing to induce Wohl to discontinue his own investigation of
title. Had ILushis somehow attempted to induce Wohl to
discogtinue his own investigation of title, such as lulling Wohl
to sleep concerning Sklodowsky's marital status, i.e., by saying
“don‘t worry, she’ll sign” the case might be different.
Compare, Brunswick Hills Racquet Club v, Route 18 Shopping
Center Associates, 182 N.J. 210 (2005). 1In this case, however,
Lushis at first simply let matters take their course as would
normally be expected in a title evaluation. Then contrary to
the attorney in Petrillo, or even the attorney in Banco Popular,
he did, four months before closing; provide accurate information
about Joanne’s potential refusal --.and defendant chose to
ignore it.

Finally, defendant attempts to sustain both its fraud and
Petrillo claims by arguing strenuocusly that plaintiff’s attorney
and third-party defendants were not silent, that  they
affirmatively represented, in §3.04 of the November 11, 2003
contract that he could deliver good title free of the occupancy
right of others. It claims that defendant/third-parties
actually knew of the falsity of this representation, given
Joanne‘s alleged contemporaneously stated intent not to

cooperate and that it should receive damages for expenditures
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incurred between the November 11, 2003 contract signing and the

" May 11, 2004 disclosure of plaintiff‘s marital status. These

arguments lack merit.

First, the representation in §3.04 speaks only of ability
to convey full and clear title as of the date of closing. It is

thus not a representation as to current facts. Second, as noted
above, defendant had its ability to investigate the situation.
§3.04 clearly does not invite defendant to forgo an
investigation of title £ssue or its own independent analysis
which was in event customary foxr its own satisfactign. Thus,
§3.04 does support the fraud and Petrillo claims.

In addition, as also ruled préviously; the lack of such
reliance, in fraud terhs, or invitation to rely, under Petrillo,
is established by defendant’s ignoring of Ehe information even
when it was presented. Its latter day self-serving claim as to
being misled presents no factual issue for jury résolution. The
matter can be compared to El-Sioufi v. St. Peters University

Hosp., 382 N.J. Super. 145, 175-177 (App. Div. 2005), where

self-serving conclusory allegations as to discrimination in an
employment context were insufficient to withstand summary
judgment when the overwhelming objective evidence in the record
revealed no true factual dispute. Here, defendant,.relying on
its subjective consciousness, has stated no viable fraud claim

where objective evidence shows it had a full chance to evaluate
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the facts and it ultimately embraced the supposedly fraudulent
transaction when the facts became known to it,

Vviewed in the above light, it is apparent that defendant’s
fraud and Petrillo claims must fail on this record.

Contract Claims

Further, defendant has waived' its claims that it is
entitled to specific -perfn.:mance as a matter of law by virtue of
plaintiff’s failure to be able to deliver good title. There
however remains a determination of plaintiff’s c¢laims that
defendant’s failure to assert a title objection t;:r to close
constitute a breach of contract as a matter of law. Defendant
has likewise asserted a breach based on defendant’'s failure to
give good title. It is the finding of this Court that neither
claim can be resolved on summary judgment. The facts do not
allow this Court to rule that buyer had somehow waived its claim
for good title. 9{5.06 of the contract simply provides that the
warranties dincluding the warranty for delivery of possession
free'of occupancy rights of others must be good at the closing.
There is no requirement that any such assertion ‘be raised at
some earlier point.if it is not to be waived.

Moreover, the conduct between the parties suggests a non-
waiver. Plaintiff informed defendant as early as May 11* of a

potential issue regarding Joanne Sklodowsky'’s signature on a

deed. Yet both parties acted up to the time of the aborted

13
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closing as if the transaction could proceed. There is no
indication that plaintiff ever demanded that defendant accept
such limited title as Paul Sklodowsky could convey or that its
title objections were waived.

The common sense that some issues cannot be resolved until

closing is consistent with our case law, In Davis v. Strazza,

380 N.J. Super. 476 (App. Div. 2005), certif. denied 2006 N.J.

Lexis 60 (1/19/06), the court refused to enforce a specific
deadline for cancellation of a contract with respect to a
mortgage contingency. " In this situation, the defendant who
léter sought out of the contract, had received a conditional
mortgage commitment within time and did not cancel. The court
construed the contract as allowing a later cancellation if the
conditions in the mortgage commitment, in that case, the sale of

the buyer’s other house, were not satisfied. 380 N.J. Super. at

4?3—485. The court in Strazza, as must the Court here, looked
at the purpose of the contract. In that case the common sense
was that the buyer needed additional mortgage funds to close.
Here the common sense is that the parties agreed that the
defendant would get good title at closing.

Davis v. Strazza also forestalls plaintiff’s effort to rely
upon §7.01 of the contract with respect to title objections and
§.01 with respect to due diligence. Clearly none of the parties

9th

understood plaintiff’s June waiver of the due diligence
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contingency as allowing' Paul Sklodowsky to convey bad title.
The thrust of 8.01, in any event, is environmental and
developability constraints, not title. To view waiver of this
absolute right to cancel due to site constraints as a waiver of
title objections is a nonsensical reading which would defeat

the purposes of the contract as a whole which provided that good

title to be provided at the closing.

Similarly, the title objections deadline in 7.01 again
gives seller no license to provide an inadequate title. Suffice
it to say that there are always issues which crop up and which
are generally cured only at closing through an appropriate
affidavit of title. In fact, such a result is anticipated in
§5.06 which requires only that 3.04 title issues be resolved at
the closing. All that 7.01 requires is an application for title
insurance Iwhich was in fact done and the conveyance of
objections promptly upon receipt of the title report. There was
nothing either in the 1angu;ge of the contract or the sense of
its purposes suggesting that any failure to raise title issues
which he actually acknowledged would allow Paul Sklodowsky to
submit a bad deed as he attempted to do in this case. In sum,
neither of these sections or the fact that a real factual issue
remains as to whether the plaintiffs conspired to frustrate the

contract by manipulating Joanne Sklodowsky’s non-signature. As
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set forth below, onrly a jury can decide if these allegations are
correct.

Under these circumstances, the Court cannot £find as a
matter of law that defendant's failure to cancel the contract or
accept diluted title constituted a breach £hereof for which
defendant must respond in damages.

Defendant, for its part, seeks damages from the plaintiff’'s
lack of good faith in failing to obtain Joanne Sklodowsky's
cooperation in the execution of the deed. It cites, among other
cases, Brunswick Hills Racquet Club, supra at 225, for the

proposition that as to a real estate agreement, “subterfuge and

" evasion in the performance of a contract violate the covenant of

good faith and fair dealing even though.the actor believes his
conduct to be justified”. It urges that the cancellation remedy
in §5.06 was not intended to bar damages for willful violation
of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and that it is
available in such situations as well as fraud.

§5.06 reads as follows:

In the event Buyer determines that any of
the representations and warranties of
Section 3.04, Section 3.07, this Article S
and Article & shall be inaccurate as of the
closing, other than as a result of such
representation and warranty having been
knowingly and willfully falsely made,
Buyer‘s sole remedy- shall be to cancel this
Contract, in which event the entire Deposit
(including the payment referred to in
Section 2.,02(b), if made) shall be returned
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to Buyer and this Contract shall be null and
void and the parties shall have no further
rights and obligations hereunder except
those that expressly survive.

While limiteéd explicitly to cancellation, it can be xread
functionally as not excluding other relief for willful
misconduct, even if not actually fraudulent, if there is
willfully false behavior.

True, the Sklodowskys deny they conspired to frustrate the
contract. The Sklodowskys claim, of course, in sworn deposition
testimony, that they barely discussed the matter and that Mrs.
Sklodowsky was not aware that she had the right to wveto the
contrdct. However, it is for a jury to determine whether these
assertions are believablé. The Jjury could £ind that the
Sklodowskys are believable and that the May 11" letter from
plaintiff’s attorney laid the issue out fairly for the defendant
who then simply took a chance on Mrs. Sklodowsky’s relenting and
signing.

On the other hand, the evidence tﬁat"Mrs. Sklodowsky had
signed similar deeds in the past and that had generally gone
along with her husband suggests a course of conduct that might
induce a jury to disbelieve the Sklodowskys’ assertions of
innocence. They could believe that the Sklodowskys did
willfully attempt to frustrate thg contract in orxrder to obtain

some advantage. In either event, these disputed facts are not
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~capable of being resolved in a summary judgment motion. Taking

the fgéts on either side and giving all possible inferences
there from to the respective parties on their "cross-motion with
respect to the contract, this Court finds there are disputed
issues as to deliberate frustration which require factual
resolution, and may justify a damage award for willful conduct
outside the scope of the termination language of §5.06.

On point is the seminal case of Sons of Thunder v. Borden,
148 N.J. 396, 425 (1997), a non-real estate case which preceded
Brunswick Hills, supra, and supplied the doctrinal basis for it.
Sons of Thunder held that factually supported assertions of
dishonest  conduct which defeated plaintiff’s  reasonable
expectations 'and. right to receive tﬁe fruits of the contract
survived even a rightful cancellation of the contract. The
Court stated, in language applicable the defendant’s instant
claims for £rustration, that ™“in every contract there is an
implied covenant that neither party shall do anything which
shall have the effect of destroying or injuring the right of the
other party to receive the fruits of the contract”. Id. at 420.

Such conduct 4is what defendant alleges here regarding
delivery of good title. Defendant’s alleg%tion as to deliberate

frustration are sufficiently supported so that they can survive

‘summary judgment.

8
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In sum, even if there is no fraud as the Court has found,
Paul and Joanne Sklodowsky may still have intentionally
manipulated her right of veto to willfully <£frustrate the
contract in violation of the covenant of good £faith and £fair
dealing while the contract was in effect. Under these
circumstances, cancellation need not have been the defendant’s
sole remedy; damages can be available for lack of good faith.

Accoxdingly, neither .party’s contract claims can be
resolved on summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

The motions for summary Jjudgment by the third-party

defendant John Lushis and Tallman Hudders and Sorrentino as to

fraud and under Petrillo are GRANTED and the defendant’'s cross-

motions for summary judgment by defendant on those issues are
DENIED. Further, plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment with
respect to those counts of the complaint alleging fraud are
GRANTED and defendant’s motion for summary judgment with respect
to those <c¢laims are DENIED. Third-party defendant Joanne
Sklodowsky’s motions are likewise granted as to all but Counts 4
and 5 of the amended third-party complaint but denied as to
these two counts as they. deal -with the frustration of the
contract. |

Further, the Court DENIES summary judgment as to all

portions of the motions by plaintiff and defendant as to breach

19
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3

of contract by defendant, and wrongful attempts to frustrate the
contract. Only these issues, and only the Sklodowskys and
defendant American Developers of New Jersey, LLC remain in this
case. Further,. should the counterclaim need tc be amended to

conform to this claim, the Court will consider such motion.

Mr. Vinci shall submit an appropriate order.

20
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Memorandum of Decision on Motion Filed At Chambers

NOT FOR PUBLICATION WITHOUT
THE APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE ON OPINIPNS| DEC 15 2005

Paul G. Sklodowsky
V. Judge P. Buchsbaum

American Developers of New Jersey, LLC
V.
John F. Lushis, Jr., Joanne Sklodowsky and Tallman, Hudders &
Sorrentino, P.C.

Docket No. HNT-L-45%9-04

1) Third-party defendants’ motion to compel additional
testimony and production of documents withheld on the basis
of privilege {joined by plaintiff’s cross-motion)

2) Third-party defendants’ motion for leave to file a fourth-
party complaint (joined by plaintiff’s cross-motion)

3) Third-party defendants’ motion to quash subpoena issued to
Porzio, Bromberg & Newman, -P.C. (joined by plaintiff’s
cross-motion)

4) Defendant’s motion to compel testimony, more specific
answers to interrogatories and production of documents, and
to set a date certain for deposition testimony

Opposed

Submitted and oral argument heard December 9, 2005; Decided
December %, 2005

Memorandum issued December 15, 2005

The Honorable Peter A. Buchsbaum, J.S.C.

FACTS

This matter arises out of a failed real estate transaction
between plaintiff Paul Sklodowsky (*Sklodowsky”) and
defgndant/third-party plaintiff American Developexrs of New
Jersey, LLC (“American Developers”) . American Developers

attempted to buy property owned by Sklodowsky and his wife,
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Joanne Sklodowsky in Kingwood Township, New Jersey. The sale
was aborted because American Developers refused to complete it
unless Mrs. Sklodowsky signed the deed. The sales contract and
dged for the property were in Mr. Sklodowsky’s name only. At
some point after the sales agreement was signed but pzrior to
closing, Joanne Sklodowsky declined the request to sign the deed
or to relingquish her marital rights in the marital ‘residence
located on the property.

Sklodowsky commenced this litigation against American
Developers to determine the distribution of §$85,000 held in
escrow pending the aborted closing. American Developers, in its
Answer, filed a Counterclaim against Sklodowsky, as well as a
Third-Party Complaint against' John Lushis, an attorney who
represented Sklodowsky with respect to the transaction.
American Developers subsequently filed an Amended Third—Pargy
Complaint naming Tallman, Hudders & Sorrentino (“TH&S”), Mr.
Lushis’ employexr, as an additional third-party defendant.

American Develépers alleges that Imshis fraudulently and
willfully withheld the information that Sklodowsky was married
as pért of & scheme to induce American Developers into agreeing
to accept a smaller portion of the property in order to allow
Mrs. Sklodowsky to retain the marital residence. See Third-
Party“ Defendants’ Exhibit B, Second Count at 9(Y2-4. American

Developers further alleges that ILushis’ alleged failure to
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disclose Sklodéwsky's marital status constituted a negligent
breach of duty owed to Bmerican Developers. Id. at 5.

Third-party defendants Lushis and TH&S have moved to compel
Alan Wahl, who represented American Developers with respect to
the transaction, to answer deposition questions pertaining to
his alleged failure to inquire into Sklodowsky’s marital status
and to raise a title objection. American Developers has
asserted the attorney-client privilege with respect to these
questions. Third-party defendants also seek to compel
additional deposition statements from Farouk Barakat, sole owner
of American Developers. More specifically, third-party
defendants seek to compel testimony regarding communications
about the marriagé between Wohl and Barakat, as well as Wohl's
communications with the contractors retained by American
Developers to perform testing on the property, and those
concerning the title report and certificate of title obtained
with the property.

Additionally, third-partjfr defendants Lushis and TH&S move
for leave to £file a fourth-party éomplaint against Mr. Wohl and
his employer, Wohl & Goldstein, P.A. Third-party defendants
asgert that, in the event it is determined American Developers
sustained damages because it was not advised by Lushis that

Sklodowsky was married, third-party defendants would be entitled

y s




to contxibution from  Wohl for his alleged negligent
representation of American Developers.

Third-party defendants Lushis and TH&S also move to quash a
subpoena served upon the law firm of Porzio, B?omberg & Newman,
P.C. {"PB&N”), formerly the attorneys for third-party defendant,
Joanne Sklodowsky. This subpoena requested that PB&N produce
certain documents relating to any communications between them
and third-party defendants. Plaintiff has joined in all of
third-party defendants’ motions.

Defendant has cross-moved to compel plaintiff to testify as
to attorney-client communications as to Mrs. Sklodowsky’s
unwillingness to complete the contract, compel morxre specific
ansﬁers to interrogatories as to same, compel the production of
documents withheld under attornef—client. privilege, and set a
date certain for the deposition of Joanne Sklodowsky.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

I. Third-Party Defendants’ Motion to Compel Testimony

The attorney-client ©privilege protects communications

between an individual and his attorney. The client holds this
privilege, and only he can waive it. N.J.S.A. 2A:84A-20;
N.J.R.E. 504. In New Jersey, the privilege regarding

confidential communications between an attorney and client
*extends to the necessary intermediaries and agents through whom

the communications are made.” State v. Davis, 116 N.J. 341, 362
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(1989) (quoting State v. Kociolek, 23 N.J. 400, 413 (1957)). It
has long been recognized that a client’'s privileged
communications are ‘“permanently protected from disclosure by
himself, or by the legal adviso;, or by the agent of either

confidentially wused to transmit the communications.” Id.

(quoting State v. Loponio, 85 N.J.L. 357, 360 (E. & A. 1913)).

In the present case, third-party defendants argue that
American Developers has waived its right to assert the attorney-
client privilege as to Wohl by £iling the malpractice and fraud
claims against Lushis and TH&S. N.J.S.A. 2A:84A-20(2) (c)
provides that the attorney-client privilege shall not extend to
“a communication relevant to an issue of breach of duty by the

lawyexr to his client.”

Indeed, the New Jersey Supreme Court has noted that this
statute permits an attorney to reveal confidences in order to
establish a defense to a legal malpractice claim by the client.
Circle Chevrolet v. Giordano, Halleran & Ciesla, 142 N.J. 280,
292 (1995). However, the Court also noted that “the lawyer is
not free to divulge all confidences. Rather, a lawyer sued fo;
malpractice is obliged to make every effort practicable to avoid
unnecessary disclosure of informatian relating to a

representation, to limit disclosure to those having the need to
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know it, and to obtain protective orders or mwmake other

arrangements minimizing the risk of disclosure.” Id. at 293.

Third-party defendants’ assertion that attorney-client
privilege has been waived with respect to a malpractice claim is
errconeous. As the above statute and case law make clear, the
waiving of the privilege in a malpractice action is limited only
to information necessary to establish a defense to the
malpractice claim. Thj:rd—party defendants’ argument appears to

be that, because American Developers filed a legal malpractice

claim against them, the attorney-client privilege should be
waived as to American Developers’ attorney, Mr. Wohl. However,
the precedents cited by third-party defendants do not support

such a conclusion.

However, the third-party claim also alleges fraud, as is
evident from the collogquy in oral argument. Clearly, an element
of fraud is reliance. Genneri v. Weichert Realtors, 148 N.J.
582, 610 (1997). To make out this c¢laim, American Developers
has to show it relied on Lushis and not on its own a.ttorne}‘r for
information concerning the marriage. Third-party defendants
argue they should be entitled to counter the claim of reliance
by Awmerican Developers on Lushis by quéstioning Mr. Wohl with
regafd to his alleged knowledge of Sklodowsky's marital status.

In support of this argument, third-party defendants cite
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Weingarten v. Weingarten, 234 N.J. Super. 318 (aApp. Div. 1989),

a case in which the Court pierced the attorney-client privilege
based on allegations of fraud. See also Gennari v. Weichert Co.
Realtors, 148 N.J. 582, 610 (1997). The Court held that a wife
had waived her attorney-client privilege by claiming reliance
upon informat:'i.on supplied by her husband in reaching a

settlement, and therefore that the husband was entitled to
explore communication between her and her attorney to
demonstrate she did not rely omn the information. The Court

further held:

To the extent the communications with her
attorney bear on the issues involved here,
the privilege should be deemed waived. The
walver is not a complete one, however, but
only applies to information relevant to the
issues implicated by her application to the
court. Id. at 327-328.

The Court also noted:

In light of the limited facts before us we
caution that the “competing demands of
secrecy and disclosure can best be
accommodated by compelling release of only
those documents which bear upon the extent
to which [the wife] reasonably relied upon
{the husband’s] representations allegedly
made during the negotiation process [which
ultimately produced the property settlement
. agreement] . Id. at 329-330 (quoting United
Jersey Bank v. Wolosoff, 196 N.J. Super. 553
(App. Div. 1984)}.
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The Lushis third-party defendants further cite Blitz v. 970

Realty Association, 233 N.J. Super. 29 (App. Div. 1989), in

which a purchaser-plaintiff claimed she relied on a sellexr’'s
fraudulent misrepresentations regarding environmental conditions
the property to be purchased. The Court held that the plaintiff
had waived attorney-client privilege with regaxd to
communications prior to closing, on the basis that these
communications might show she was aware of the problems on the

property.

Given the holdings in Weingarten and Blitz, this Court
finds that third-party defendants are, in fact, entitled to
explore the existence .0of such evidence as may enable them to
demonstrate that American Developers or Wohl knew or were able
to know Paul Sklodowsky’s marital status before Lushis formally
disclosed it to them, and did not rely on what Lushis said or
failed to say in implementing the contract after it was signed.
Accordingly, the Court will require an in camera review of all
documents exchanged between Americaﬁ Developers and its counsel
sent, dated or received between the day the real estate contract
was signed on November 11, 2003 and the May 11, 2004 letterx from
Lushis to American Developers.

II. Third-Party Defendants’ Motion To File Fourth-Party
Complaint
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R. 4:8-1(a) provides that within 90 days after service of
the original answer, a defendant:

may file and serve a summons and third-party
complaint.upon a person not a party to the
action who is or may be liable to defendant
for all or part of the plaintiff’‘s claim
against defendant and may also assert any
claim which defendant has against third-
party defendant involving a common guestion
of law or fact arising out of the same
transaction or series of transactions as the
plaintiff’s claim.

The grant or denial of a motion to implead a third-party
(or fourth-party) defendant is a matter left to the sound
discretion of the trial court. Newmark v. Gimbel’s Inc., 54
N.J. 585 (1969).

Inh the present case, third-party defendants seek to implead
Alan Wohl and his employer, Wohl and Goldstein, arguing that the
claims arise from the same real estate transaction and stem from
defendant’s claim that it was not informed that Sklodowsky was
maxrried. Third-party defendants further assert that in the
event 1t is determined that BAmerican Developers sustained
damages because it was not advised plaintiff was wmarried, then
third-party defendants are entitled to contribution from Wohl
for his failure to investigate this issue.

This Court finds there is no legal cause of action against

Wohl that would merit third-party defendants’ impleading Wohl

and his employer. Very simply, Wohl cannot be a joint
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tortfeasor as to the conduct of Lushis. Whether an attorney
owes a duty to a non—client third party depends on balancing his
duty to represent clients vigorously with the duty not to
provide misleading information on which third parties may rely.

Petrillo v. Bachenberg, 139 N.J. 472, 479 {1995). Further,

attorneys may owe a duty of care to non-clients when the

attorneys know, ox should know, that non-clients will rely on
the attorney’s representations and that the non-clients are not
too remote from the attorneys to be entitled to protection. Id.
at 483.

Third-party defendants claim it was Wohl’s duty to Lushis
to investigate plaintiff’s marital status and determine whether
the dwelling on the property was plaintiff’s marital residence.
However, no such duty to Lushis existed. As defendant points
out in its opposition brief, it is custom and practice in New
Jersey that the Sellex's attorney prepares the Seller’s
Affidavit of Title and Deed. Thus, it was the responsibility of
Sklodowsky’s attorney, Lushis, to prepare a correct Deed and
convey possession pursuant to the terms of the Agreement of
Sale. Mr. Wohl owed no duty to Lushis or any other proposed
fourth-party plaintiff in -this matter. Nor should he be held
partially liable for Lushis’ benefit if Lushis acted fraudently

or negligently as to third-party plaintiffs.
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This case differs from Petrillo, as well as from Blitz and
Weingarten, which are cited by third-party defendants. 1In those
cases, misconduct was alleged that was related to information

peculiarly within the possession of the party sought to be sued.

In this case, Wohl’s knowledge of Mr. Sklodowsky’s marital
situation could only be obtained form Sklodowsky or Lushis.
Wohl certainly owed no' duty to Lushis to tell his client,
American Developers, about the marital status of Sklodowsky.

Such a result would extend Petrillo beyond any rational bounds.

Accordingly, third-party defendants’ alleged claim against
Mr. Wohl and his employer lacks legal support, and this Court,
in its discretion under R. 4:8-1, will deny the motion to file a
fourth-party complaint. Such denial is without prejudice to
Lushis and TH&S claiming at trial that they breached no duty to
or did not defraud American Developers if it in fact relied on
its own counsel, Wohl, not ULushis, 7to investigate marital
informatiomn.

III. Third-Party Defendants’
Motion to Quash Subpoena

Third-party defendants move to quash the subpoena served:
upon Mrs. Sklodowsky’s former attorneys, PB&N. PB&N has
withdrawn as counsel for Mrs. Sklodowsky, and she is preceding
pro se. The subpoena seeks to obtain copies of documents

relating to any communications between Mr. Lushis and DPB&N.
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Third-party defendants seek to guash the subpoena, claiming that

it seeks to obtain documents protected by the work product

doctrine.

Where parties and their counsel have a common purpose with
respect to the subject matter of communications between them,
the common interest doctrine precludes discovery into those
communications as an extension of the attorney-client and work
product privileges. LaPorta v. Gloucester County Bd. of Chosen

Freeholders, 340 N.J. Super. 254, 261 (App. Div. 2001). The

doctrine may be asserted with respect to communications among
counsel for different parties as well as for communications
between counsel for one party and any representative of another
party. Id. at 262. Further, it is nc;t necessary for every
party’s interest to be identical; rather, the parties need only
have a common purpose. Id.

Third-party defendants assert that they and their present
and former counsel (Lushis), and plaintiff’s counsel, Baurkot,
share a common interest with PB&N in light of the allegations
raised in American Developers’ third-party complaint. For
example, the third-party complaint alleges that Mr. Lushis, Mr.
Sklodowsky and Mrs. Sklodowsky all- conspired with one another in
an effort to convince American Developers to accept less than

the entire property. Accordingly, these parties have a common
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interest in attempting to refute American  Developers’
allegations.

American Developers replies that the interests of Mr. and
Mrs. Sklodowsky have been adverse to each other throughout the
litigation. While to some extent this assertion is true, this-
matter requires further discovery since the common interest
dockrine may apply even between parties whose interests are not
identical.

Therefore, a decision on this motion, which deals with
communications including PB&N, will be ‘held until after Mrs.
Sklodowsky has been deposed. Her testimony will shed light on
the common interest. For the time being, as to communications
between PB&N, Lushis, TH&S, Baurkot'and the Spector firm, that
is all the firms involved in this case as counsel other than for
American Developers, counsel shall submit privilege logs. With
respect to communications with outside parties, other than those
listed in the prior sentence, the motion will be denied and
subpoenas will be enforced on PB&N.

Iv. Defendant’s Motion to Compel Discovery and Set a
Deposition Date for Joanne Sklodowsky

Defendant American Developers asks this Court to compel
testimony and production of documents regarding attorney-client
communications between Mr. Sklodowsky and Mr. Lushis. In

suppoxt of this motion, it argues, that the privilege should be
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pierced because a civil fraud has been committed. However,
defendant can only overcome the attorney-client privilege and
obtain access to a communication under the fraud exception if it
makes a prima Ffacie showing ofh future fraud as to which the
attorney has been consulted. In re Sesler, 15 N.J. 393, 406
(1954} .

Defendant has not made such a prima facie shoﬁing of fraud.
Defendant argues that Lushis was fully aware that Sklodowsky was
married and yet failed to disclose to American Developers that
the property may not be free of all occupancy rights at closing.
Defendant further alleges that Lushis and Sklodowsky developed a
scheme to “carve out” of the sale certain acreage including that
upon which the marital residence was located. Defendant,
however, provides no evidence suggesting that such a scheme in
fact existed.

The only evidence of fraud defendant offers is Sklodowsky’s
answers to interrogatories, in which he stated that Lushis knew
he was married in “early Fall 2053,” around the time period when
the contract was. signed.  See Schachter cert. at Exhibit F.
While this evidence supports defendant’s claim that Lushis may
have known of the marriage, it does not constitute prima facie
evidence that Lushis and Sklodowsky committed a knowing f£raud,
which duped American Developers in continuing with the contract

between November 2003 and May, 2004. This holding is supported
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by Judge Reed’s suggestion, in not dismissing the third-party
claim, that it wmight nonetheless be subject to summary judgment.

Here, defendant does not even argue that Lushis and
Sklodowsky made a wmisrepresentation, but xather that they
omitted material information. Additionally, the fact that
American Developers went ahead with the contract in June 2004
after being told about Mr. Sklodowsky’s marital situvation in May
2004 suggests a lack of reliance. Further, the fact that such
title issues are usually dealt with at closing does not bespeak
fraud. Thus, defendant has not made a prima facie showing of
fraud that would warrant the breaching of the attorney-client
privilege.

Defendant also argues that Sklodowsky waivéd his attorney-
client privilege through his allegations against American
Developers in the Complaint as well as his admission in his
answers to interrogatories. In support of this argument,

defendant cites United Jersey Bank v. Wolosoff, 196 N.J. Super.

553 (App. Div. 1984). In that case, a judgment creditor bank
agreed to settle judgment for an amount less than the original
loan amount. Howeéer, the bank later learned that defendant had
not fully disclosed his assets during the settlement proceedings
and sought to gain access to his attorney-client communications

with respect to these misrepresentations. The Court held that:
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{There is a] tripartite test in determining
whether the privilege must vyield to other

important societal concerns. First, "[tlhere
must be a legitimate need . . . to reach the
evidence sought to be shielded." Secongd,

"[t]here must be a showing of relevance and
materiality of that evidence to the issue
before the court." Lastly, the party seeking
to bar assertion of the privilege must show
"by a fair preponderance of the evidence
including all reasonable inferences that the
information ({[cannot] be secured £from any .
less intrusive source.® Id. at 563-564
(quoting In re Kozlov, 79 N.J. 232 (1979)).
The Court further held, as in Weingarten and Blitz, supra, that
the privilege could be breached to the extent the confidential
communications were relevant to the question of reasonable
reliance. Id. at 567.
Here, no issue of zxeasonable reliance is involved.
Sklodowsky’s suit was simply for return of a deposit. It raises

no issues of state of mind. There is thus no waiver of the
privilege. .

Finally, even assuming a valid fraud claim as to
Sklodowsky, defendant need not breach the privilege to obtain
information = as to whether Sklodowsky committed fraud in
withholding information about his marriage. Pursuant to United
Jersey Bank and Kozlov, information about fraud by Sklodowsky
can be obtained through a less intrusive source, that avoids a

breach of privilege, namely the deposition testimony of Joanne

or Paul Sklodowsky. Thexre is no need to examine conversations

16
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between Lushis and Sklodowsky to get information about Paul’s
knowledge.

Therefore, the privileged communications are not
discoverable for the purpose of showing fraud, as defendant
alleges. Nor has the privilege been waived. Accordingly,
defendant’s mdétion will be denied with respect to the attorney-
client communications.

In this connection, this Court f£inds the Sklodowsky’s have
waived marital privilege as a vresult of their discovery
responses, and defendants may examine either Sklodowsky about
these communications. Defendant will be able to ask whether
Mrs. Sklodowsky discussed her refusal to accept the sale with
Paul Sklodowsky; and the time and substance of such discussion.
Defendant may also ask her if she communicated such information
to Lushis, and if so, when, but may not ask about the substance
of such conversations.

Finally, there has been no opposition to defendant’s motion
to set a date certain for the deposition of Joanne Sklodowsky,
and this Court will oxder that Mrs. Sklodowsky’s deposition take
place by December 23, 2005. Mrs. Sklodowsky was in Court when
this matter was argued and did not object to such order when the

Court specifically asked her if she had any objections.

CONCLUSION
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Third-party defendants John Iushis and Tallman, Hudders &
Sorrentino, P.C. move to compel additional testimony and
production of documents withheld on the basis of privilege. For
the reasons stated above, motion is DENIED, except that the*
Court shall review in camera all documents involving the
cqntract dated, sent, or received by Wohl or Wohl and Goldstein
between November 11, 2003 and April 11, 2004.

Third-party defendants wmove for leave to file a fourth-
party complaint against Alan Wohl and Wohl & Goldstein, P.A.
For the reasons stated above, motion is DENIED.

Third-party defendants move to quash the subpoena issued to
Porzio, Bromberg & Newman, P.C. For the reasons stated above,
decision on the motion is deferred pending completion of Mrs.
Sklodowsky'’s deposition but a privilege log shall be provided as
to any such communications within two (2) weeks of the date of
the order implementing this opinion, except the motion is DENIED
as to Porzio communications not to counsel for the plaintiff and
third-party defendants.

Defendant American'Developers moves to compel plaintiff to
testify as to attorney-client communications, compel wore
gspecific answers to interrogatories, compel production of
documents withheld under attorney-client privilege and set a
date certain for the deposition of Joanne Sklodowsky. For the

reasons stated above, motion is GRANTED with respect to setting
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a date for Mrs.

other requests.

Sklodowsky’s deposition,
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Memorandum of Decision on Motion

. NOT FOR PUBLICATION WITHOUT
THE.APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE ON OPINIONS

Paul G. Sklodowsky
VI
American Developers_of New Jersey, LLC
v.
Joanne Sklodowsky, et al.

Docket No. HNT-L-459-04

Defendant’s motion to amend the answer t

© add a counterclaim;
plaintiff’s/third-party defendant’

s motion for reconsideration.

Opposed

Oral argument heard May 11, 2006; Decided May 11, 2006
PETER A. BUCHSBAUM, J.S.C.

FACTS

This matter arises from an aborted closing which was to

have taken place pursuant to a November 11, 2003 contract

between plaintiff Paul G. Sklodowsky and the defendant/third-

party plaintiff American Developers of New Jersey, LLC (“ADNJ")

for sale of plaintiff’s marital residence and accompanying

lands. Initially, the plaintiff sought a declaratory judgment

establishing his right to retain an $85,000 deposit which had
been posted as part of that real estate transaction.

In response, ADNJ counterclaimed against Paul Sklodowsky

asserting that he committed fraud by not disclosing his marital

status, which was the chief obstacle to the closing. Defendant

also filed a third-party suit against Mrs. Joanne Sklodowsky,
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whose refusal to sign the deed made it impossible . for Paul
Sklodowsky to convey good title., A third-party claim was also
filed ‘agéinst Mf. Sklodowsky’ s attorney, John ZLushis and his
firm, Tallman 3udders and Sorrentino- (“TH&S”) claiming fraud,
negligent misrepresentation and a - vioclation of the doctrine of
Petrillo v. Bachenburg, 139 N.J. 472 (1995) in failing to
disclose Mr. Sklodowsky’s martial status. The negligent
misrepresentation claim against TLushis and/or TH&S were
dismissed by Judge Reed as beiné inconsistent with §5.06 of the
contract, which was construed as stating that cancellation was
the only remedy for negligent misrepresentation. Later, this
Court denied Lushis’ motion to add a fourth-party Petriilo claim
against American’s attorneys, Alan Wohl and his law firm Wohl &
Goldstein.

On March 21, 2006, this Cqurt issued an Order granting
summary judgment to third-party defendants John Lushis and TH&S
as to fraud aﬁd under Petrillo, and denied defendant’s cross-
motions for summary judgment on those issues. The Court also
granted plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment with resgect to
those counts of the complaint alleging fraud, and denied
defendant’s motion for summary Jjudgment with respect to those
clains. Additionally, the Court granted Mrs. Sklodowsky'’s
summary judgment motions as to all but Counts 4 and 5 of the

amended third-party complaint but denied as to these two counts.
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claim will not necessitate further discovery,

000000000000 00000000000000000000000000000000

Defendant ADNJ now moves for leave to amend its counterclaim.

Plaintiff has also cross-moved for reconsideration of this

Court’s March 21, 2006 Order.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

Defendant’s Motion to Amend Counterclaim
R. 4:7-3 provides that a claim which either matured or was
acquired by the pleadér after service of the pleading may, by
leave of court, be presented as a counterclaim by supplemental
pleading.
A motion for leave to émend is required by the Rules to be
liberally granted and ;ithogt consideration of the ultimate

merits of the amendment. Kernan v. One Washington Park, 154

N.J. 437, 456~57 {1998). Amendment should also be permitted to

avoid the possibility of inconsistent verdict and duplicative

actions, particularly where no undue prejudice to any party is

demonstrated. Brower v. Gonnella, 222 N.J. Super. 75 {App. Div.

1987) .

In the present case, defendant seeks to amend its
counterclaim to -include an additional claim against plaintiff,
alleging that as a result of conspiracy and collusion between
plaintiff and third-party defendant Joanne Sklodowsky, ADNJ has

sustained damages. Defendant adds that adding this additional

as the facts upon

which the claim is based have already been fully explored in
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that it understands this Court’s March 21,
does not intend to pursue

defendants Lushis and THsS. However,

discovery.

Plaintiff has opposed defendant’s motion, asserting that

defendant’s new claim repeats the allegations of fraud and

misrepresentation that were already dismissed by this Court. He

states that the claim Paul and Joanne Sklodowsky colluded and

conspired to withhold the information regarding - his marriage is
the same as the previous claim of fraud and misrepresentation.
However, as defendant ‘points out, the claim does not allege

fraud, but rather that an alleged collusion between Mr. and Mrs.

Skiodowsky led to a deliberate frustration of the contract. Aas
this Court has previously noted, disbuted issues remain as to
such deliberate frustration which require factual resolu?ion,
and a damage award outside the termination language as contained

in Section 5.06 of the contract may prove to be justifiable.

Thus, given the 1liberal standard to be applied to amending

counterclaims, defendant shall be permitted to add their

“collusion and conspiracy” claim against plaintiff,

Third-party defendants Lushis and TH&S have also opposed

this motion, pointing out that the proposed Amended Counterclaim

includes defendant’s allegations of fraund against Lushis, which

were dismissed by this Court. Defendant, however, has responded

2006 decision and
any claims against third-party

defendant claims it
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moved for reconsideration of this Court’s March 21,

retained the original form, because it does not want the failure

‘to repeat the claims deemed to be a waiver in the event of an

appeal.

Accordingly, defendant’s motion will be granted, but with

the understanding that defendant may not pursue any claims which

have already been dismissed by this Court,

Plaintiff’sg Motion for Reconsideration

Plaintiff and third-party defendant Mrs. Sklodowsky have

2006 Order,

arguinﬁ that newly discovered evidence reveals that defendant

had been advised earlier than originally thought that plaintiff

would not be able to tender a deed conveying the marital

residence, and it still failed to cancel' the contract. In

support of this motion, plaintiff cites R.

However,

provides:

Any order or form of decision which adjudicates fewer than
all the claims as to all the parties shall not terminate
the action as to any of the claims, and it shall be subject
to revision at any time before the entry of final judgment
in the sound discretion of the co

justice. To the extent possible,

reconsideration shall be made to the-
entered the order.

application for
trial judge who

Here, counsel for plaintiff asserts that he discovered new

evidence at the time he assumed the representation of Joanne

Sklodowsky. This evidence includes several letters and e-mail
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transmissions "exchanged between counsel involved in the sale of
the subject property. Plainti?f’s counsel asserts that these
letters show that defendant was advised almost two months before
the‘closing date that Joanne Sklodowsky would not be signing the
deed, and thus that defendant had ample opportunity to cancel
the contract.

In opposition, defendant Ffirst points out that the
documents plaintiff claims are new evidence were actually
produced to plaintiff on June 14, 2005 and September 27, 2005,
during the discovery period. However, defendant further asserts
that, even if they constitute ‘“ney evidence,” the issue of
whether Joanne Skio@owsky would have joiped in the deed could
not haye been resolwved until cloéing. Defendant also ndtes that
the documents show plaintiff himself was advised that Mrs.

Sklodowsky was not going to cooperate in the sale of the

property. Even given the information in the documents,

defendant argues, an 1nference can be drawn that the Sklodowskys’

knew they would not be able to convey good title and still
colluded and cpnsplred to frustrate the contract.

This Court denied summary judgment to plaintiff on the
ground that it could not be determined as a matter of law that

he is entitled to the return of the deposit for the transaction.

While the ™“new” documents provided by plaintiff are clearly

probative, they .do not provide sufficient evidence for this
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Court to modify its ruling under R. 4:42-2 in the interest of

Justice, as factual issues still remain as to whether Mr. and

Mrs. Sklodowsky acted in good faith in their dealings with

defendant, As the facts are not yet clear on this issue,

plaintiff cannot be entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and

this Court’s denial of his summary judgment motion must stand.

Accordingly, the motion to redonsider will be denied.

Conclusion:

Defendant American Developers of New Jersey moves to amend

its counterclaim against plaintiff. For the reasons stated

above, motion is GRANTED.

Plaintiff Paul Sklodowsky and third-party defendant Joanne

Sklodowsky move. for reconsideration of this Court’s March 21,

2006 Order. For the reasons stated above, motion is DENIED.
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Court to modify its ruling under R. 4:42-2 in the interest of
Justice,

as factual issues still remain as Eo whether Mr. and

Mrs. Sklodowsky acted in good faith in their dealings with

defendant. As the facts are not yet clear on this issue,

plaintiff cannot be entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and

this Court’s denial of his summary judgment motion must stand.

Accordingly; the motion to reéonsider will be denied.

Conclusion:

Defendant American Developers of New Jersey moves to amend

its counterclaim against plaintiff. For the reasons stated

above, motion is GRANTED,

Plaintiff Paul Sklodowsky and third-party defendant Joanne

Sklodowsky. move for reconsideration of this Court’s March 21,

2006 Oxder. For the reésons stated above, motion is DENIED.
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1 rehashxr&;lus agmn 1 A. No,
ou answer my question? 2 _ Q. The conversation you had with Mr.
i 3 A It was what Thad sal%%rcwwsly 3 Lushis in November 2003, you testified to that,
4 Q. My question was, was this 4 correct?
5 conversation, where you said you v wouldn't have 5 A. Yes
& anything to do with it and he said it ‘was his 16 @ aiy question is, did you contact a
1 prop and that he would do with it as he 71la that conversation?
uestion was, if-you remember, was 8 A
9 1t before or ter your telephone conversation 9 Q You did contact a lawyer at somc
10 with Mr. L ?y 10 -point, correct?
11 A. It was bcf'orc 11 A, After June 2004,
12 % Can you estimatg how long before? 12 Q. Between November 2003 when Jyou had
13 A. s far as dates and times, 1"m. not good 13 the conversation with ushis and June 2004,
14 at rmcmbcnng tindes:: T don't write ings 4 did yon ever contact any othcr lawyer about
15 d 15 your rights to the property?
16 % "Did you talk to-your children about 16 A. No.
17 it? Did you talk td anybody about not having 17 Q, Other than the conversations you've
18 anytlung to do with thc sale of the property? 18 a]ready told us about with your husband, did
19 AN 19 Eou have any other conversations with your
20 % Dxd you tell Shannon about it? 20 usband about the property and its sale’
21 A, 21 A ‘; be more specific?
22 Q. Whenyou spoke to Mr, Lushis you 22 u don't understand my question?
23 told us that he told you to get a lawyer'in New 23 A
24 J ou said 4 Q You told us about, I believe two
25 CrL; Ob_] ection. 25 conversations with your husband concemning the
! Or am I misstati testimony? P282 43| | <ate of the property, am 1 right? Page 47
Q. am I mis ng your ony? 1 sale ol the prop y am 11,
2 MR VINCE That Was not hor 2 & Yes
3 testimony. She said he wouldn't speak to her, 3 Q. Do you remember having any other
4 that he represented her husband, 4 conversations with your husband about the sale
5 SCHACHTER: All right. Fair g of ﬂg? property?
O}n You said that he couldn't speak to ‘- 7" Q. Do you remember havm%]
s you g represcn your husband, correct? 8 conversations about the sale of e property
9 with any of your children after tg
10 Q. In your Answer to Number Seven that 10 conversation with Mr, Lushis, the telephone
11 I showed you before, you said in that 11 conversation?
12 conversation he told you to get a lawyer in New- 12 MR. VINCI: Objection to the form,
. 113 Jersey, correct? 13 X You can answer gilesuon
MR. VINCI: Arc you asking her what -114 A. AboutX just said I wouldn' tmxﬁl:fu ou,
" 15 the Inwﬁ(l]fato&A éﬂ 15 know, I wouldn't -~ not that I wo t sign
TER: I'm asking her what 16 1 said I wouldn't have anything to do wnh the
' 17 the Interrogatory says. 17 sale of the pro
18 A Shc could contact other New Jersey 18 And you told that to your children?
i[9 counsc 19 A. Yes.
: |20 )fﬂh estion i 1s, did you contact any 20 Q. Do you know when youtolditto
: er in New Jersey or anywherc else, 21 your children?
&:l22 about your nﬁhts to the ’Ipr?‘gcrt% any? 22 A. After I found out that it was being sold.
: t what txme are you 23 Q. And when you say after you found
rt:fcn'mg/I 24 out it was being sold, you mean after Shannon
5 R. SCHACHTER: The conversation. 25 told you that 1t was for sale?
Page 45 Page 48
ossil MR. VINCI: Objection. 1 A Yes.
w2 MR. BAURKOT: Which conversation? 2 . Q Were any ‘of those conversations in
i3 b MR, SCHACHTER Come on. Giveme a 3 gont of your hisband?
4 4
sy " That refers to a conversation with 5 Q. Did thei issue of the sale of the
3 6 Mr., Lughis, does it not, Number Seven? 6 house come up in any of your family counseling
! MR’ BA No, it does not. You 7 sessions?
e 8 rean the s ec:ﬁc one? 8 MR. VINCLE: Objection. Asked and
v I SCHACHTER: Give me that for .9 answered,
4110 one minute 10 . You can answer,
i3] MR. BAURKOT: It docsn’t have a 11 A As far as I remember, no.
‘|12 date on there, 12 Q. Did your husband ever tell you when
4113 MR, SCHACHTER: I'm sorry. I 13 hesi ﬁned the contract to sell the property? -
14 misstated the date anyway. 14 A. Did be?, Pardon me?
15 Q. Let me ask you this question, 15 Q. Did he ever tell you that he signed
Mrs. Sklodowsky, did you ever have 16 the sontract to sell the property?
another conversation wi r. Lughis after the 17 A. No,
first one you already tx:stiﬂed to today? 18 Q. Did youcver ﬁnd out that he
A. Yes. 19 signed the contract to self the pro f__p r%'
Q. When? 20 A." ] found out in the winter of 2004 there
A. In Jupe 2004. 21 was a signed contract.
Q. Did {ou talk to Mr. Lushis between 22 ow did you find out? .
b November 003 when you said yott had that 23 A. From Shannon, my daughter-in-law.
1§24 telt:phonc conversation with him and June of , 1 askcd you if ou tald your
25 20047 25 chil that you won dn t assxsr. in the sale
3. SPINNER ASSOCIATES Page 43 - Pay
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e s A 1 don't remember. 3 Q. Do you remember ever speaking to

s |4 you remmdnbcr w£cn tlﬁl the winter ; f)’ of these people?

31 ,' g gnczlcrogogthgé?‘? m fold you that the property was 6 ({ Werc you introduced to any of these
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. " ; 7 A Cmilfd g:ﬁg\?nwgg%?fg bruary or s 8 ?\. %’hat, I don't remember if I was.
b 00%% gcnns with your husband in Novcmber of Ig 4 Do )';ou lmow what the people were
= (10 .doin
B MR. BAURKOT: Objection to the 11 g MR. BAURKOT: Objection. Asked and
12 form. 12 answ
] . If you know? 13 Q Wcll you said digging. Let me ask
A 14 A cll 1t has nothing to.do with the salc 14 it this way,
Wi, 115 of the m%ertytandb £ b , {z " Do yon knpw why the people were
e 116 . :) ere. ..
5|17 ansx?ler thoquastion. . 17 MR. BAURKOT: Objection. Asked and
18 A. N 18 answcrcd
s 1 % " did not? 19 ? You answer that question?
R 20 A No, I ave nothing to saémlqmn that. 20 A. Just, I, I didn't have any concern what
R-121 Q. Was Shantion on good terms with your 21 they were doing there,
- - |22 husband? 22 Q. You didn't care?
23 MR. BAURKOT: Objection to the 23 A. 1'dido’'t ask and I didn't get an

gody

24 responsg becausg I didn't as

.I I - ol . . o -, .
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25 Q. In November of 20037 25 Q. Did you think it may havc becn in
Page 50 Page 53
1 A. As] sai I have nothing to say on that, 1 connection with your husband's sale of the
2 .. Were Shannon and ngur husband 2 propr:rthR‘
3 sp g in November 2 3 BAURKOT: Objection,
4 A. Thave nothing to say on that. 4 Q. You can answer,
5 . Q. I'masking you the question. I 5 A. Thave. Ihad nothing to do with 1t.
6 think it's a fair qucstlon 6 . Q. Iunderstand you had nothing to do
-7 A. Year what? ‘ - 7 with it but did you have any idea as to maybe
' 8 20t(1)13? neakin . 8 thatl's what it was about?
were § & 9 A
151d c3‘?”1';u ever meet soﬁleone. named’ 10 @ Now you said t.hat %'ou spokc to Mr.
11 Farouk Barakat? 11 Lushis in November of 2003 and your next
12 A. Pardon me? Did 1? 12 conversation with him, I think was June of
13 B %Vcr neet someone named Farouk 13 2004 IS that nght?
14 at 14 A.
s A Wllenl camc to the meeting in -~ "|15 Qf Dld you meet with Mr. Lushis in
g 16 June of 20047
it 17 A At thc officc here is the first time I 17 A Yes.
41118 ever met him., 18 Q. Was anyone else present?
g i Q. Were gou living at the property in 19 A. 1 wasin the office with him alonc,
20 Novcmbm- 2 - |20 Q. In which office?
i 21 A. Yes, 21 A. In his office in Pennsylvania,
2 % ‘Was your husband living there? 22 . He met with you?
A Yes. 23 A. Yes,
2 Q. At ani' time after November 2003 did 24 . And had you made an appointment?
25 you see people coming around on the property 25 A. Yes,
i . Page 51 Page 54
: Xho ou did not know? 1 th Q. Vgcre. you represenfed by a lawyer at
: 2 the time
3 Q. Dxd _?(ou ask anyone what they were 3 A No.
4 donﬁ 4  Q Didyou ever meet with Mr. Lushis
i watis AL No, 5 ?Eam after that or speak to him again after
‘ i Q. Did you q?sk your husband what the.y 6 that, other than in connection with court

were domg there

D1d you see what. t.hey were doing?
wcrc digging holes. -
o you know why they were digging

BSteus
°E b .*»

e

1 0000

-4-'-

% Did you ever talk to any of them?

Q. Did any of them ever ask you for
~access 1o the property so they coild get on the
1 .property or if they could go in any particular
=.placc in the property?
A L, if I was there 1 had to open the gate,
if I was in the office but I don't remember if
] bad to opcn the gate because Wc have gatcs on

A‘thc proBc
0 YOU ever remember openmg the
’ gates on the property to let any of these

7 appearances or appearances at -
3 Al?pN PP

% Depusmons like this?
10 A No.

11 Q. Youretained the law firm called
12 Porzio, Bromberg and Newman to represent you in
13 this case?

14 A. Yes.

15 Q Did you call them directly or did

16 someone make a phone call on your behalf?

17 A. John Lushis pave me his name and we made
18 an appointment fo meet with him mid Junc.

19 Q. Did you pay this law firm or did

20 your hugband pay this law firm?

[~

21 AL ] paxd it

22 Q I'm sony?

23 A 1paidit,

24 And I think you said Mr, Lushis

25 madc the appomtmenl with this law firm?
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A 4 appointment. That's what I thought she said.

TR Q. When you met with this firm

g s your husband go with you?

il 1 A. He drove me there,

28 a Q. Did E?u tell your husband why you
19 warc oing

10 A. We had to. I had to discuss the, you

11 know, sale of the property:

12 And what did he say?

13 A. Nothin

Q. You _}ust told him that you were

13
14
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Bt 1 A Yes. 1 you know. scll:tonhxs
%] 2 MR. VINCL: Objccnun I think she 27 Qs tfmat what he told you or is that
MRS/ | 3 said Lushis gave her the'card. Shg made the 3 what ou're assummg'?

at's what I'm assuming.

% What d1d he tell you?
6 A He di

I'm sorry?
8 A He I(_illdg'ggg tgn perty
e bo e 1o on
0 ‘his gm did he not? p
11 A Yes
12 (10/7/94 ‘decd received and marked

JS-2 for Identification.)
Q. I want to show gou a document

oing to see the lawyer about our rights and 15 that's been marked JS-2. I'm showing you Page
ﬁw pgro ty? your righ 16 Two and the name Panl G. Sldodowsl%yyls ty;egd
}17\4 . VINCI: Ob ection. 17 in.
18 A. I was told that 1 had rights b 18 __ Do you see that?
19 lawyer 50 I had to, you know, d out what my 12 A" Yes
20 rights were 20 Q. Is that your husband's signature
21 Q. Which lawyer told you you had 21 aboye it?
22 rights? 22 A, Yes, itis,
VINCIL: Objection. 23 Q. Then the name Joanne C. Sklodowsky
24 A. That's confident -~ that' lgnvxlegcd. 24 | ed under the line underneath your
25 MR, VINCI: You're asking her about 25 hus and's, is that right?
. Page 56 Page 59
g 1 communications with attome¥ 1 A Yes, yes.
3 1 . SCHACHTER: Tt's a proper 2 fs that your sagnaturcv
, 3 objection. Iunderstand. I'll, I'll back 3 A Yesitis,
: 4 off. 4 MR. SCHACHTER: I'll give you
; ] MR. VINCI: You know she's not 5 copies of these.
(¥ .6 tepresented so I would ask that you refrain_ 6 MR. VINCL; That's what? Could you
7 from asking gucstwns that -- 7 just tell me what it is? _Is it the '99 deed?
®: 1 HACHTER: I'm doing the best - MR. SCHACHTER: It's a deed to the
9 Ican, Gcorgc This is'yery-difficult. : 9 19 -
. 10 Q. Did you discuss your rights with 10 MR, VINCT: 19997
11 your husband? i1 MR. SCHACHTER: 1994 deed.
. 12 A. No. 12 MR, NANQVIC: May I see that,
: . At no time? 13 please?
. {4 A o ~114 ~ Q. Do you remember your son Joe -
5 I'm sorry. That was a bad 15 acquiring a portion of the F})ropcrt:_‘,( in
. uesnon I guess the answer is you never 16 Frenchtown or Kingwood
iscussed né‘nts your rights with your 17 A. Yes.
. ]8 husband? 18 Q. And do you know when that was?
i 119 A. I never gave it any thought. 19 A. Iran through it in the gagcrs Here in
. ; 20 Q. I'm talkin Tiabout. after your 20 the Intcrrogatory it said 199
' 21 conversations with Mr, Lushis, 21 Q. Do you remember signing a deed to
3 22 A 1-- 22 that eropcrty?
2 MR, VINCI: Objection, ] 23 A .
. w7 MR, BAURKOT:, | believe she said 24 . When it was given to Joe?
she never discussed her rights with her husband 25 A. Yes.
. i Page 57 ) Page 60
+1 so that would cover that time frame you're 1 q? Do you know why you signed that
N %2 referring to in that last question. 2 deed
! ;3 Q. You never discussed your rights 3 A. Becapse my hugband Tank and son told me
-'- 4 with your husband, that's what you're saying? 4 to sign the piece.of paper.
L %5 A. Right. {5 Q. Did ey tell you why you should
., ’6 MR. VINCI: Objection. That's what & sign the d
] %7 she said, 7 A Did ke say why? No.
73, Q And when d1d you learn you had 8 D1d you ask why?
: &,9 Tights to the {)frl_(l)g g A
;' CL: Objcctlon 1 Q Dld your husband say you had to
- 11 Al don't ‘know. 11 sign thcm?
@, 2 MR. BAURKOT: Objection. 2
gé g:! ¢ MR. VINCI: 1 behevc that may call 13 t?Dxcl Joe tell you why you had to
& gty for -- 14 sign i 3
SR s MR. SCHACHTER: I'm just asking 15 A gnN
i i when. 16 Q. Did anyone tell you why you had to
: 37 MR. VINCI: Iwould, I would be 17 sign it?
K 2 concerned. It could lead to -- 18 A, No. Justit was a deed and we were
19 . SCHACHTER: I think the answer 19 gwm a piece of to my son and they
20 was "I don' it know," so it doesn't matter, 20 § ere, sign s paper,” and I just signed
21 Q. When you said to your husband that 21 1
. you would not have any part of the houge being 22 Q Did your husband talk to you about
salt:lt thq.? property being sold, what was his 23 gwmg 8 I?art of the property to your son Joe?
“reaction 24 A
5 A. Like be bought it on his own so he could, 25 Q Bcforc the deed was signed?
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: Q. Was that n gift?
12 A. 1t's bard to say.

B Q. I'msorry? ) ) '

i A. It was -- it wasn't a gift and it wasn't

15 -- it was -- hc was supposed to pay for the -
136 property. He was supposed to

A ay for the
S pro so I guess you couldnpt o
g ggm?t BUCSS i

consider that

) Q. How much was he suppesed to pay?
A It was supposed to be f’%,ODO. Py

o3
2. A
S5y,
94, A

%i Sg the property was not a gift? -
% t was a sale?

es.
Q. Correct?

11 property was for sale, was that sometime in
12 20037 '

13 A. Yes, 2003,

14 Q. And you learned that throu
15 conversations with Shannon Sklodowsky?
16 A. Yes.

17 Q. Asfar as when you leammed that

18 there was a contract for sale that had been
19 signed, was that sometime in 20047

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. Did you also learn of that contract
22 for sale bemg signed through Shannon

23 Sklodowsky?

24 A. Yes.

25

Q.- And at that time you had no

5" SPINNER ASSOCIATES
$668-369-3931
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. : 1 A. He carved out a piece of property that he 1 Who decided what piece to give to
] 2 was -- the three acres or whatever if is that 2 Joc, what part of the property to give to Joc?
. - 3 Joe, for his, one of his children and Jo¢ was 3 A Itwasa carve out. Iguesstheyhada
3 -4 the onlfy onc that cx%l;cssed interest in it, It 4 piece of pro that was carved off of the
. 5 was offered to his other sons but they didn't S5 main picce that he bought,
: 6 want it, 6 Q. When you say "he bought," you mean
. | 7 - Q The same piece was offered to your 7 that your husband bought?
S5l 8 other sons you mean? 8 A. Correct, .
@ -9 A. Yes, 9 Q. Who decided what piece to carve
10 Q. And when did you first leam or 10 .out? )
. : 13 when did someone first ask you that you should 11 A. I'm pot an cogincer. I don't know.
112 sigtr% a deed to the property that your son Joe ig cady Were you involved in the decision
413 go ‘. ' aka +
. = 14 %L When? The accountant, who was Fred 14 A. No. ) ..
. : 15 Scheffman, caime withi'a piece of paper and said 15 Q. Were you in favor of doing this for
. 16 "This 1srthe fhalc’ this.is tt_)r t}lc dscqg'(‘: ']:I . lg ioui%mé? - bilde
: 417 58, "For the property for Joe so just si 1 oan?:ﬂnn or my C en.
‘ - 18 1gtl.1'? o p d . & 18 . MR. CHA%HTER: I have no more
. : 19 Q. And where was this done? Where did 19 questions, subject to our calling the judge.
X ‘120 the accountant’ come? 20 Doyou have an&g?
. ? 21 A Into our office in, you know, the Union 21 BAURKOT: Do you want to go
$ 22 Road prggcrty. ) 22 first?
. 2 3 . "Did he ‘come by himself? 23 ~ MR.SCHACHTER: Letme take five
. 24 A. He was with Joe. 24 minutes, ]
. 25 Q. Who else was there? 25 (A brief recess is taken.)
. 2 Page 62 Page 65
A. My husband Tank, 1 CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BAURKOT:
H : Q. Anyong else there that you know of 2 . Mrs, Sklodowsky, my name is Dan
. i 23 or that you can remember? 3 Baurkot. You've met me before, correct?
3 A. No,Ican't,no, | 4 A. Yes.
. . Q. Were you told in advance to be 5 Q. Youunderstand that I represent
there?_ Lo . . 6 your husband, Paul Sklodowsky, in this matter?
. : 7 A 1 live there. I'live jn the house, so. -:- 7 A Yes. | )
3 Q. Well, understand but you'renot -, 8 Q I'mjust going to ask you a few
. 3 39 always home, arc you? s 9 follow-up questions as a resilt of your
i A. Well, at that point, L 10 testimony that you gave earlier here today.
. _- 1 Q Well,Iguess my uestion is, and 11 1 believe you testified earlier,
. if you remember, fine and if you don't, then I | 12 and you can correct me if I'm wrong, that you -
. ) 3 understand. Was this an appointment made so 13 did not find out that you had an ngflts_ to
e 14 that he came and he knew you would be home at .14 the, to the marital residence until sometime
‘ ; 15 the time? 15 after June of 2004, is that correct?
@ 46 A. That I can't remember.,’ 16 A. Yes, that's correct.
@ %7 Q. When your husband bought the . 17 . Q. Isitalso correct, then, that you
& i8 property in Frenchtown, Kingwood Township, did 18 did not know until June, sometimé after June of N
. oo 9 you know it was in his name only? | 19 2004, that you had the abth!;y to stay on the
i A. Well, yeah. I didn't sign anything so I 20 property as a result of not signing the deed in
. s %1 knew it was his name. i 21 this matter, is that correct?
22 Q. 'When you were asked to sign the 22 A. Yes.
@ deed for Joe, did you ask why you had to sign 23 Q. I'was confused by some of your
.if you didn't own the property at all? 24 earlier testimony with respect to when you
9 A."No, 25 learned of, Number One, when the property was
in
Y _ Page 63| Page 66
3 @ Did 1yom husband ever tell you or 1 listed for sale and, Number Two, when you
. . 2 Joe ever tell you that ¥ou had to sign the deed 2 learned of a contract of sale being signed by
19 3 for that ;}ropcrty that Joe got? . 3 anybodem, connection with this property.
@: 4 ?. ?xd oc or my — what was that? Did 4 ; R. SCHACHTER: Objection to the
% "5 Joe 5 form.
. 2 Q. Well, let me ask it this way. 6 Q. Fmgoing to ask you a couple of
3 7 B Did anyone ever tell you you had to 7 questions about this to try to clanfy the
. g %8 sign the deed to f.ht;Ipro erty that Joe got? 8 tzmmi.zl
‘ w9 A No. Just that Tank said the pro was 9 A. Okay. .
. # b ?ﬁ' ‘1o go to Joe which should be from both of us. 10 s far as learning that the

Sl r?73
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4125 A. I'was not at the closiog.

. And who is Sharon Sklodowsky?
25 A. That's my daughter.
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1 knowledge that you had marital rights to the 1 daughter?
2 rog:crty in February of 2004 when you learned 2 A. Daughter-in-law, )
3 &a there was a contract for sale that had 3 Q. Daughter-in-law. Who is she
4 been entered into? 4 married to?
5 A No, y 5 A. To Joseph Sklodowsky.
6 0. No? 6 MR, CI: That's all I have,
7 A. 1'did not know I had any rights. 7 MR. SCHACHTER: Just a few
3 (E So when you testified that yon 8 follow-up questions. '
: 9 would ntgt, 1.13£h y&ur mlde mi m\ﬂd not_t lg .
RE- 110 cooperate wi ¢ sale at tha was 1 .
-[11 youg testimony that you would no?:’havc anything 11 REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SCHACHTER:
‘112 to do with the'sale? 12 %1 Shannon and Joe, do they live
%t |13 A. Right, yes. ThatI wouldn't have 13 together now?
4 anything to do. with"the sale of the property. 14 A Yes. ) .
5° ' Q IFthe first time that you leamed . 15 Q. The&( are still, are they still
1116 that you had the ability to not sign a deed and 16 located at 203 Barbertown Point Breeze Road
'17 effect the sale of this pro&crty was in June of 17 Frenchtown, New Jersey?
8 2004, is it correct, then, that prior to this . 18 A. Yes.
:{19 time you never communicated a refusal to sign 19 . Is Robert Sklodowsky your son?
20 the deed to anybody in this case? 20 A. Yes. s
21 A. Correct. 21 QR Does he still live at 172 Cemetery
122 . Q. Isitalso correct that the first . 22 Hill Road, Washington, New Jersey?
23 time that you communicated this refusal to sign 23 A, Yes.
24 the deed was at the closing? 24

" . Was there ever a time where any of
%2 these individuals that were digging on the
i3 property entered the house
i3 '}q“” the house?
Yaiv4 A, No, never'entered the housc.
Have you ever heard of the name

2\

5 .
36 RB%? .
47 A. Just through the Interrogatories.
8 Q. How about 2 Mr, Cederbaum? Do you
%9 know who Mr. Cederbaum is?
0 A. No, )
1 Q. Was there ever a Lime in 2004 that
2 there were any individuals on the property -
! strike that, - )
2 E‘g Was there ever a time after January
5335 of 2004 where anyone came into the {)ﬁ'ogerty
15 +that you didn't know who theiy were that were
). therc to do any inspection or fook at
12 something?

9-A. No. — ,
0 Q And it's my understanding from your
#4£L.PII0T testimony that you never had any
o] uconvc(g.san_ons mttli: any of thq:)sc peopie that
% were dipging on the property?
14 A Tha%gs cgorrccl'. property
Q. Shannon Sklodowsky, she's your

1 Q. You said-I-believe, correct me if
2 gnr_n wronegr,ty thag ¥our husbaxlg “’antt:(il] ti) Sﬁ}l

$ property, as far as you know, to help the
chil<£-cnpﬁnancxally? Y P
A Yes. .
., And you also testified you would do
any’?h ng to help your children?
A r, then, did the sal

. , then, ou oppose the sale

10 of tl?e proR)c'v? - Y . 'pp
1 MR. VINCI: Objection to the exlent
12 it calls for testimony or information that may
13 have been provided to her by counsel. )
14 Q. Can you answer the question? Don'l
15 tell us anything a lawyer told you.
16 A. I don't know how to answer that.
17 . What did cerour husband, as far as
18 you know, intend to do with the money from the

19 sale of the property?
20 A. That asT s;%c wanted to help out

21 his childrén, you know,

22 Q. Whydid you think it was for the
23 purpose of helping his children?
24 A. Becausc they were in a financial bind,
25

Q- Did anyone tell you that was the

Loeatunhtw

c
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1 ?ﬁ So you did not, you did not show up i q{s Does she still live at 225 .
2 for the closing? - 2 Creckside Drive, New Hope, Pennsylvania?
3 A Yes. ) 3 A. No. .
4 MR. BAURKOT: I don't believe I 4 g Where does she live now? .
| 5 bave any further questions at this time. 5 A. She lives in Kintnersville, Pennsylvania,
6 . - ) 6 Q. Do you know an address?
7 - 7 A. 1'd have to look it up.
8 CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. VINCL . E It's 395 Frog Town Road.
9 _ Q. Hello, Mrs. Sklodowsky, My namic'is- 9 . Frog Town?
410 George Vincl, We've met at, I beliéve a couPIf.: 10 A u%.
=111 of these depositions and alse in court a couple 11 , F-R-0-G? . .
w112 of weeks ago. ‘ - 12 A. Yes. In Kintuersville, Peonsylvania,
13 . As dyqll know, I represent John 13 % K-I-N-T-E-R-S-V-I-L-L-E
14 Lushis and his firm, © |14 A. Yeah. .
15 A. Yes. . <15 % Have I named all of your children?
Q- You mentioned earlier that there 16 A. No. Ihave an oldcst son, Paul T,
were some people on the property, earlier in 17 Sklodowsky. .
18 response to Mr. Schachter's questioning. These 18 . And Where does he live?
9 observations that you had of people dlg%mg; 19 A. Stockertown, P lvania.
was this 2003 or 20047 Do yon remember 20 ?) Do you have an address?
A. 1 believe it was in the early part of 21 A. Oh, it's a post office box and I don't .
2004, . 22 know the house address but their street name is
2 Q. Was there ever a time in 2004 where 23 Faith Avenue.
" anyone, either any of these people that were 24 . F-A-I-T-H?
digping or anyone else -~ strike that, 25 A. Yes,
Page 69 Page 72
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